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Prof. Dr. Henning Kagermann (CEO)
    1,047.5       1,699.1  
Shai Agassi
    85.8       1,045.8  
Léo Apotheker
    690.3       1,045.8  
Dr. Werner Brandt
    601.4       868.6  
Prof. Dr. Claus E. Heinrich
    601.4       868.6  
Gerhard Oswald
    601.4       868.6  
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Dr. Peter Zencke
    601.4       868.6                    
Total
    4,229.2       7,265.1                    
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STOCK HELD BY EXECUTIVE BOARD MEMBERS

No member of the Executive Board holds more than 1% of the common stock of SAP AG. Members of the Executive
Board held a total of 86,515 SAP shares on December 31, 2007. On December 31, 2006, members of the Executive
Board held a total of 287,384 SAP shares.

The table below shows transactions by Executive Board members and persons closely associated with them notified to
SAP pursuant to the German Securities Trading Act, section 15a, in 2007:

Transaction in SAP Shares
Transaction Date Transaction Quantity Unit Price �

Léo Apotheker April 23, 2007 Stock sale 120,000 38.5188
October 19, 2007 Stock purchase 1,000 38.09

Dr. Werner Brandt February 5, 2007 Stock purchase 2,000 35.58
October 18, 2007 Stock purchase 1,000 38.20

Prof. Dr. Claus E. Heinrich August 15, 2007 Stock sale 180,000 38.7071
Prof. Dr. Henning Kagermann August 15, 2007 Stock sale 292,069 38.7071

August 15, 2007 Stock purchase* 27,931 22.5925
Dr. Peter Zencke August 15, 2007 Stock sale 180,000 38.7071

* Shares acquired by exercising SAP SOP 2002 stock options.

Executive Board: Other Information

We did not grant any compensation advance or credit to, or enter into any commitment for the benefit of, any member
of our Executive Board in 2007 or the previous year.

As far as the law permits, SAP AG and SAP AG�s affiliated companies in Germany and elsewhere indemnify and hold
harmless their respective directors and officers against and from the claims of third parties. To this end, we maintain
directors� and officers� group liability insurance. The policy is annual and is renewed from year to year. The insurance
covers the personal liability of the insured group for financial loss caused by its managerial acts and omissions. There
is no individual deductible as envisaged in the German Corporate Governance Code, section 3.8, paragraph 2. We
believe the motivation and responsibility that the members of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board bring to
their duties would not be improved by such a deductible element. For this reason, SAP regards a deductible as
unnecessary for the insured group.

Compensation for Supervisory Board Members

Compensation Package

Supervisory Board members� compensation is governed by our Articles of Incorporation, section 16. Each member of
the Supervisory Board receives, in addition to the reimbursement of his or her expenditure, compensation composed
of fixed elements and a variable element. The variable element depends on the dividend paid by SAP on common
shares.
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The fixed element is �75,000 for the chairperson, �50,000 for the deputy chairperson, and �37,500 for other members. For
membership of a Supervisory Board committee, members receive additional fixed compensation of �2,500 (provided
that the relevant committee meets during the fiscal year) and the chairperson of the committee receives �5,000. The
fixed remuneration element is due for payment after the end of the fiscal year.

The variable compensation element is �8,000 for the chairperson, �6,000 for the deputy chairperson, and �4,000 for the
other members of the Supervisory Board for each �0.01 by which the dividend distributed per share exceeds �0.25.

However, the aggregate compensation excluding compensation for committee memberships must not exceed �200,000
for the chairperson, �150,000 for the deputy chairperson, and �100,000 for other members.
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Any member of the Supervisory Board having served for less than the entire fiscal year receives one-twelfth of their
respective remuneration for each month of service commenced. This also applies to the higher compensation levels for
the chairperson and deputy chairperson and to the additional compensation for committee chairs and memberships.

Amount of Compensation

Subject to the resolution on the appropriation of retained earnings by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on
June 3, 2008, the compensation paid to Supervisory Board members in respect of fiscal year 2007 will be as set out in
the table below:

2007 2006
Compensation Compensation

Fixed Variable
for

Committee Fixed Variable
for

Committee
CompensationCompensation Work Total CompensationCompensation Work Total

�(000)

Prof. Dr. h.c. mult.
Hasso Plattner
(chairperson) 75.0 125.0 15.0 215.0 75.0 125.0 15.0 215.0
Lars Lamadé (deputy
chairperson from
May 10, 2007) 49.0 80.2 2.5 131.7 37.5 62.5 2.5 102.5
Pekka Ala-Pietilä 37.5 62.5 2.5 102.5 37.5 62.5 2.5 102.5
Thomas Bamberger
(from May 10, 2007) 25.0 41.7 1.7 68.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Panagiotis Bissiritsas
(from May 10, 2007) 25.0 41.7 3.3 70.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Willi Burbach 37.5 62.5 4.2 104.2 37.5 62.5 2.5 102.5
Helga Classen (deputy
chairperson until
May 10, 2007) 45.8 75.0 2.5 123.3 50.0 100.0 2.5 152.5
Prof. Dr. Wilhelm
Haarmann 37.5 62.5 7.5 107.5 37.5 62.5 7.5 107.5
Peter Koop (from
May 10, 2007) 25.0 41.7 1.6 68.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Bernhard Koller (until
May 10, 2007) 15.6 26.0 1.0 42.7 37.5 62.5 2.5 102.5
Christiane Kuntz-Mayr
(until May 10, 2007) 15.6 26.0 2.1 43.8 37.5 62.5 5.0 105.0
Dr. Gerhard Maier 37.5 62.5 5.0 105.0 37.5 62.5 5.0 105.0
Dr. h.c. Hartmut
Mehdorn 37.5 62.5 0.0 100.0 37.5 62.5 0.0 100.0
Prof. Dr.-Ing. Dr. h.c.
Dr.-Ing. E.h. Joachim
Milberg (from May 10,
2007) 25.0 41.7 5.0 71.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

37.5 62.5 7.5 107.5 37.5 62.5 7.5 107.5
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Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c.
August-Wilhelm Scheer
Dr. Barbara
Schennerlein (until
May 10, 2007) 15.6 26.0 1.0 42.7 37.5 62.5 2.5 102.5
Dr. Erhard Schipporeit 37.5 62.5 5.0 105.0 37.5 62.5 5.0 105.0
Stefan Schulz 37.5 62.5 5.0 105.0 37.5 62.5 5.0 105.0
Dr. Dieter Spöri (until
May 10, 2007) 15.6 26.0 1.0 42.7 37.5 62.5 2.5 102.5
Dr. h.c. Klaus Tschira
(until May 10, 2007) 15.6 26.0 1.0 42.7 37.5 62.5 2.5 102.5
Prof. Dr.-Ing. Dr.-Ing.
E.h. Klaus Wucherer
(from May 10, 2007) 25.0 41.7 1.7 68.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total 672.9 1,118.8 76.3 1,867.9 650.0 1,100.0 70.0 1,820.0

In addition, we reimburse members of the Supervisory Board their incurred expenses and the value-added tax payable
on their compensation.
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Long-Term Incentives for The Supervisory Board

We do not offer members stock options or other share-based compensation for their Supervisory Board work. Any
stock options or other share-based compensation received by employee-elected members relate to their position as
SAP employees and not to their work on the Supervisory Board.

Supervisory Board Members� Shareholdings

Note 20 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements section shows the shareholdings of Supervisory Board
members Hasso Plattner (chairperson) and Klaus Tschira (who left the Supervisory Board in May 2007), and the
companies they control, on December 31, 2007. No other member of the Supervisory Board held more than 1% of the
SAP AG common stock at the end of 2007 or of the previous year. Members of the Supervisory Board held a total of
128,993,710 SAP shares on December 31, 2007. On December 31, 2006, members of the Supervisory Board held a
total of 262,623,884 SAP shares.

The table below shows transactions by Supervisory Board members and persons closely associated with them notified
to SAP pursuant to the German Securities Trading Act, section 15a, in 2007:

Transactions in SAP Shares

Notifying Party Transaction Date Transaction Quantity
Unit Price in

�

Peter Koop August 13, 2007 Stock purchase 141 40.231
Dr. Gerhard Maier October 30, 2007 Stock sale 7,600 37.4157
Helga Classen December 10, 2007 Stock sale 7,556 35.7999

Supervisory Board: Other Information

We did not grant any compensation advance or credit to, or enter into any commitment for the benefit of, any member
of our Supervisory Board in 2007 or the previous year.

Hasso Plattner, the chairperson of the Supervisory Board, entered into a consulting contract with SAP after he joined
the Supervisory Board in May 2003. The contract does not provide for any compensation. The only cost we incurred
in 2007 under the contract was the reimbursement of expenses.

As far as the law permits, we indemnify Supervisory Board members against, and hold them harmless from, claims
brought by third parties. To this end, we maintain directors� and officers� group liability insurance. For more
information about this insurance, see the Executive Board: Other Information section.

EMPLOYEES (continued operation)

As of December 31, 2007, we had 43,861 FTEs worldwide, which represented an increase of 12% from December 31,
2006. Of the total headcount, 14,749 employees were based in Germany and 7,832 in the United States. One hundred
sixty-two employees worked in discontinued operations. Overall (including discontinued operations)
44,023 employees worked for SAP worldwide as of December 31, 2007 (2006: 39,355; 2005: 35,873).
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The following tables set forth the numbers of employees by functional area and by geographic region as of
December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 in terms of FTEs (All headcount figures set forth below exclude discontinued
operations):

Employees as of December 31, continued operations
2007 2006 2005

FTEs EMEA Americas APJ(*) Total EMEA Americas APJ(*) Total EMEA Americas APJ(*) Total

Product 3,022 1,002 1,807 5,831 2,840 808 1,595 5,243 2,494 613 1,262 4,369
Service 6,558 3,893 2,334 12,785 6,336 3,363 1,819 11,518 6,636 3,203 1,591 11,430
Development 7,787 1,749 3,415 12,951 7,507 1,530 2,764 11,801 7,063 1,151 2,001 10,215
Sales & Marketing 3,688 3,129 1,465 8,282 3,330 2,604 1,116 7,050 3,302 2,189 934 6,425
General & Administration 1,810 571 416 2,797 1,613 523 336 2,472 1,504 470 286 2,260
Infrastructure 789 285 141 1,215 713 281 120 1,114 715 256 108 1,079

SAP Group 23,654 10,629 9,578 43,861 22,339 9,109 7,750 39,198 21,714 7,882 6,182 35,778

(*) Asia Pacific Japan

We believe that hiring highly qualified professionals is essential to build the foundation for our future success and
continued growth. Initial plans for 2007 called for 3,500 new jobs to be created. The actual net FTEs increased by
4,663. Of the total worldwide headcount increase in 2007, acquisitions accounted for 485, the majority of which was
in the Americas region. The average number of FTEs increased by 4,210 from 37,919 in 2006 to 42,129 in 2007. The
percentage increases were 17% in the Americas region, 6% in the EMEA region, and 24% in the Asia Pacific Japan
region. We filled 1,520 new positions in the Americas region and 1,315 new positions in the EMEA region in 2007.
Of the 1,828 new positions in the Asia Pacific Japan region, most were in India (1,021) and China (476).

The total increase in headcount is consistent with our organic growth strategy and with attaining our financial goals.

Certain employees who are employed by SAP but who are not currently working or who work part-time while
finishing a university degree are excluded from the above figures. Also, certain temporary employees are not included
in the above figures. The number of such temporary employees is not material.

On a worldwide basis, we believe that our employee relations are excellent. Employees of each of SAP France S.A.
and Business Objects S.A. are subject to a collective bargaining agreement.

A German group works council with six members from the German subsidiaries at SAP�s headquarters in Walldorf
represents employees. On the legal entity level, the common works council for our employees at SAP AG and SAP
Hosting AG & Co. KG has 37 members. In addition, our German subsidiary SAP Deutschland AG & Co. KG has a
works council with 23 members. Both works councils have formed elected committees responsible for different areas
of co-determination. The works council is entitled to be consulted on decisions concerning the employees it represents
and can co-determine with the management some measures concerning employees� treatment at SAP. Therefore, some
such decisions with an impact on the German workforce may take longer to make than in the absence of a works
council, and reorganization measures may be more costly to implement. Despite this possibility, the works councils
have not in the past significantly restricted our managerial freedom or materially hampered the performance of our
companies.
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Each of SAP France S.A and Business Objects S.A are represented by a French works council. A French works
council is responsible for protecting the employees� collective interests by ensuring that management considers the
interests of employees in making decisions on behalf of the company. A French works council is entitled to certain
company information and to consult with management on matters that are expected to have an impact on company
structure or on the employees it represents.
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SHARE OWNERSHIP

Beneficial Ownership of Shares

The ordinary shares beneficially owned by Hasso Plattner (Chairperson of the Supervisory Board) and Klaus Tschira
(member of the Supervisory Board until May 10, 2007) and companies affiliated with the aforementioned individuals
are disclosed in �Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related-Party Transactions � Major Shareholders.� We believe each of
the other members of the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board beneficially owns less than 1% of the ordinary
shares as of March 14, 2008.

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

SAP Stock Option Plan 2002

At the 2002 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, the SAP AG shareholders approved the SAP SOP 2002. The
SAP SOP 2002 provides for the issuance of stock options to the members of the SAP AG Executive Board, members
of subsidiaries� Executive Boards and to eligible executives and other top performers of SAP AG and its subsidiaries.
The SAP SOP 2002 Plan was designed to replace the LTI 2000 Plan described below. Under the SAP SOP 2002, the
Executive Board was authorized to issue, on or before April 30, 2007, up to 19,015,415 stock options. In 2007, the
SAP SOP 2002 Plan was replaced by the SOP 2007 Plan. The last stock options under the SAP SOP 2002 Plan were
granted in 2006.

Each stock option granted under the SAP SOP 2002 entitles its holder to subscribe to four shares of the Company�s
common stock by tendering payment of an exercise price per option equal to a base price and a premium of 10% of
the base price. The base price is calculated as the average market price of SAP AG�s common share on the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange during the five trading days preceding the issue of the respective stock option, calculated on the basis
of the arithmetic mean of the closing auction prices of our share in the Xetra trading system. The options cannot be
exercised at an exercise price that is less than the closing auction stock price on the day before the issue date. The term
of the stock options is five years. Subscription rights cannot be exercised until the vesting period of two years has
elapsed.

For options granted to members of the Executive Board since February 2004, the SAP SOP 2002 Plan�s terms cap the
subscription rights if the Supervisory Board determines that an option holder would receive a windfall profit on
exercising the rights. A windfall profit is defined for this purpose as a profit that, when combined with the profit from
earlier exercises of subscription rights issued to the option holder at the same issuing date, exceeds twice the product
of (i) the number of subscription rights received by the option holder and (ii) the exercise price. Such profit is
determined as the total of the differences, calculated individually for each exercised subscription right, between the
closing price of the share on the exercise day and the exercise price. SAP AG has undertaken to reimburse to the
option holders any expenses they may incur through fees, taxes, or deductions related to the cap. The cap will only be
imposed if the Supervisory Board determines that the windfall profit results from significant extraordinary,
unforeseeable developments for which the Executive Board is not responsible.

By resolution of SAP AG�s Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on May 10, 2007, the Executive Board of
SAP AG was authorized to acquire, on or before October 31, 2008, up to 120 million shares in the Company on the
condition that such share purchases, together with any previously acquired shares, do not account for more than 10%
of SAP AG�s capital stock. Such repurchased ordinary shares may, among other things, be used to satisfy our
obligations upon conversion of the convertible bonds or exercise of the stock options under the LTI 2000 Plan and our
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obligations upon the exercise of stock options under the SAP SOP 2002. This resolution replaced the resolution of the
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of May 9, 2006, which authorized the Executive Board to acquire on or
before October 31, 2007, up to 120 million shares in SAP to, among other things, satisfy our obligations upon
conversion of the convertible bonds or exercise of the stock options under the LTI 2000 Plan and the exercise of stock
options under the SAP SOP 2002. These repurchases of
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ordinary shares are expected to reduce the dilutive effects on earnings per share. As of March 14, 2008, we have
repurchased 14,269 thousand ordinary shares and issued them to stock option holders who have exercised stock
options under the SAP SOP 2002. The number of repurchased shares was adjusted to reflect the December 15,
2006 share issuance presented as a share split.

Long Term Incentive 2000 Plan

On January 18, 2000 SAP�s shareholders approved the LTI 2000 Plan. The LTI 2000 Plan is a share-based
compensation program, providing members of the SAP AG Executive Board, members of subsidiaries� executive
boards and selected employees a choice between convertible bonds, stock options, or a 50% mixture of each. Under
the LTI 2000 Plan, 15 million convertible bonds or 18.75 million stock options were originally authorized, and a
maximum of 18.75 million ordinary shares (not adjusted for the December 15, 2006 share issuance presented as a
share split) were authorized pursuant to a contingent capital increase for issuance upon conversion of the convertible
bonds and exercise of the stock options granted under the LTI 2000 Plan. Upon conversion of the convertible bonds
and exercise of the stock options, we will be required to provide ordinary shares in return for payment of the
conversion or exercise price, as the case may be, which will be less than the market price for the ordinary shares at the
time of such conversion or exercise.

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on May 3, 2002, the authorization to issue convertible
bonds and stock options under the LTI 2000 Plan, to the extent not yet made use of, was revoked. In addition, the
contingent capital for issuance upon conversion of the convertible bonds and exercise of the stock options granted
under the LTI 2000 Plan was reduced to the amount necessary to secure all convertible bonds and stock options
already granted under the LTI 2000 Plan. In total SAP AG issued approximately 8.68 million convertible bonds and
approximately 3.63 million stock options under the LTI 2000 Plan.

The conversion price of the convertible bonds for four SAP AG ordinary shares will equal the closing price of the
SAP AG ordinary share quoted in the Xetra trading system (or any successor system) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange
on the last trading day prior to the issue of the respective convertible bond (the day on which SAP AG or the credit
institution managing the issue on behalf of SAP AG accepts the beneficiary�s subscription). Upon the exercise of the
conversion rights, an additional payment is due for each four shares equal to the amount by which the conversion
price of the shares exceeds the nominal amount of the converted bond of �1 for each convertible bond, which was
payable upon granting of the convertible bonds and which is mandatory according to German Stock Corporation Law.

The exercise price of the stock options issued under the LTI 2000 Plan for one SAP AG ordinary share is calculated
by reference to the outperformance. The outperformance is the percentage points by which the performance of the
SAP AG ordinary share exceeds the performance of the reference index (GSTI Index). The initial value for
determining the performance by the SAP AG ordinary shares is the closing price of the SAP AG ordinary shares
quoted in the Xetra trading system (or any successor system) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on the last trading day
prior to the issue of the stock option (the day on which SAP AG or the credit institution managing the issue for SAP
AG accepts the beneficiary�s subscription). The initial value for determining the performance of the reference index is
the last value recorded for the reference index on the same trading day on the Chicago Board Options Exchange. The
final value for determining the performance of the SAP AG ordinary share is the closing price of SAP�s ordinary
shares quoted in the Xetra trading system (or any successor system) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on the latest
trading day prior to exercise of the subscription right attaching to the stock option. The final value for determining the
performance of the reference index is the last value of the reference index on the same trading day on the Chicago
Board Options Exchange. The initial value and the final value of the reference index will be translated from US$ to
euro using the spot mid cashpaper range rate on the Frankfurt interbank market. Performance is the price change
measured between the initial value and the final value, expressed as percentage points. In calculating the performance
of the SAP AG ordinary share, the same adjustment rules for dividend payments, subscription rights, and other special
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rights are applied to the stock exchange prices used as are applied in determining the relevant reference index. The
exercise price for one stock
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option is calculated by reference to the outperformance. The outperformance is the percentage points by which the
performance of the SAP AG ordinary share exceeds the performance of the reference index, as follows: The exercise
price is the final value as determined above, less the product of the initial value as determined above and the
outperformance.

Beneficiaries under the LTI 2000 Plan may not exercise their conversion or subscription rights until a vesting period
has elapsed. The vesting period for 33% of such rights ends two years after the issue date, for the next 33% three years
after the issue date and for the balance four years after the issue date. Convertible bonds and stock options under the
LTI 2000 Plan have a term of 10 years from the issue date, after which they become void.

As of March 14, 2008, we have repurchased 6,798 thousand ordinary shares and issued them to stock option holders
who have exercised stock options under the LTI 2000 Plan. See the preceding section, SAP Stock Option Plan 2002,
for further discussions regarding shares we are authorized to repurchase to satisfy our obligations under the LTI 2000
Plan and the SAP SOP 2002.

Stock Appreciation Rights (STAR) Plans

In March 2007, we granted approximately 18.7 million (2006: 14.1 million; 2005: 19.0 million) stock appreciation
rights to selected employees who are not participants in the LTI 2000 Plan or SAP SOP 2002. The plan does not
involve the issue or grant of options or shares. See Note 27 to our consolidated financial statements in �Item 18.
Financial Statements� for a more detailed discussion.

Incentive Plan 2010

In January 2007 we granted 0.7 million stock appreciation rights (�rights�) to our top executives under the Incentive
Plan 2010. In March 2006, we granted 0.7 million rights to the Executive Board members under the Incentive Plan
2010. The plan provides for a maximum payout of approximately �100 million for the tranche granted to the Executive
Board members and approximately another �100 million for the tranche granted to the top executives, provided that the
market capitalization of SAP AG doubles by December 31, 2010. Therefore, the maximum payout for the stock
appreciation rights that have been granted to date under this plan amounts to approximately �200 million in the
aggregate. The plan does not involve the issue or grant of options or shares. See Note 27 to our consolidated financial
statements in �Item 18. Financial Statements� for a more detailed discussion.

Virtual Stock Option Plan 2007

In March 2007 we granted 7.0 million virtual stock options (stock appreciation rights, �SOP 2007�). The plan�s terms
envisage cash settlement only, and it is available to members of the SAP AG Executive Board, members of
subsidiaries� executive boards and eligible executives and other top performers of SAP AG and its subsidiaries. The
program replaced the SAP SOP 2002 Plan, described above. The plan does not involve the issue or grant of options or
shares. See Note 27 to our consolidated financial statements in �Item 18. Financial Statements� for a more detailed
discussion.

German Employee Stock Purchase Plans

We maintain two employee stock purchase plans for our German employees: (i) an ongoing payroll deduction plan
(the �German Payroll Deduction Plan�) and (ii) an annual purchase plan (the �German Annual Purchase Plan�). Under the
German Payroll Deduction Plan, an eligible German employee is able to purchase ordinary shares through payroll
deductions of up to 10% of the gross monthly salary of the employee and SAP contributions of 15% of the ordinary
share purchase price as well as the assumption of ancillary purchase expenses. As soon as the amount available for an
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account. The acquired shares are not subject to a holding period. Under the German Annual Purchase Plan, eligible
German employees may buy a determined number of ordinary shares per year on a set date. Under such plan, SAP
contributes �260 per year. The employee provides any additional amounts, if necessary, to avoid the purchase of
fractional shares. The acquired shares are transferred to an individual account of the participating employee, and they
are not subject to a holding period. Employees must elect each year to participate in the German Annual Purchase
Plan.

U.S. Employee Stock Purchase Plans

During 2007 we maintained two plans which allow for our U.S. employees to acquire equity securities of SAP AG as
follows: (i) an employee non-discount purchase plan (the �U.S. Non-discount Plan�); and (ii) the ADR Stock Fund (the
�ADR Stock Fund�) available under the SAP America, Inc. 401(k) Plan (�401(k) Plan�). Under the U.S. Non-discount
Plan, an administrator makes open market purchases of ADRs for the accounts of participating employees on a
semi-monthly basis. Such purchases are made out of amounts deducted from each participating employee�s eligible
compensation. SAP does not make any contributions in connection with the U.S. Non-discount Plan. The ADR Stock
Fund was introduced in 2000 as an investment option provided to certain U.S. employees under the 401(k) Plan. For
2007, U.S. employees could contribute up to 25% of their pretax and after tax payroll under the 401(k) Plan, and we
would contribute 50% of the contributed amounts up to 6% of the pretax and after tax pay not to exceed $6,600 per
year. Both employee and employer contributions are submitted to a plan administrator who provides various
investment fund options at the election of each participant.

Other Foreign Stock Purchase Plans

Although we maintain and are in the process of introducing various employee stock purchase plans similar to our
German and U.S. plans in the majority of our remaining foreign subsidiaries, the combined impact of these plans on
our results of operations, net income and cash flows is not material.

ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

The share capital of SAP AG consists of ordinary shares, which are issued only in bearer form. Accordingly, SAP AG
generally has no way of determining who our shareholders are or how many shares a particular shareholder owns.
SAP�s ordinary shares are traded in the United States by means of American Depositary Shares (ADS). Each ADS
currently represents one SAP ordinary share. On March 14, 2008, based upon information provided by the ADS
depositary, the Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, there were 44,173,032 ADSs held of record by
1,553 registered holders. The ordinary shares underlying such ADSs represented 3.5% of the then-outstanding
ordinary shares (including treasury stock). Because SAP�s ordinary shares are issued in bearer form only, we are
unable to determine the number of ordinary shares directly held by persons with U.S. addresses.

However, under Section 21 of the German Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz), holders of voting
securities of a German company admitted to official trading on a stock exchange within the European Union or the
European Economic Area are obligated to notify the issuer of the securities of the level of their holdings whenever
such holdings reach, exceed or fall below certain thresholds, which have been set at 3%, 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%,
30%, 50% and 75% of the issuer�s outstanding voting rights.
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The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of the ordinary shares as of
March 14, 2008 of: (i) each person or group known by SAP AG to own beneficially 3% or more of the outstanding
ordinary shares; and (ii) the beneficial ownership of all members of the Supervisory Board and all members of the
Executive Board, individually and as a group, in each case as reported to SAP AG by such persons. There was, as far
as we are able to tell given the nature of our shares, no significant change in the percentage ownership held by any
major shareholder during the past three years. None of the major shareholders have special voting rights.

Ordinary Shares
Beneficially Owned

% of
Major Shareholders Number Outstanding

Dietmar Hopp Stiftung GmbH 109,869,200 8.814%
DH Besitzgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG 6,404,000 0.514%

Dietmar Hopp, collectively(1) 116,273,200 9.327%
Hasso Plattner GmbH & Co. Beteiligungs-KG(2) 113,718,960 8.122%
Hasso Plattner Förderstiftung GmbH 15,244,922 1.223%
Hasso Plattner (24,100 ADRs) 24,100 0.002%

Hasso Plattner, Chairperson Supervisory Board, collectively(3) 128,987,982 10.347%
Dr. h.c. Klaus Tschira Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG 32,830,640 2.634%
Klaus Tschira Stiftung gGmbH 78,474,048 6.295%
Gerda Tschira 440,000 0.035%
Klaus Tschira 2,738,000 0.220%

Klaus Tschira, collectively(4) 114,482,688 9.184%
Executive Board Members as a group (7 persons) 86,515 0.007%
Supervisory Board Members as a group (16 persons) 128,993,699 10.348%

Executive Board Members and Supervisory Board Members as a group
(23 persons) 129,080,214 10.355%
Options and convertible bonds that are vested and exercisable within 60 days of
March 14, 2008, held by Executive Board Members and Supervisory Board
Members, collectively(5) 1,165,253 N/A

(1) Dietmar Hopp exercises sole voting and dispositive power in Dietmar Hopp Stiftung GmbH and DH
Besitzgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG.

(2) Hasso Plattner exercises sole voting and dispositive power in Hasso Plattner GmbH & Co. Beteiligungs-KG.

(3) Hasso Plattner exercises sole voting and dispositive power in Hasso Plattner GmbH & Co. Beteiligungs-KG and
in Hasso Plattner Förderstiftung gGmbH.

(4) Klaus Tschira exercises shared voting and dispositive power in Klaus Tschira Stiftung gGmbH and Dr. h.c.
Tschira Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG.
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(5) Includes 691,053 stock options and 474,200 convertible bonds. Each of these stock options and convertible bonds
entitles the holder, if exercised or converted, to four SAP AG ordinary shares.

We at present have no knowledge about any arrangements, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a
change in control of the company.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

See Note 30 in �Item 18. Financial Statements� for information on related-party transactions.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

See �Item 18. Financial Statements� and pages F-1 through F-78.

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Legal Proceedings

We are subject to legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, which arise in the ordinary course of
business. Although the outcome of such proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, management does
not believe that the outcome of any of these matters will have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial position or cash flows. Any litigation, however, involves potential risk and potentially significant
litigation costs, and therefore there can be no assurance that any litigation which is now pending or which may arise in
the future would not have such a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of operations or
cash flows.

See a detailed discussion of our legal proceedings in Note 24 to our consolidated financial statements in �Item 18.
Financial Statements.�

Dividend Policy

Dividends are jointly proposed by SAP AG�s Supervisory Board and Executive Board based on SAP AG�s year-end
stand-alone financial statements, subject to approval at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, and are officially
declared for the prior year at SAP AG�s Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. SAP AG�s Annual General Meeting
of Shareholders usually convenes during the second quarter of each year. Since ordinary shares are in bearer form,
dividends are usually remitted to the custodian bank on behalf of the shareholder within one business day following
the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. One SAP ADS represents one SAP AG ordinary share. Record holders
of the ADSs on the dividend record date will be entitled to receive payment of the dividend declared in respect of the
year for which it is declared. Cash dividends payable to such holders will be paid to the Depositary in euro and,
subject to certain exceptions, will be converted by the Depositary into U.S. dollars. The amount of dividends received
by holders of ADSs may be affected by fluctuations in exchange rates. See �Item 3. Key Information � Exchange Rates.�
The timing and amount of future dividend payments will depend upon our future earnings, capital needs and other
relevant factors.

Significant Changes

We have acquired substantially all outstanding securities of Business Objects in the first quarter of 2008. In
connection with the acquisition, we entered into a �5 billion credit facility in October 2007 (subsequently reduced to
�4.45 billion as of December 31, 2007 and further reduced to �2.95 billion in February 2008). Funds available under the
facility were not drawn until the first quarter of 2008. As of March 14, 2008, we had �2.95 billion drawn on this credit.
See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in �Item 18 Financial Statements� for a more detailed
discussion on the estimated effects of the acquisition on our financial position. Also, see �Item 5. Operating and
Financial Review and Prospects � Outlook 2008� for a related discussion on the estimated effects of the acquisition on
our financial performance.
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ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING

GENERAL

Our ordinary shares are officially listed on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, the Berlin Stock Exchange and the Stuttgart
Stock Exchange. In addition, the ordinary shares are traded in the over-the-counter markets (Freiverkehr) in Germany.
The principal trading market for the ordinary shares is Xetra, the electronic dealing platform of the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange. The ordinary shares are issued only in bearer form.

On December 15, 2006 the resolution of the May 9, 2006 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders to increase the
Company�s subscribed capital from corporate funds (retained earnings and APIC) became effective. For each share
they already hold, SAP AG shareholders received three additional shares after the close of stock exchange business on
December 20, 2006. The Company�s stock exchange listing was amended accordingly with effect from December 21,
2006. The new shares resulting from the subscribed capital increase were automatically credited to shareholders�
custody accounts. For financial statement purposes, the issuance of the additional shares is presented as a share split.
Accordingly, earnings per share information for years prior to 2006 presented throughout this annual report have been
retrospectively adjusted to reflect the December 15, 2006 share issuance. Other prior year share information, for
example shares authorized, issued and outstanding, have not been retrospectively adjusted to reflect the December 15,
2006 share issuance because Section 8 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) requires that the Company�s
shares maintain a per-share nominal value of at least �1, and the Company�s per-share nominal value of its issued and
outstanding shares was already �1 before the December 15, 2006 share issuance.

On September 7, 2007, the Executive Board of SAP AG announced that it decided to decrease the Company�s capital
stock by canceling 23,000,000 treasury shares, representing 1.8% of the capital stock before this corporate action.

As of December 31, 2007 the share capital of SAP AG was �1,246,258,408 representing 1,246,258,408 no-par ordinary
shares.

ADSs representing SAP AG ordinary shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange (�NYSE�) under the symbol
�SAP� and currently each represents one ordinary share. The Depositary for the ADSs pursuant to the Deposit
Agreement is Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas.

With the change in share capital in December 2006 the previous ratio between the ADSs and the underlying ordinary
shares of 4:1, meaning that four SAP ADSs were the equivalent of one SAP AG ordinary share, changed to 1:1,
meaning that one SAP ADS represents one SAP ordinary share. Holders of SAP ADSs did not receive additional
ADSs as a result of the capital increase.
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TRADING ON THE FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE AND THE NYSE

The table below sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low closing sales prices for the ordinary shares on
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, as provided by Reuters, together with the closing highs and lows of the DAX, and the
high and low closing sales prices for the ADSs on the NYSE:

Price per
Ordinary Share(1) DAX(2) Price per ADS
High Low Low Low High Low

In � In US$

Annual Highs and Lows
2003 33.50 16.91 3,965.16 2,202.96 41.80 18.46
2004 35.68 29.03 4,261.79 3,646.99 45.45 35.50
2005 38.95 28.63 5,458.58 4,178.10 46.43 36.96
2006 46.86 34.56 6,611.81 5,292.14 57.00 43.57
2007 42.27 33.37 8,105.69 6,447.70 59.86 44.45
Quarterly Highs and Lows
2006
First Quarter 44.75 36.50 5,984.19 5,334.30 54.32 44.00
Second Quarter 46.86 38.49 6,140.72 5,292.14 57.00 48.58
Third Quarter 41.85 34.56 6,004.33 5,396.85 53.42 43.57
Fourth Quarter 41.40 38.38 6,611.81 5,992.22 53.12 49.04
2007
First Quarter 42.27 33.37 7,027.59 6,447.70 55.71 44.45
Second Quarter 38.15 33.65 8,090.49 6,937.17 51.35 45.08
Third Quarter 41.76 36.61 8,105.69 7,270.07 58.67 49.85
Fourth Quarter 41.66 34.31 8,076.12 7,511.97 59.86 50.05
Monthly Highs and Lows
2007
July 41.14 36.61 8,105.69 7,451.68 57.20 49.85
August 40.15 38.02 7,638.17 7,270.07 55.28 51.58
September 41.76 39.29 7,861.51 7,375.44 58.67 53.80
October 41.66 37.14 8,041.26 7,794.94 59.86 53.36
November 36.95 34.31 7,880.85 7,511.97 53.53 50.13
December 36.46 35.25 8,076.12 7,808.94 52.92 50.05
2008
January 34.88 29.96 7949.11 6439.21 50.73 45.77
February 33.51 31.61 7,002.29 6,733.72 49.44 46.35
March (through March 14, 2008) 32.02 31.28 6,689.95 6,448.08 50.20 47.87

(1) Share prices for 2006 and prior are retrospectively adjusted for the effect of the fourfold increase in the number of
shares resulting from the capital increase which became effective December 15, 2006 (see the immediately
preceding section �� General� for more detail of the share increase).

(2) The DAX is a continuously updated, capital-weighted performance index of 30 German blue chip companies. In
principle, the shares included in the DAX are selected on the basis of their stock exchange turnover and the
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issuer�s market capitalization. Adjustments to the DAX are made for capital changes, subscription rights and
dividends.

On March 14, 2008, the closing sales price per ordinary share on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange was �31.39 as provided
by Reuters, and the closing sales price per ADS on the NYSE was US$48.80, as reported on the NYSE Composite
Tape.
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ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

Organization and Register

SAP AG is a stock corporation organized in the Federal Republic of Germany under the Stock Corporation Act
(Aktiengesetz). SAP AG is registered in the Commercial Register (Handelsregister) at the Lower Court of Mannheim,
Germany, under the entry number �HRB 350269.� SAP AG publishes its official notices in the Internet version of the
Federal Gazette (www.ebundesanzeiger.de).

Objectives and purposes

Section 2 of SAP AG�s Articles of Incorporation states that our objectives involve, directly or indirectly, the
development, production and marketing of products and the provision of services in the field of information
technology, including:

� developing and marketing integrated product and service solutions for e-commerce;

� developing software for information technology and the licensing of its use to others;

� organization and deployment consulting, as well as user training, for e-commerce and other software
solutions;

� selling, leasing, renting and arranging the procurement and provision of all other forms of use of information
technology systems and related equipment; and

� making capital investments in enterprises active in the field of information technology to promote the
opening and advancement of international markets in the field of information technology.

SAP AG is authorized to act in all the business areas listed above and to delegate such activities to affiliated
enterprises within the meaning of the German Stock Corporation Act; in particular SAP AG is authorized to delegate
its business in whole or in part to such enterprises. SAP AG is authorized to establish branch offices in Germany and
other countries, as well as to form, acquire or invest in other companies of the same or related kind and to enter into
collaboration and joint venture agreements. SAP AG is further authorized to invest in enterprises of all kinds
principally for the purpose of placing financial resources. SAP AG is authorized to dispose of investments, to
consolidate the management of enterprises in which it participates, to enter into affiliation agreements with such
enterprises, or to do no more than manage its shareholdings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Introduction

The primary source of law relating to corporate governance of a German stock corporation is the German Stock
Corporation Act, but other relevant rules with impact on corporate governance are also contained in the Security
Trading Act, Securities Purchase and Takeover Act, Stock Exchange Admission Regulations, Commercial Code and
other statutes. In addition to these mandatory rules, in February 2002, a government commission appointed by the
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German Minister of Justice adopted the German Corporate Governance Code (�GCGC�), which has since been
amended. The GCGC consists of recommended corporate governance standards. Section 161 of the Stock Corporation
Act, however, requires the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of exchange-listed companies, such as SAP
AG, to declare annually that the recommendations set forth in the GCGC have been and are being complied with, or
which of the recommendations are not being applied. SAP has disclosed deviations from the GCGC in the
above-mentioned declaration of compliance on a yearly basis since 2002 (See
www.sap.com/about/governance/statutes/declarationofimplementation.epx).
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In December 2001, as one of the first German listed companies to do so, SAP published its own corporate governance
rules � �SAP�s Principles of Corporate Governance.� Since the adoption of the GCGC in 2002, SAP had adjusted its own
principles according to new national and international corporate governance standards as appropriate and as far as they
were applicable to SAP. Due to these continual amendments, SAP�s Principles of Corporate Governance and the
applicable German Law together with the GCGC have come to cover largely the same content. In October 2007 SAP
therefore decided to discontinue its own Principles of Corporate Governance and instead makes reference to the
GCGC as the basis of its corporate governance. On our Web site www.sap.com, we make available a statement of how
SAP�s corporate governance practices vary from those of U.S. corporations under New York Stock Exchange Listing
Standards according to Section 303A.11 of the New York Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Rules.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, enacted into law in the United States in July 2002, strengthens protection of shareholders by
imposing new corporate governance and reporting requirements on publicly traded companies in the United States. As
a publicly traded company listed on the New York Stock Exchange, we are in compliance with the applicable
regulations of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the regulations of the Corporate Governance Rules of the New York Stock
Exchange.

The Global Compliance Office (GCO), an extension of SAP�s Corporate Legal Department, was created by the SAP
Executive Board in 2006 to oversee and coordinate legal and regulatory policy compliance for the SAP Group
Companies. Effective March 1, 2007, the Company appointed a new Chief Global Compliance Officer who reports to
the General Counsel, and also has direct communication channels and reporting obligations to the Executive Board
and the Audit Committee of the Supervisory Board. The GCO manages a network of more than 100 local subsidiary
Compliance Officers who act as the point of contact for local questions or issues under the Code of Business Conduct.
The GCO is providing training and communication to SAP employees to raise awareness and understanding of legal
and regulatory compliance policies. Employee help lines are also supported in each region where questions can be
raised or questionable conduct can be reported - without fear of repercussion.

SAP AG, as a German stock corporation, is governed by three separate bodies: the Supervisory Board, the Executive
Board and the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Their rules are defined by German law and by SAP�s Articles
of Incorporation (Satzung) and may be briefly summarized as follows:

The Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board appoints and removes the members of the Executive Board and oversees and advises the
management of the corporation. At regular intervals it meets to discuss current business as well as business
development and planning. The SAP Executive Board must consult with the Supervisory Board concerning the
corporate strategy, which is developed by the Executive Board. The Supervisory Board must also approve the annual
budget of SAP upon submission by the Executive Board and certain subsequent deviations from the approved budget.
The Supervisory Board is also responsible for representing SAP AG in transactions between SAP AG and Executive
Board members.

The Supervisory Board, based on a recommendation by the Audit Committee, provides its proposal for the election of
the independent public accountant to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Prior to submitting this proposal
and in accordance with the GCGC, the SAP Supervisory Board must obtain a statement from the proposed
independent public accountant stating its independence. The Supervisory Board is also responsible for monitoring the
auditor�s continued independence.

The German Co-determination Act of 1976 (Mitbestimmungsgesetz) requires supervisory boards of corporations with
more than 2,000 employees to be equally staffed by representatives of the shareholders and representatives of the
employees. The minimum total number of Supervisory Board members, and thus the minimum number of shareholder
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its German subsidiaries. Our Supervisory Board currently consists of
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sixteen members, of which eight members have been elected by SAP AG�s shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders and eight members which have been elected by SAP�s employees employed by companies of
the SAP Group having their registered office in Germany.

Any Supervisory Board member elected by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders may be
removed by three-quarters of the votes cast at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. Any Supervisory Board
member elected by the employees may be removed by three quarters of the votes cast by employees employed by
companies of the SAP Group having their registered office in Germany.

The Supervisory Board elects a chairperson and a deputy chairperson among its members by a majority of vote of its
members. If such majority is not reached on the first vote, the chairperson will be chosen solely by the members
elected by the shareholders and the deputy chairperson will be chosen solely by the members elected by the
employees. Unless otherwise provided by law, the Supervisory Board acts by simple majority. In the case of any
deadlock the chairperson has the deciding vote.

The members of the Supervisory Board can not be elected for a longer term than approximately 5 years. The term
expires at the close of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders giving its formal approval of the acts of
Supervisory Board and Executive Board in the fourth fiscal year following the year in which the Supervisory Board
was elected unless the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders specifies a shorter term of office when electing
individual members of the Supervisory Board or the entire Supervisory Board. Re-election is possible. The
Supervisory Board normally meets four times a year. The remuneration of the members of the Supervisory Board is
determined by the Articles of Incorporation.

As stipulated in the GCGC the shareholder representatives of the Supervisory Board are independent. In order to be
considered for appointment to the Supervisory Board and for as long as they serve, members must comply with certain
criteria concerning independence, conflict of interest and multiple memberships of management, supervisory and
other governing bodies. They must be loyal to SAP in their conduct and must not accept appointment in companies
that are in competition with SAP. Members are subject to insider trading prohibition and the interested director
dealing rules of the German Securities Trading Act. A member of the Supervisory Board may not vote on matters
relating to certain contractual agreements between such member and SAP AG. Further, as the compensation of the
Supervisory Board members is laid down in the Articles of Incorporation, Supervisory Board members are unable to
vote on their own compensation.

The Supervisory Board may appoint committees from among its members and may, to the extent permitted by law,
entrust such committees with the authority to make decisions. Currently the Supervisory Board maintains the
following committees:

The focus of the Audit Committee (Prüfungsausschuss) is the oversight of SAP�s external financial reporting as well as
SAP�s risk management and compliance matters. Among the tasks of the Audit Committee are the discussion of SAP�s
consolidated financial statements, SAP AG�s statutory financial statements, SAP�s Review of Group operations and
SAP AG�s Review of operations, documents required under German law as well as SAP�s Annual Report on Form
20-F. The Audit Committee proposes appointment of the external auditor and its compensation to the Supervisory
Board, determines focus audit areas, discusses critical accounting policies with and reviews the audit reports issued
and audit issues identified by the auditor and monitors the auditor�s independence. Both, SAP�s Internal Audit
Department and SAP�s Global Compliance Office (GCO) report upon request or at the occurrence of certain findings,
but in any case at least once a year, directly to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has established procedures regarding the prior approval of all audit and non-audit services
provided by our independent auditor. See �Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services� for details. Furthermore
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or need to be established.
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The Audit Committee is currently composed of 4 members: Erhard Schipporeit, Thomas Bamberger, Gerhard Maier
and August-Wilhelm Scheer. The Supervisory Board has determined Erhard Schipporeit to be a financial expert as
defined in Section 407 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. See �Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert� for details. He is
also the chairperson of the Audit Committee.

The General Committee (Präsidialausschuss) coordinates the Supervisory Board agenda, meetings and deals with
corporate governance issues. Furthermore, it was assigned the authority to grant Virtual SAP SOP 2007 stock options
to all recipients with the exception of Executive Board members.

The Compensation Committee (Personalausschuss) is assigned the conclusion of employment contracts with and the
determination of the remuneration of Executive Board members. It also grants Virtual SAP SOP 2007 stock options to
Executive Board members.

The Finance and Investment Committee (Finanz- und Investitionsausschuss) addresses general financing issues.
Furthermore, it regularly discusses venture capital investments and other equity investments with the Executive Board
and reports to the Supervisory Board on such investments. It is also responsible for the approval of such investments if
the individual investment amount exceeds certain specified limits.

Required by the German Co-determination Act of 1976 (Mitbestimmungsgesetz), the Mediation Committee
(Vermittlungsausschuss) convenes only if the two-thirds majority required for appointing/revoking the appointment of
Executive Board members is not attained. This committee has never held a meeting in SAP AG�s history.

The Technology Committee (Technologieausschuss) monitors technology transactions and provides the Supervisory
Board with in-depth technical advice.

The Nomination Committee (Nominierungsausschuss) establishes a profile based on the necessary qualifications,
which states the skills, experience and know-how essential for potential SAP Supervisory Board members. In
addition, it watches the national and international markets for qualified executives and supports the Supervisory Board
in its proposal of candidates to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

The duties, procedures and committees of the Supervisory Board are specified in their respective bylaws which reflect
the German Stock Corporation Act and the GCGC. Major decisions of the Executive Board require Supervisory Board
approval.

According to the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, SAP does not grant loans to the members of the Executive
Board or the Supervisory Board.

The Executive Board

The Executive Board manages the Company�s business, is responsible for preparing its strategy and represents it in
dealings with third parties. The Executive Board reports regularly to the Supervisory Board about SAP operations and
business strategies and prepares special reports upon request. A person may not serve on the Executive Board and on
the Supervisory Board at the same time.

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board must cooperate closely for the benefit of the Company. Without
being asked, the Executive Board must provide to the Supervisory Board regular, prompt and comprehensive
information about all of the essential issues affecting the SAP Group�s business progress and its potential business
risks. Furthermore, the Executive Board must maintain regular contact with the chairperson of the Supervisory Board.
The Executive Board must inform the chairperson of the Supervisory Board promptly about exceptional events that
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are of significance to SAP�s business. The chairperson must inform the Supervisory Board accordingly.

Pursuant to the Articles of Incorporation, the Executive Board must consist of at least 2 members. Currently, SAP
AG�s Executive Board is composed of 7 members. Any 2 members of the Executive Board jointly or one member of
the Executive Board and the holder of a special power of attorney (Prokurist) jointly may legally represent SAP AG.
The Supervisory Board appoints each member of the Executive Board for a maximum term
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of 5 years, with the possibility of re-appointment. Under certain circumstances, a member of the Executive Board may
be removed by the Supervisory Board prior to the expiration of that member�s term. A member of the Executive Board
may not vote on matters relating to certain contractual agreements between such member and SAP AG, and may be
liable to SAP AG if such member has a material interest in any contractual agreement between SAP and a third party
which was not disclosed to and approved by the Supervisory Board. Further, as the compensation of the Executive
Board members is set by the Supervisory Board, Executive Board members are unable to vote on their own
compensation.

Under German law SAP AG�s Supervisory Board members and Executive Board members have a duty of loyalty and
care towards SAP AG. They must exercise the standard of care of a prudent and diligent businessman and bear the
burden of proving they did so if their actions are contested. Both bodies must consider the interest of SAP AG
shareholders and our employees and, to some extent, the common interest. Those who violate their duties may be held
jointly and severally liable for any resulting damages, unless they acted pursuant to a lawful resolution of the Annual
General Meeting of Shareholders.

SAP has implemented a Code of Business Conduct for employees covering the following topics: conflict of interest,
personal gain, bribery and corruption, confidentiality, financial concerns, conduct with customers, ventures,
competitors and partners and trading in shares (addressing insider trading concerns). The employee code is equally
applicable to managers and members of the Executive Board. See �Item 16B. Code of Ethics� for details.

Under the German law the Executive Board of SAP AG has to assess all major risks for the SAP Group. In addition,
all measures taken by the management to reduce and handle the risks have to be documented. Therefore, SAP�s
management has adopted suitable measures such as implementing an enterprise-wide monitoring system to ensure that
adverse developments endangering the corporate standing are recognized at a reasonably early point in time.

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

The Executive Board calls the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders. The Supervisory Board or the Executive
Board may call an extraordinary meeting of the shareholders if the interests of the stock corporation so require.
Additionally, shareholders of SAP AG holding in the aggregate at least 5% of SAP AG�s issued share capital may call
an extraordinary meeting of the shareholders.

At the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, the shareholders are asked, among other things, to formally approve
the actions taken by the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board in the preceding fiscal year, to approve the
distribution of the corporation�s profits and to appoint an independent auditor as well as to ratify amendments of our
Articles of Incorporation. Shareholder representatives to the Supervisory Board are elected at the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders for terms of approximately five years.

The influence of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders is limited by applicable law. The Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders can only make management decisions if requested to do so by the Executive Board.

CHANGE IN CONTROL

There are no provisions in the Articles of Incorporation of SAP AG that would have an effect of delaying, deferring or
preventing a change in control of SAP AG and that would only operate with respect to a merger, acquisition or
corporate restructuring involving it or any of its subsidiaries.

On January 1, 2002, the German Securities Purchase and Takeover Act (Wertpapiererwerbs- und Übernahmegesetz)
became effective. It requires, among other things, that a bidder seeking control of a company with its corporate seat in
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Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht) for review, and obtain certification from a qualified financial institution that adequate
financing is in place to complete the offer. Once a bidder has acquired shares representing 30% of the voting power of
the target company, it must make an offer for all remaining shares. The Securities Purchase and Takeover Act requires
the executive board of the target company to refrain from taking any measures that may frustrate the success of the
takeover offer. However, the target executive board is permitted to take any action that a prudent and diligent
management of a company that is not the target of a takeover bid would also take. Moreover, the target executive
board may search for other bidders and, with the prior approval of the supervisory board, may take other defensive
measures, provided that both boards act within the parameters of their general authority under the German Stock
Corporation Act. An executive board may also adopt specific defensive measures if such measures have been
approved by the supervisory board and were specifically authorized by the shareholders no later than 18 months in
advance of a takeover bid by resolution of 75% of the votes cast.

Effective as of July 14, 2006 the German Implementation Act for the European Takeover Directive amended the
German Purchase and Takeover Act. Under the European Takeover Directive member states may choose whether EU
restrictions on frustrating action apply to companies that are registered in their territory. Germany decided to opt out
and to retain its current restrictions on a board taking frustrating action (as described above). As required by the
Directive if a country decides to opt out the German Purchase and Takeover Act grants companies the option of
voluntarily applying the European standard by a change of the Articles of Incorporation (opt-in). SAP AG has not
made use of this option. Furthermore, the German Commercial Act was amended and companies listed in Germany
are required to list in their Review of Group operations and Review of operations, inter alia, (i) all material contracts
with a change of control clause and (ii) all compensation agreements with members of the Executive Board or
employees for the case of a change of control. SAP�s Review of Group operations, which is included in its annual
report, is available on SAP�s Web site at www.sap.com.

CHANGE IN SHARE CAPITAL

Under German law, the capital stock may be increased in consideration of contributions in cash or in kind, or by
establishing authorized capital or contingent capital or by an increase of the company�s capital reserves. Authorized
capital provides the Executive Board with the flexibility to issue new shares for a period of up to five years, generally
to preserve liquidity. The Executive Board must obtain the approval of the Supervisory Board before issuing new
shares with regard to the authorized capital. Contingent capital allows the issuance of new shares for specified
purposes, including employee stock option plans and the issuance of shares upon conversion of convertible bonds and
exercise of stock options. By law, the Executive Board may only issue new shares with regard to the contingent
capital for the specified purposes. Capital increases require an approval by 75% of the issued shares present at the
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders at which the increase is proposed and require an amendment to the Articles
of Incorporation.

The share capital may be reduced by an amendment of the Articles of Incorporation approved by 75% of the issued
shares present at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

The Articles of Incorporation do not contain conditions regarding changes in the share capital that are more stringent
than those required by German law.

RIGHTS ACCOMPANYING OUR SHARES

There are no limitations imposed by German law or the Articles of Incorporation of SAP AG on the rights to own
securities, including the rights of non-residents or foreign holders to hold the ADSs or ordinary shares, to exercise
voting rights or to receive dividends or other payments on such shares.
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According to the German stock corporation law, the rights of shareholders can not be amended without shareholders�
consent. The Articles of Incorporation do not provide more stringent conditions regarding changes of the rights of
shareholders than those required by German law.

Voting Rights

Each ordinary share represents one vote. Cumulative voting is not permitted under German law. SAP AG�s Articles of
Incorporation provide that resolutions may be passed at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders by the majority
as required by law. This means that resolutions may be passed by a majority of votes cast, unless the law requires a
higher vote. German law requires that the following matters, among others, be approved by the affirmative vote of
75% of the issued shares present at the general shareholders� meeting at which the matter is proposed:

� changing the corporate purpose of the Company set out in the articles of incorporation;

� capital increases and capital decreases;

� excluding preemptive rights of shareholders to subscribe for new shares;

� dissolution;

� a merger into, or a consolidation with, another company;

� a transfer of all or virtually all of the assets; and

� a change of corporate form.

Dividend Rights

See �Item 3. Key Information � Dividends� and �Item 8. Financial Information � Dividend Policy.�

Preemptive Rights

Shareholders have preemptive rights to subscribe (Bezugsrecht) for any issue of additional shares in proportion to
their shareholdings in the issued capital. The preemptive rights may be excluded under certain circumstances by a
shareholders� resolution (approved by 75% of the issued shares present at the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders) or by the Executive Board authorized by such shareholders� resolution and subject to the consent of the
Supervisory Board.

Liquidation

If SAP AG were to be liquidated, any liquidation proceeds remaining after all of our liabilities were paid would be
distributed to our shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings.

Disclosure of Share Holdings

SAP AG�s Articles of Incorporation do not require shareholders to disclose their share holdings. The German
Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz), however, requires holders of voting securities of SAP AG to notify
SAP AG and the Financial Supervisory Authority of the number or shares they hold if that number reaches, exceeds of
falls below specified thresholds. These thresholds are 3%, 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 30%, 50% and 75% of the
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Exchange Controls and Other Limitations Affecting Security Holders

The euro is a fully convertible currency. At the present time, Germany does not restrict the export or import of capital,
except for investments in certain areas in accordance with applicable resolutions adopted by the United Nations and
the European Union. However, for statistical purposes only, every individual or corporation residing in Germany
(�Resident�) must report to the German Central Bank (Deutsche Bundesbank), subject only to certain immaterial
exceptions, any payment received from or made to an individual or a corporation residing outside of Germany
(�Non-Resident�) if such payment exceeds �12,500 (or the equivalent in a foreign currency). In addition, German
Residents must report any claims against or any liabilities payable to Non-Residents if such claims or liabilities, in the
aggregate, exceed �5 million (or the equivalent in a foreign currency) at the end of any calendar month. Residents are
also required to report annually to the German Central Bank any shares or voting rights of 10% or more which they
hold directly or indirectly in non-resident corporations with total assets of more than �3 million. Corporations residing
in Germany with assets in excess of �3 million must report annually to the German Central Bank any shares or voting
rights of 10% or more held directly or indirectly by a Non-Resident. For a discussion of the treatment of remittance of
dividends, interest or other payments to Non-Resident holders of ADSs or ordinary shares, see below �� Taxation �
German Taxation of Holders of ADSs or Ordinary Shares.�

TAXATION

General

The following discussion summarizes certain German tax and U.S. federal income tax consequences of the
acquisition, ownership and disposition of ADSs or ordinary shares. Although the following discussion does not
purport to describe all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to a prospective purchaser of ADSs or ordinary
shares, this discussion: (i) summarizes the material German tax consequences to a holder of ADSs or ordinary shares,
and (ii) summarizes certain material U.S. federal income tax consequences to a U.S. Holder (as hereinafter defined) of
ADSs or ordinary shares that is not resident (in the case of an individual) or domiciled (in the case of a legal entity), as
the case may be, in Germany (in either case, referred to herein as �not resident� or as a �non-resident�) and does not have a
permanent establishment or fixed base located in Germany through which such ADSs or ordinary shares are held.

German Taxation of Holders of ADSs or Ordinary Shares

The following discussion generally summarizes the principal German tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership
and disposition of ADSs or ordinary shares to a beneficial owner. This summary is based on the laws that are in force
at the date of this Annual Report on Form 20-F and is subject to any changes in German law, or in any applicable
double taxation conventions to which Germany is a party, occurring after such date. This discussion is also based, in
part, on representations of the Depositary and assumes that each obligation of the Deposit Agreement and any related
agreements will be performed in accordance with its terms.

The following discussion is not a complete analysis or listing of all potential German tax consequences to holders of
ADSs or ordinary shares and does not address all tax considerations that may be relevant to all categories of potential
purchasers or owners of ADSs or ordinary shares. In particular, the following discussion does not address the tax
consequences for: (i) a person that owns, directly or indirectly, 1% or more of SAP AG�s shares; (ii) a holding which
forms a part of a German permanent establishment of a person not resident in Germany; (iii) a person that is resident
in Germany and at the same time resident in another country; or (iv) a pension fund.

OWNERS AND PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS OF OUR ADSs OR ORDINARY SHARES ARE URGED TO
CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS CONCERNING THE OVERALL GERMAN TAX CONSEQUENCES
OF THE ACQUISITION, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION THEREOF.
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For purposes of applying German tax law and the double taxation conventions to which Germany is a party, a holder
of ADSs will generally be treated as owning the ordinary shares represented thereby.

German Taxation of Dividends

For income tax purposes the half-income system applies with regard to the taxation of dividends. Under this system
only half of the distributed profits of a corporation will be included in the personal income tax base of an individual
shareholder resident in Germany. It is not possible to credit the corporation tax paid by the company against the
shareholder�s income tax. For corporation tax purposes, effectively, a portion of 95% of the dividends received by
corporate shareholders domiciled in Germany will be tax-exempt in order to avoid double taxation. These rules have
some exceptions, which especially apply to financial and certain insurance institutions.

Based on these considerations the German taxation of dividends can be summarized as follows:

Under German income tax law, German corporations are required to withhold tax on dividends in an amount equal to
20% of the gross amount paid to resident and non-resident shareholders. As the basis for deduction of the withholding
tax is the gross amount, withholding tax will be deducted on the taxable and tax-exempt portion of the dividend
received. A 5.5% solidarity surtax on the German withholding tax is currently levied on dividend distributions paid by
a German corporation, such as SAP AG. The solidarity surtax equals 1.1% (5.5% of 20%) of the gross amount of a
cash dividend. Certain persons resident in Germany (e.g., qualifying investment funds or tax-exempt organizations)
may obtain a partial or full refund of such taxes.

For an individual holder of ordinary shares that is resident in Germany, according to German income tax law, half of
the dividends received (which are dependent on the euro/dollar exchange rate at the time of payment) are subject to
German income tax. The same is true for ADSs because each of them represents one ordinary share. For such a
holder, the taxable amount will be the sum of: (i) half of the cash payment by SAP AG and (ii) half of the taxes
withheld. For a corporate holder of ADSs or ordinary shares that is domiciled in Germany, according to German
income tax law, dividends in principle are exempt from corporation tax. However, a portion of 5% of the dividends
received is treated as non deductible expenses. Therefore, effectively a portion of 95% of dividends received by a
corporate holder of ADSs or ordinary shares that is resident in Germany is exempt and a portion of 5% of the
dividends received is subject to corporation tax. These rules as regards the (partial) exemption for dividends from
corporation tax have some exceptions, which especially apply to financial and certain insurance institutions.

Subject to certain conditions, the tax withheld on the gross amount will be eligible for credit against the holder�s
income tax or corporation tax liability. Exceeding amounts are refunded upon filing and assessment of the tax return.
For holders subject to German trade tax, such tax is imposed, in general, only on the amount of the dividends
received, which is subject to income tax or corporation tax. On the portion of the dividends received which is exempt
from income tax or corporation tax, trade tax will become due if the holder of ADSs or ordinary shares does not own
at least 15% of the shares in the distributing corporation at the beginning of the tax year.

Refund of German Tax to U.S. Holders

A partial refund of the 20% withholding tax equal to 5% of the gross amount of the dividend and a full refund of the
solidarity surtax can be obtained by a U.S. Holder (as hereinafter defined) under the U.S.-German income tax treaty
(Convention between the Federal Republic of Germany and the United States of America for the Avoidance of Double
Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income and Capital and to certain other Taxes
as recently amended by the Protocol of June 1, 2006 and published in the German Federal Law Gazette 2006 vol. II
pp. 1186-1212, the �Treaty�). Thus, for each US$100 of gross dividends paid by SAP AG to a U.S. Holder, the
dividends after partial refund of the 20% withholding tax and a refund of the solidarity surtax under the Treaty will be
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To claim the refund of amounts withheld in excess of the Treaty rate, a U.S. Holder must submit (either directly or, as
described below, through the Depositary) a claim for refund to the German tax authorities, with, in the case of a direct
claim, the original bank voucher (or certified copy thereof) issued by the paying entity documenting the tax withheld,
within four years from the end of the calendar year in which the dividend is received. Claims for refund are made on a
special German claim for refund form, which must be filed with the German tax authorities: Bundeszentralamt für
Steuern, D-53221 Bonn, Germany; http://www.bzst.bund.de. The German claim for refund form may be obtained from
the German tax authorities at the same address where applications are filed, or from the Embassy of the Federal
Republic of Germany, 4645 Reservoir Road NW, Washington, D.C. 20007.

U.S. Holders must also submit to the German tax authorities a certification of their U.S. residency status (IRS
Form 6166). This certification can be obtained from the Internal Revenue Service by filing a request for certification
with the Internal Revenue Service, P.O. Box 42530, Philadelphia, PA 19101-2530 or, by private delivery service to
Citibank, Attention: IRS Lockbox Operations, 1617 Brett Road, New Castle, DE 19720-2425. Requests for
certification of U.S. residency status are to be made by filing Form 8802 Application for United States Residency
Certification.

In accordance with arrangements under the Deposit Agreement, the Depositary (or a custodian as its designated agent)
holds the ordinary shares and receives and distributes dividends to the U.S. Holders. The Depositary has agreed, to the
extent practicable, to perform administrative functions necessary to obtain the refund of amounts withheld in excess of
the Treaty rate for the benefit of U.S. Holders who supply the necessary documentation.

In order to claim a refund, the U.S. Holder should deliver an IRS Form 6166 certification to the Depositary along with
the completed claim for refund form. In the case of ADSs held through a broker or other financial intermediary, the
required documentation should be delivered to such broker or financial intermediary for forwarding to the Depositary.
In all other cases, the U.S. Holders should deliver the required documentation directly to the Depositary. The
Depositary will file the required documentation with the German tax authorities on behalf of the U.S. Holders.

The German tax authorities will issue the refunds, which will be denominated in euro, in the name of the Depositary.
The Depositary will convert the refunds into dollars and issue corresponding refund checks to the U.S. Holders or
their brokers.

Refund of German Tax to Holders of ADSs or Ordinary Shares in Other Countries

A holder of ADSs or ordinary shares resident in a country other than Germany or the United States that has entered
into a double taxation convention with Germany may obtain a full or partial refund of German withholding taxes.
Rates and procedures may vary according to the applicable treaty. For details, such holders are urged to consult their
own tax advisors.

German Taxation of Capital Gains

Half of a capital gain derived from the sale or other disposition by an individual holder resident in Germany of ADSs
or ordinary shares is subject to income tax if the ADSs or ordinary shares are held as part of his or her trade or
business or if the ADSs or ordinary shares held as part of his or her private assets are sold within a period of one year
after acquisition.

A capital gain derived from the sale or other disposition by a corporate holder domiciled in Germany of ADSs or
ordinary shares is, in principle, exempt from corporation tax. However, a portion of 5% of a capital gain derived is
treated as non-deductible business expenses. Therefore, effectively a portion of 95% of a capital gain derived from the
sale or other disposition by a corporate holder domiciled in Germany of ADSs or ordinary shares is exempt and a
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the (partial) exemption from corporation tax have some exceptions, which especially apply to financial and certain
insurance institutions.

Special rules apply for individual and corporate holders resident in Germany if the shares have been received in the
course of a tax-exempt reorganization.

For holders subject to German trade tax, such tax is imposed in general only on the portion of the capital gain, which
is subject to income tax or corporation tax.

A holder of ADSs or ordinary shares resident or domiciled in a country other than Germany is not subject to German
income or corporation tax on the capital gain derived from the sale or other disposition of ADSs or ordinary shares.

Reform of the Taxation of Dividends and Capital Gains

From January 1, 2009 onwards, the existing rules on the taxation of dividends and capital gains will be amended if the
holder of the shares is an individual resident in Germany and if he holds the shares in his or her private assets. In such
a case dividends will be subject to an income tax of 25% (flat rate) plus solidarity surtax of 5.5% (total tax rate:
26.375%) plus, as the case may be, church tax. The same will apply to capital gains regardless of the period the shares
will have been held before they will be sold.

A portion of 40% of dividends and capital gains which an individual earns from shares constituting business assets
will be exempted under the law effective from January 1, 2009. The remaining 60% of such income will be subject to
income tax at individual income tax rates.

The existing rules will remain unchanged with respect to trade tax and the taxation of corporate shareholders.

Other German Taxes

There are no German net worth, transfer, stamp or similar taxes on the holding, purchase or sale of ADSs or ordinary
shares.

German Estate and Gift Taxes

A transfer of ADSs or ordinary shares by gift or by reason of death of a holder will be subject to German gift or
inheritance tax, respectively, if the tax-free allowance is exceeded and one of the following persons is resident in
Germany: the donor or transferor or his or her heir, or the donee or other beneficiary. If one of the aforementioned
persons is resident in Germany and another is resident in a country having a treaty with Germany, regarding gift or
inheritance taxes, different rules may apply. If none of the aforementioned persons is resident in Germany, the transfer
is not subject to German gift or inheritance tax. For persons giving up German residence, special rules apply during
the first five years, and under specific circumstances, during the first ten years, after the end of the year in which the
person left Germany. In general, in the case of a U.S. Holder, a transfer of ADSs or ordinary shares by gift or by
reason of death that would otherwise be subject to German gift or inheritance tax, respectively, will not be subject to
such German tax by reason of the U.S.-German estate tax treaty (Convention between the Federal Republic of
Germany and the United States of America for the Avoidance of Double Taxation with respect to Estate, Gift and
Inheritance Taxes, German Federal Law Gazette 1982 II page 847, amended by the Protocol of September 15, 2000,
German Federal Law Gazette 2000 II, page 1170 and as published on December 21, 2000, German Federal Law
Gazette 2001 II, page 65) (the �Estate Tax Treaty�)
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unless the donor or transferor, or the heir, donee or other beneficiary, is domiciled in Germany for purposes of the
Estate Tax Treaty at the time of the making of the gift or at the time of the donor�s or transferor�s death.

In general, the Estate Tax Treaty provides a credit against U.S. federal estate and gift tax liability for the amount of
inheritance and gift tax paid in Germany, subject to certain limitations, in a case where the ADSs or ordinary shares
are subject to German inheritance or gift tax and U.S. federal estate or gift tax.

U.S. Taxation of U.S. Holders of Ordinary Shares or ADSs

The following discussion generally summarizes certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition,
ownership and disposition of ADSs or ordinary shares to a beneficial owner: (i) who is an individual citizen or
resident of the United States or a corporation organized under the laws of the United States or any political
subdivision thereof, an estate whose income is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source or a trust, if a
U.S. court can exercise primary supervision over its administration and one or more U.S. persons are authorized to
control all substantial decisions of the trust; (ii) who is not resident in Germany for German tax purposes; (iii) whose
holding of ADSs or ordinary shares does not form part of the business property or assets of a permanent establishment
or fixed base in Germany; and (iv) who is fully entitled to the benefits of the Treaty in respect of such ADSs or
ordinary shares (a �U.S. Holder�).

This summary deals only with ADSs and ordinary shares that are held as capital assets and does not address tax
considerations applicable to U.S. Holders that may be subject to special tax rules, such as dealers or traders in
securities, financial institutions, insurance companies, tax-exempt entities, regulated investment companies,
U.S. Holders that hold ordinary shares or ADSs as a part of a straddle, conversion transaction or other arrangement
involving more than one position, U.S. Holders that own (or are deemed for U.S. tax purposes to own) 10% or more
of the total combined voting power of all classes of voting stock of SAP AG, U.S. Holders that have a principal place
of business or �tax home� outside the United States or U.S. Holders whose �functional currency� is not the dollar and
U.S. Holders that hold ADSs or ordinary shares through partnerships or other pass-through entities.

The discussion below is based upon the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the �Code�), the Treaty and
regulations, rulings and judicial decisions thereunder at the date of this Annual Report on Form 20-F. Any such
authority may be repealed, revoked or modified, perhaps with retroactive effect, so as to result in U.S. federal income
tax consequences different from those discussed below. No assurance can be given that the conclusions set out below
would be sustained by a court if challenged by the IRS. The discussion below is based, in part, on representations of
the Depositary, and assumes that each obligation in the Deposit Agreement and any related agreements will be
performed in accordance with its terms.

THE DISCUSSION SET OUT BELOW IS INTENDED ONLY AS A SUMMARY OF CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL
INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF AN INVESTMENT IN ADSs OR ORDINARY SHARES. PROSPECTIVE
INVESTORS ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE APPLICATION TO
THEIR PARTICULAR SITUATION OF THE TAX CONSIDERATIONS DISCUSSED BELOW, AS WELL AS
THE APPLICATION OF STATE, LOCAL OR FOREIGN TAX LAW. THE STATEMENTS OF U.S. TAX LAW
SET OUT BELOW ARE BASED ON THE LAWS IN FORCE AND INTERPRETATIONS THEREOF AT THE
DATE OF THIS ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 20-F AND ARE SUBJECT TO ANY CHANGES OCCURRING
AFTER THAT DATE.

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, a U.S. Holder of ADSs will be considered to own the ordinary shares
represented thereby. Accordingly, unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this section to ordinary
shares are deemed to refer likewise to ADSs representing an ownership interest in ordinary shares.
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respect of such distributions, will be taxed to U.S. Holders as ordinary dividend income to the extent that such
distributions do not exceed the current and accumulated earnings and profits of SAP AG as computed for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. SAP AG does not maintain calculations of its earnings and profits under U.S. federal income tax
principles. If SAP AG does not report to a U.S. Holder the portion of a distribution that exceeds earnings and profits,
the distribution will generally be taxable as a dividend even if that distribution would otherwise be treated as a
non-taxable return of capital or as capital gain under the rules described above.

As discussed above, a U.S. Holder may obtain a refund of German withholding tax to the extent that the German
withholding tax exceeds 15% of the amount of the associated distribution. For example, if SAP AG distributes a cash
dividend equal to US$100 to a U.S. Holder, the distribution currently will be subject to German withholding tax of
US$20 plus US$1.10 surtax, and the U.S. Holder will receive US$78.90. If the U.S. Holder obtains the Treaty refund,
he will receive an additional US$6.10 from the German tax authorities. For U.S. tax purposes, such U.S. Holder will
be considered to have received a total distribution of US$100, which will be deemed to have been subject to German
withholding tax of US$15 (15% of US$100) resulting in the net receipt of US$85.

In the case of a distribution in euro, the amount of the distribution generally will equal the dollar value of the euro
distributed (determined by reference to the spot currency exchange rate on the date of receipt of the distribution
(receipt by the Depositary in the case of a distribution on ADSs)), regardless of whether the holder in fact converts the
euro into dollars, and the U.S. Holder will not realize any separate foreign currency gain or loss (except to the extent
that such gain or loss arises on the actual disposition of foreign currency received).

Dividends paid by SAP AG generally will constitute �portfolio income� for purposes of the limitations on the use of
passive activity losses (and, therefore, generally may not be offset by passive activity losses) and as �investment
income� for purposes of the limitation on the deduction of investment interest expense. Dividends paid by SAP AG
will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction generally allowed to U.S. corporations under Section 243 of
the Code. Dividends paid by SAP AG after December 31, 2002 are treated as qualified dividends subject to capital
gains rates as provided by the Jobs and Growth Tax Reconciliation Act of 2003.

Sale or Exchange

In general, assuming that SAP AG at no time is a passive foreign investment company, upon a sale or exchange of
ordinary shares to a person other than SAP AG, a U.S. Holder will recognize gain or loss in an amount equal to the
difference between the amount realized on the sale or exchange and the U.S. Holder�s adjusted tax basis in the ordinary
shares. Such gain or loss will be capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain (taxable at a reduced rate for
individuals) if the ordinary shares were held for more than one year. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to
significant limitations. Upon a sale of ordinary shares to SAP AG, a U.S. Holder may recognize capital gain or loss or,
alternatively, may be considered to have received a distribution with respect to the ordinary shares, in each case
depending upon the application to such sale of the rules of Section 302 of the Code.

Deposit and withdrawal of ordinary shares in exchange for ADSs by a U.S. Holder will not result in its realization of
gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Foreign Tax Credit

In general, in computing its U.S. federal income tax liability, a U.S. Holder may elect for each taxable year to claim a
deduction or, subject to the limitations on foreign tax credits generally, a credit for foreign income taxes paid or
accrued by it. For U.S. foreign tax credit purposes, subject to the applicable limitations under the foreign tax credit
rules, the 15% German tax that is treated as having been withheld from dividends paid to a U.S. Holder will be
eligible for credit against the U.S. Holder�s federal income tax liability. Thus, in the numerical example set out above,
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been subject to German withholding tax in the amount of US$15 (15% of
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US$100) and will be able to claim the U.S. foreign tax credit, subject to applicable foreign tax credit limitations, in the
amount of US$15.

For U.S. foreign tax credit purposes, dividends paid by SAP AG generally will be treated as foreign-source income
and as �passive category income� (or in the case of certain holders, as �general category income�). Gains or losses realized
by a U.S. Holder on the sale or exchange of ordinary shares generally will be treated as U.S.-source gain or loss.

The availability of foreign tax credits depends on the particular circumstances of each U.S. Holder. U.S. Holders are
advised to consult their own tax advisors.

Passive Foreign Investment Company Considerations

Classification as a PFIC. Special and adverse U.S. tax rules apply to a U.S. Holder that holds an interest in a �passive
foreign investment company� (a �PFIC�). In general, a PFIC is any non-U.S. corporation, if (i) 75% or more of the gross
income of such corporation for the taxable year is passive income (the �income test�) or (ii) the average percentage of
assets (by value) held by such corporation during the taxable year that produce passive income (e.g., dividends,
interest, royalties, rents and annuities) or that are held for the production of passive income is at least 50% (the �asset
test�). A corporation that owns, directly or indirectly, at least 25% by value of the stock of a second corporation must
take into account its proportionate share of the second corporation�s income and assets in applying the income test and
the asset test.

Based on current projections concerning the composition of SAP AG�s income and assets, SAP AG does not believe
that it will be treated as a PFIC for its current or future taxable years. However, because this conclusion is based on
our current projections and expectations as to its future business activity, SAP AG can provide no assurance that it
will not be treated as a PFIC in respect of its current or any future taxable years.

Consequences of PFIC Status. If SAP AG is treated as a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S. Holder holds
ordinary shares, then, subject to the discussion of the qualified electing fund (�QEF�) and �mark-to-market� rules below,
such U.S. Holder generally will be subject to a special and adverse tax regime with respect to any gain realized on the
disposition of the ordinary shares and with respect to certain �excess distributions� made to it by SAP AG. The adverse
tax consequences include taxation of such gain or excess distribution at ordinary income rates and payment of an
interest charge on tax, which is deemed to have been deferred with respect to such gain or excess distributions. Under
the PFIC rules, excess distributions include dividends or other distributions received with respect to the ordinary
shares, if the aggregate amount of such distributions in any taxable year exceeds 125% of the average amount of
distributions from SAP AG made during a specified base period.

In some circumstances, a U.S. Holder may avoid certain of the unfavorable consequences of the PFIC rules by making
a QEF election in respect of SAP AG. A QEF election effectively would require an electing U.S. Holder to include in
income currently its pro rata share of the ordinary earnings and net capital gain of SAP AG. However, a U.S. Holder
cannot elect QEF status with respect to SAP AG unless SAP AG complies with certain reporting requirements and
there can be no assurance that SAP AG will provide such information.

A U.S. Holder that holds �marketable� stock in a PFIC may, in lieu of making a QEF election, also avoid certain
unfavorable consequences of the PFIC rules by electing to mark the PFIC stock to market at the close of each taxable
year. SAP AG expects that the ordinary shares will be �marketable� for this purpose. A U.S. Holder that makes the
mark-to-market election will be required to include in income each year as ordinary income an amount equal to the
excess, if any, of the fair market value of the stock at the close of the year over the U.S. Holder�s adjusted tax basis in
the stock. If, at the close of the year, the U.S. Holder�s adjusted tax basis exceeds the fair market value of the stock,
then the U.S. Holder may deduct any such excess from ordinary income, but only to the extent of net mark-to-market
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income, and any loss will be treated as ordinary loss to the extent of net mark-to-market gains previously included in
income.
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Taxation of Holders of ADSs or Ordinary Shares in Other Countries

HOLDERS OR POTENTIAL HOLDERS OF ADSs OR ORDINARY SHARES WHO ARE RESIDENT OR
OTHERWISE TAXABLE IN COUNTRIES OTHER THAN GERMANY AND THE UNITED STATES ARE
URGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS CONCERNING THE OVERALL TAX
CONSEQUENCES OF THE ACQUISITION, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF ADSs OR ORDINARY
SHARES.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

On October 7, 2007, we entered into a Tender Offer Agreement with Business Objects whereby we undertook to
conduct concurrent tender offers in France and the United States for all outstanding securities of Business Objects,
subject to certain conditions, and the board of directors of Business Objects agreed to recommend the offers to their
security holders, also subject to certain conditions. In connection with the tender offers, we entered into a �5 billion
credit facility as of October 1, 2007, as amended and restated as of November 30, 2007 (to �4.45 billion) and
February 27, 2008 (to �2.95 billion), with Deutsche Bank AG serving as the Original Mandated Lead Arranger,
Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A. serving as the Agent and Existing Lender and Deutsche Bank AG, Paris Branch
serving as the Presenting Bank for purposes of the French tender offer. Funds available under the facility may be
drawn only in connection with financing of the offers and were not drawn until the first quarter of 2008. The tender
offers closed and we completed our acquisition of Business Objects in the first quarter of 2008.

DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY

We are subject to the informational requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. In accordance
with these requirements, we file reports and furnish other information as a foreign private issuer with the SEC. These
materials, including this Annual Report on Form 20-F and the exhibits thereto, may be inspected and copied at the
SEC�s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. The SEC also maintains a
Web site at www.sec.gov that contains reports and other information regarding registrants that file electronically with
the SEC. Our annual report and some of the other information submitted by us to the SEC may be accessed through
this Web site. In addition, information about us is available at our Web site: www.sap.com.

ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to various financial risks, including changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates, and equity
prices.

SAP hedges against Group-wide interest rate, equity price and foreign exchange risks. Financial risk management is
done centrally and it is regulated by internal guidelines and undergoes continuous internal risk analysis.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATE RISK

As a global enterprise, we are subject to risks associated with fluctuations in foreign currencies with regard to our
ordinary operations. This includes foreign currency-denominated receivables, payables, debt, and other balance sheet
positions as well as future cash flows resulting from anticipated transactions including intra-group transactions. Most
of SAP AG�s subsidiaries have entered into license agreements with SAP AG pursuant to which the subsidiary has
acquired the right to sublicense SAP software products to customers within a specific territory. Under these license
agreements, the subsidiaries generally are required to pay SAP AG a royalty equivalent to a percentage of the product
fees charged by them to their customers within 30 days following the end of the month in which the subsidiary
recognizes the revenue. These inter-company royalties payable to SAP AG are generally denominated in the
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foreign currency risk with SAP AG in Germany. In certain countries, subsidiaries submit royalties to SAP AG in
U.S. dollars. Because these royalties are denominated in the local currencies of the various subsidiaries or
U.S. dollars, whereas the functional currency of SAP AG is the euro, SAP AG�s anticipated cash flows are subject to
foreign currency exchange risks.

We enter into derivative instruments, primarily foreign exchange forward contracts and currency options, to hedge
anticipated cash flows in foreign currencies from foreign subsidiaries. Specifically, these foreign exchange forward
contracts offset anticipated cash flows and existing inter-company receivables relating to countries with significant
operations, including the United States, the United Kingdom, Japan, Switzerland, Canada, and Australia. We use
foreign exchange derivatives that generally have maturities of 15 months or less, which may be rolled over to provide
continuing coverage until the applicable royalties are received. We hold such instruments for purposes other than
trading.

Generally, anticipated cash flows represent expected inter-company amounts resulting from revenues generated within
the next 15 months following the purchase date of the derivative instrument.

We regularly quantify the risk positions from the exchange rates of key currencies mentioned in the paragraph above,
using the value-at-risk (VAR) concept. VAR represents an expected maximum loss calculated by computing the
exposures of relevant unhedged foreign exchange positions to foreign exchange risk factors. We calculate the
expected loss of income from foreign currency influences for an assumed holding period of 10 days and a confidence
level of 99% based on the variance covariance approach.

The following table shows the value-at-risk calculated on the basis of unhedged foreign currency denominated balance
sheet positions and forecasted inter-company license payments at the end of the fiscal year, high and low amounts
during the fiscal year, and the yearly averages for fiscal years 2007 and 2006. The high and low amounts as well as the
yearly averages are calculated using the figures at the end of each of the quarters.

2007 2006

12/31 High Low
Yearly
average 12/31 High Low

Yearly
average

� millions

Value at risk 12 16 12 14 4 11 4 9

Our 2007 average value-at-risk and year-end value-at-risk amounts were higher compared to the 2006 amounts. This
is due to the expansion of the hedge horizon from 12 to 15 months and due to the increased volatility of almost all the
major hedging currencies.

INTEREST RATE RISK

In order to maintain a liquid portfolio, we invest cash primarily in bank time deposits, notes and bonds, and fixed and
variable rate marketable debt securities. We have entered into in the past, and may enter into in the future, interest rate
swaps to better manage the interest income on our marketable securities and to partially mitigate the impact of interest
rate fluctuations on these investments. In this context no interest rate swaps were outstanding as of December 31,
2007.

The table below presents principal (or notional) amounts (in thousands of euro unless otherwise indicated), respective
fair values as of December 31, 2007 and related weighted-average interest rates by year of maturity for our investment
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Fair
Value

2007 Expected Maturity Date December 31,
Marketable debt securities 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Thereafter Total 2007

� millions, unless otherwise indicated

Fixed rate 332 101 � � � � 433 432
Average interest rate 4.43% 4.81% � � � �
Variable rate 115 � � � � 4 119 117

Total investments 447 101 � � � 4 552 549

Fair
Value

2006 December 31,
Marketable debt securities 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter Total 2006

� millions, unless otherwise indicated

Fixed rate 341 434 � � � � 775 699
Average interest rate 4.16% 4.58% � � � �
Variable rate � 16 � � � � 16 17

Total investments 341 450 � � � � 791 716

Moreover, we held �42 million in liquid investments with original maturities exceeding three months. Since the
remaining maturities of these investments are below twelve months, we do not face considerable interest rate risk
from these investments.

We have lines of credit available that allow us to borrow money in the local currency. Interest under these lines of
credit is determined at the time of borrowing based on current market rates. The table below presents principal
amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2007, and related weighted-average interest rates of the bank loans
outstanding under lines of credit and overdrafts. Because the majority of the maturities is short-term and the amounts
borrowed are rolled over as necessary at current market rates of interest at such time, fair values of bank loans and
overdrafts approximate carrying values.

Bank loans and overdrafts 2007 2006

Fixed rate bank loans (� millions) 17 18
Average interest rate of fixed rate bank loans 8.03% 8.08%
Overdrafts (� millions) 10 8

Total bank loans and overdrafts (� millions) 27 26
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In order to finance the acquisition of Business Objects, SAP entered into a �5  billion credit facility (subsequently
reduced to �4.45 billion as of December 31, 2007 and further reduced to �2.95 billion in February 2008). The interest
payments related to this syndicated term loan facility are determined via the reference rate of EURIBOR. Therefore
the underlying arrangement is a floating interest rate and subject to interest rate fluctuations.

In order to hedge for the cash flow risk resulting from the variability in future interest payments related to the
syndicated term loan facility SAP AG entered into several deal contingent interest rate payer swaps as well as deal
contingent interest rate payer swaptions to partly hedge against the risk of an increase in the EURIBOR. The volume
of these interest rate derivatives only covers a certain portion of the total volume of the syndicated term loan facility.

These interest rate derivatives were contingent with regard to the acquisition and would have been canceled if the
acquisition of Business Objects was not effected with no further obligations of SAP AG under these contractual
arrangements.

Due to the uncertainty of the acquisition and the resulting loan the derivatives did not qualify for hedge accounting
treatment as at balance sheet date. As such the deal contingent interest rate payer swaps as well as
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deal contingent interest rate payer swaptions are recorded at fair value and changes in fair values are charged to net
income (loss).

As of March 14, 2008, we had �2.95 billion outstanding drawn from this credit facility. Contractually we must reduce
this debt to �2.5 billion or less by December 31, 2008, and repay all by December 31, 2009. The interest rate risk for
the borrowings is limited as we have hedged more than 70% of the expected average outstanding financing volume
via interest rate swaps.

EQUITY PRICE RISK

Our investments consist of securities in listed and non-listed companies held for purposes other than trading. The
equity investments in listed companies are monitored based on the current market value, which is affected by the
volatility of stock markets worldwide. An assumed 20% decline in equity prices as of December 31, 2007 would
reduce the value of our investments in marketable securities by �1 million (2006: �3 million).

The equity investments in non-listed companies are monitored individually. Those securities are recognized at cost
because market values are generally not observable. The investments are subject to an annual impairment test.

The carrying value of our equity securities investments as of December 31, 2007 was �89 million (2006: �83 million). In
2007, we recorded impairment charges of �6 million for equity securities investments due to an other-than-temporary
decline in fair value (2006: �1 million). There can be no assurance that changes in market conditions, the performance
of companies in which we hold investments or other factors will not result in the loss of amounts invested.

STAR Hedge

We have entered into options agreements with independent financial institutions for purposes of hedging anticipated
cash outflow from our stock appreciation rights (�STARs�) granted to our employees. The grantee employee will
receive cash on settlement, the amount of which is determined based on the appreciation of the SAP AG stock price
above the strike prices of the STARs over the predetermined periods.

Although the derivative instruments we purchase from the financial institutions for hedging purposes have exposure to
equity price risks on the underlying SAP AG stock price, substantially all of such risks are offset by the corresponding
change in cash payout from the STAR as the derivative instruments and the STARs typically carry the same terms.
The ineffective portion of the hedge is considered immaterial.

See Notes 25 and 26 to our consolidated financial statements in �Item 18. Financial Statements� for more information
regarding STAR plan and hedging activities, including the detail of the derivative instruments we held as of
December 31, 2007 as a hedge.

ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES

Not Applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 13. DEFAULTS, DIVIDEND ARREARAGES AND DELINQUENCIES

None.

ITEM 14. MATERIAL MODIFICATIONS TO THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS AND USE OF
PROCEEDS

None.

ITEM 15. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure controls and procedures means controls and other procedures of SAP that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by SAP in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission�s rules and forms. Disclosure
controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by SAP in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communicated to SAP management, including SAP�s principal executive and financial officers (including SAP�s chief
executive officer (�CEO�) and chief financial officer (�CFO�)), or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. SAP�s management evaluated, with the participation of SAP�s
CEO, Henning Kagermann, and CFO, Werner Brandt, the effectiveness of SAP�s disclosure controls and procedures as
of December 31, 2007. The evaluation was performed by SAP�s Global Internal Audit Services function as well as
dedicated �SOX Champions� in all of SAP�s major entities and business units with the participation of process owners,
SAP�s key corporate senior management, senior management of each business group, and as indicated above under the
supervision of SAP�s CEO and CFO. Based on the foregoing, SAP�s management, including SAP�s CEO and CFO,
concluded that as of December 31, 2007, SAP�s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

MANAGEMENT�S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of SAP is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. SAP�s
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of SAP�s CEO and CFO to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external reporting purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

SAP�s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007. In making this assessment, it used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in �Internal Control � Integrated Framework.�

Based on the assessment under these criteria, SAP management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2007, the
Company�s internal control over financial reporting was effective.
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KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, our independent
registered public accounting firm has issued its attestation report on the effectiveness of SAP�s internal control over
financial reporting, which is included below under the heading �Attestation Report of the Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm.�
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CHANGE IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the period covered by this Annual
Report on Form 20-F that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

ATTESTATION REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Supervisory Board of SAP AG:

We have audited SAP AG�s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO). SAP AG�s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in
the accompanying Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company�s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company�s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company�s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company�s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, SAP AG maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of SAP AG as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated
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each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007, and our report dated April 2, 2008 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft
Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Mannheim, Germany
April 2, 2008

ITEM 16. [RESERVED]

ITEM 16A. AUDIT COMMITTEE FINANCIAL EXPERT

Our Supervisory Board determined that Erhard Schipporeit is an �audit committee financial expert,� meeting the
requirements of Item 16A. He is �independent,� as such term is defined in Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act.

ITEM 16B. CODE OF ETHICS

In 2003, SAP adopted a Code of Business Conduct that applies to all employees (including all personnel in the
accounting and controlling departments) and the members of SAP�s Executive Board (including our CEO and CFO).
Our Code of Business Conduct constitutes a �code of ethics� as defined by the SEC. The Code of Business Conduct sets
standards for all dealings with customers, partners, competitors and suppliers and includes, among others, regulations
with regard to confidentiality, loyalty, preventing conflicts of interest and preventing bribery. International differences
in culture, language, and legal and social systems make the adoption of uniform Codes of Business Conduct across an
entire global company challenging. As a result, SAP has set forth a master code containing minimum standards. In
turn, each company within the SAP Group has been required to adopt a similar code that meets at least these minimum
standards, but may also include additional or more stringent rules of conduct. Newly acquired companies also are
expected to meet the minimum standards set forth in the Code of Business Conduct.

We have made our Code of Business Conduct publicly available by posting the full text on our Web site under
www.sap.com/corpgovernance (section �Policies and Statutes�). The published Code of Business Conduct is the code of
our parent company, SAP AG. It is identical to the master code.

ITEM 16C. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

AUDIT FEES, AUDIT-RELATED FEES, TAX FEES AND ALL OTHER FEES

Refer to Note 31 to our consolidated financial statements in �Item 18. Financial Statements� for information on fees paid
to our independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG, for audit services and other professional services.

AUDIT COMMITTEE�S PRE-APPROVAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

As required under German law, our shareholders appoint our independent auditors to audit our financial statements,
based on a proposal that is legally required to be submitted by the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board�s
proposal is based on a proposal by the Audit Committee. See also the description under the heading �Corporate
Governance� in �Item 10. Additional Information.�

In 2002 our Audit Committee adopted a policy with regard to the pre-approval of audit and non-audit services to be
provided by our independent auditors. This policy, which is designed to assure that such
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engagements do not impair the independence of our auditors, was amended and expanded in 2003. The policy requires
prior approval of the Audit Committee for all services to be provided by our independent auditors for any entity of the
SAP Group. With regard to non-audit services the policy distinguishes among three categories of services:

1. �Prohibited services:� This category includes services that our independent auditors must not be engaged to
perform. These are services that are not permitted by applicable law or that would be inconsistent with
maintaining the auditors� independence.

2. �Services requiring universal approval:� Services of this category may be provided by our independent
auditors up to a certain aggregate amount in fees per year that is determined annually by the Audit
Committee.

3. �Services requiring individual approval:� Services of this category may only be provided by our independent
auditors if they have been individually (specifically) pre-approved by the Audit Committee or an Audit
Committee member who is authorized by the Audit Committee to make such approvals.

Our Chief Accounting Officer reviews all individual requests to engage our independent auditors as a service provider
in accordance with this policy and determines the category to which the requested service belongs. All requests for
engagements with expected fees over a specified limit are additionally reviewed by our CFO. Based on the
determination of the category the request is (i) declined if it is a �prohibited service,� (ii) approved if it is a �service
requiring universal approval� and the maximum aggregate amount fixed by the Audit Committee has not been reached
or (iii) forwarded to the Audit Committee for individual approval if the �service requires individual approval� or is a
�service requiring universal approval� and the maximum aggregate amount fixed by the Audit Committee has been
exceeded.

Our Audit Committee�s pre-approval policies also include detailed information requirements to ensure the Audit
Committee is kept aware of all engagements involving our independent auditors that were not individually
pre-approved by the Audit Committee itself.

All services performed by our independent auditors in the last two fiscal years had been authorized pursuant to our
pre-approval policies.

ITEM 16D. EXEMPTIONS FROM THE LISTING STANDARDS FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES

The rules of the SEC and the NYSE require all members of the audit committee to be independent. However, if an
employee of a foreign private issuer such as SAP who is not an executive officer of that issuer is elected to the
supervisory board or audit committee of that issuer pursuant to the issuer�s governing law, such employee is exempt
from the independence requirements and thus permitted to sit on the audit committee pursuant to the exemption
afforded by Rule 10A-3(b)(1)(iv)(C) under the Securities Exchange Act.

We rely on this exemption. Our Audit Committee includes two members who are non-executive employees of SAP
AG, until May 10, 2007, Bernhard Koller and Stefan Schulz, and after May 10, 2007, Thomas Bamberger and
Gerhard Maier, who are named to our Supervisory Board pursuant to the German Co-determination Act (see Item 6
for details). We believe that the reliance on this exemption does not materially adversely affect the ability of our Audit
Committee to act independently and to satisfy the other requirements of Rule 10A-3.
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ITEM 16E. PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

The following table sets out information concerning purchases of our ordinary shares under our supported Employee
Discount Stock Purchase programs, Long-Term Incentive Plan 2000, Stock Option Plan 2002 and other share
buy-back activities.

(b) (c) (d)

(a) Average
Total Number of

Shares
Maximum Number

of

Total Number
Price
Paid Purchased as Part of

Shares that May
Yet

of Shares per Share Publicly Announced
Be Purchased

Under

Period Purchased (in �) Plans or Programs
the Plans or
Programs

January 1/1/07 � 1/31/07 1,585,000 36.21 1,585,000 75,987,136
February 2/1/07 � 2/28/07 4,115,500 35.48 4,115,500 72,019,941
March 3/1/07 � 3/31/07 3,939,140 34.40 3,939,140 68,478,033
April 4/1/07 � 4/30/07 6,000 33.27 6,000 68,516,784
May 5/1/07 � 5/31/07 1,695,284 35.39 1,695,284 66,894,112
June 6/1/07 � 6/30/07 2,846,960 37.35 2,846,960 64,799,590
July 7/1/07 � 7/31/07 760,000 39.46 760,000 65,799,644
August 8/1/07 � 8/31/07 2,100,000 39.11 2,100,000 64,348,231
September 9/1/07 � 9/30/07 3,345,293 41.24 3,345,293 82,409,125
October 10/1/07 � 10/31/07 2,639,800 37.52 2,639,800 80,073,886
November 11/1/07 � 11/30/07 1,682,217 34.90 1,682,217 78,602,385
December 12/1/07 � 12/31/07 2,551,045 35.83 2,551,045 76,561,012

Total 27,266,239 36.85 27,266,239

Purchases between January 1, 2007 and May 10, 2007 were made in accordance with the authorization to acquire and
use treasury shares granted at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on May 9, 2006, pursuant to which the
Executive Board was authorized to acquire, on or before October 31, 2007, up to 120 million shares of SAP.

Purchases between May 11, 2007 and December 31, 2007 were made in accordance with the authorization to acquire
and use treasury shares granted at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on May 10, 2007, pursuant to which
the Executive Board was authorized to acquire, on or before October 31, 2008, up to 120 million shares of SAP. The
authorization from May 10, 2007 replaced the authorization from May 9, 2006.

Both authorizations were subject to the provision that the shares to be purchased, together with any other shares
already acquired and held by SAP, do not account for more than 10% of SAP�s capital stock.

All purchases were made in market transactions effected on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange via the electronic trading
system Xetra.
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PART III

ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reference is made to pages F-1 through F-78, incorporated herein by reference.

The following consolidated financial statements are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 20-F:

� Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

� Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended 2007, 2006 and 2005.

� Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.

� Consolidated Statements of Shareholders� Equity for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

� Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

� Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

� Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS

The following documents are filed as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 20-F:

1 Articles of Incorporation (Satzung) of SAP AG, as amended to date (English translation).(1)
2.1 Form of global share certificate for ordinary shares (English translation).(1)
2.2 Form of American Depositary Receipt.(2)
4.1 Form of Amended and Restated Deposit Agreement among SAP AG, Deutsche Bank Trust Company

Americas, as Depositary, and all owners and holders from time to time of American Depositary Receipts
issued thereunder, including the form of American Depositary Receipts, dated as of December 3, 2004.(3)

4.2 Amendment No. 1 dated as of December 20, 2006 to Amended and Restated Deposit Agreement among
SAP AG, Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Depository, and all owners and holders from time
to time of American Depositary Receipts issued thereunder, including the form of American Depositary
Receipts.(2)

4.3 Tender Offer Agreement dated as of October 7, 2007 between SAP AG and Business Objects S.A.(4)
4.3.1 Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated as of October 22, 2007 between SAP AG and SAP France

S.A.(4)
4.4 Amendment and Restatement Agreement relating to the �5,000,000,000 (subsequently reduced to

�2,947,679,513.45) Syndicated Multicurrency Term Loan Facility Agreement dated October 1, 2007 by
and among SAP AG (Borrower), Deutsche Bank AG, ABN Amro Bank N.V., Niederlassung
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Deutschland, BNP Paribas S.A., Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft, J.P. Morgan plc and Sumitomo
Mitsui Banking Corporation (Mandated Lead Arrangers), Deutsche Bank AG Paris Branch (Offer
Guarantor), Deutsche Bank Luxemburg S.A. (Agent) and Certain Financial Institutions (Lenders).
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4.4.1 Accession Agreement relating to the �5,000,000,000 (subsequently reduced to �2,947,679,513.45)
Syndicated Multicurrency Term Loan Facility Agreement dated October 1, 2007 by and among SAP AG
(Borrower), Deutsche Bank AG, ABN Amro Bank N.V., Niederlassung Deutscheland, BNP PARIBAS
S.A., Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft, J.P. Morgan plc and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation
(Mandated Lead Arrangers), Deutsche Bank AG Paris Branch (Offer Guarantor), certain financial
institutions (Existing Lenders), certain financial institutions (New Lenders), and Deutsche Bank
Luxembourg S.A. (Agent).

8 Subsidiaries, Equity Method Investments, and Other Investments of SAP AG.
12.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).
12.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a).
13 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
15 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

(1) Incorporated by reference to the Annual Report on Form 20-F of SAP AG filed on March 22, 2006.

(2) Incorporated by reference to Post Effective Amendment No 1 to Form F-6 filed on December 20, 2006.

(3) Incorporated by reference to the Current Report on Form 6-K of SAP AG, filed on December 13, 2004.

(4) Incorporated by reference to the Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO filed with the SEC by SAP France
S.A. on December 4, 2007.
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SIGNATURES

The Registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused
and authorized the undersigned to sign this Annual Report on its behalf.

SAP AG
(Registrant)

By: /s/ HENNING KAGERMANN
Name: Prof. Dr. Henning Kagermann
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Dated April 2, 2008

By: /s/ WERNER BRANDT
Name: Dr. Werner Brandt
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Dated April 2, 2008
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SAP AG AND SUBSIDIARIES
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Supervisory Board of SAP AG:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of SAP AG and subsidiaries (�SAP� or �the Company�)
as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders� equity,
comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007. These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of SAP as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

As described in Notes 3 and 19a to the consolidated financial statements, SAP adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 158, Employers� Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans, as of December 31, 2006. As described in Notes 3 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements, effective
January 1, 2006, SAP adopted the fair value method of accounting for stock-based compensation as required by
SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), SAP�s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in
Internal Control � Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO), and our report dated April 2, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of
SAP�s internal control over financial reporting.

KPMG Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft
Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Mannheim, Germany
April 2, 2008
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SAP AG AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
for the years ended December 31,

Note 2007(1) 2007 2006 2005
US$ millions � millions � millions � millions

Software revenue 4,975 3,407 3,003 2,743
Support revenue 5,605 3,838 3,464 3,170
Subscription and other software-related service
revenue 266 182 129 42
Software and software-related service revenue 10,846 7,427 6,596 5,955
Consulting revenue 3,243 2,221 2,249 2,071
Training revenue 599 410 383 342
Other service revenue 165 113 96 71
Professional services and other service revenue 4,007 2,744 2,728 2,484
Other revenue 104 71 69 70

Total revenue (5) 14,957 10,242 9,393 8,509

Cost of software and software-related services (1,913) (1,310) (1,091) (983)
Cost of professional services and other services (3,053) (2,091) (2,073) (1,925)
Research and development (2,129) (1,458) (1,335) (1,089)
Sales and marketing (6) (3,157) (2,162) (1,908) (1,746)
General and administration (739) (506) (464) (435)
Other operating income, net (7) 25 17 56 6

Total operating expenses (10,966) (7,510) (6,815) (6,172)

Operating income 3,991 2,732 2,578 2,337

Other non-operating income/expense, net (8) 1 1 (12) (25)
Financial income, net (9) 181 124 122 11

Income from continuing operations before income
taxes 4,173 2,857 2,688 2,323

Income taxes (10) (1,345) (921) (805) (818)
Minority interests (3) (2) (2) (3)

Income from continuing operations 2,825 1,934 1,881 1,502

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax (11) (22) (15) (10) (6)

Net income 2,803 1,919 1,871 1,496

(12) US$ 2.34 � 1.60 � 1.53 � 1.21
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Earnings per share from continuing operations �
basic
Earnings per share from continuing operations �
diluted (12) US$ 2.34 � 1.60 � 1.53 � 1.21
Earnings per share from net income � basic (12) US$ 2.32 � 1.59 � 1.53 � 1.21
Earnings per share from net income � diluted (12) US$ 2.32 � 1.59 � 1.52 � 1.20

(1) The 2007 figures have been translated solely for the convenience of the reader at an exchange rate of US$1.4603
to �1.00, the Noon Buying Rate certified by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on December 31, 2007.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAP AG AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
as of December 31,

Note 2007(1) 2007 2006
US$

millions � millions � millions

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (13) 2,348 1,608 2,399
Restricted cash (13) 803 550 0
Short-term investments (13) 873 598 931
Accounts receivable, net (14) 4,228 2,895 2,440
Other assets (15) 790 541 371
Deferred income taxes (10) 183 125 108
Prepaid expenses/deferred charges 111 76 75
Assets held for sale (11) 22 15 0

Current assets 9,358 6,408 6,324
Goodwill (16) 2,078 1,423 987
Intangible assets, net (16) 589 403 263
Property, plant, and equipment, net (17) 1,922 1,316 1,206
Investments (13) 130 89 95
Accounts receivable, net (14) 4 3 3
Other assets (15) 810 555 533
Deferred income taxes (10) 213 146 69
Prepaid expenses/deferred charges 34 23 23

Noncurrent assets 5,780 3,958 3,179

Total assets 15,138 10,366 9,503

Note 2007(1) 2007 2006
US$

millions � millions � millions

Liabilities, Minority interests and Shareholders� equity
Accounts payable (18) 1,044 715 610
Income tax obligations 498 341 261
Other liabilities (18) 2,126 1,456 1,298
Provisions (19) 225 154 163
Deferred income taxes (10) 69 47 36
Deferred income (5) 697 477 405
Liabilities held for sale (11) 13 9 0
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Current liabilities 4,672 3,199 2,773
Accounts payable (18) 15 10 34
Income tax obligations 131 90 67
Other liabilities (18) 115 79 73
Provisions (19) 539 369 339
Deferred income taxes (10) 107 73 16
Deferred income (5) 61 42 55
Noncurrent liabilities 968 663 584

Total liabilities 5,640 3,862 3,357

Minority interests 1 1 10
Common stock, no par value 1,820 1,246 1,268
Authorized � Not issued or outstanding: 480 million and
495 million shares at December 31, 2007 and 2006
Authorized � Issued and outstanding: 1.246 million and
1.268 million shares at December 31, 2007 and 2006
Treasury stock (2,532) (1,734) (1,742)
Additional paid-in capital 507 347 332
Retained earnings 10,454 7,159 6,589
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (752) (515) (311)

Shareholders� equity (20) 9,497 6,503 6,136

Total liabilities, Minority interests and Shareholders�
equity 15,138 10,366 9,503

(1) The 2007 figures have been translated solely for the convenience of the reader at an exchange rate of US$1.4603
to �1.00, the Noon Buying Rate certified by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on December 31, 2007.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAP AG AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS� EQUITY
for the years ended December 31,

Accumulated
Additional other

Common paid-in Retained comprehensive Treasury
stock capital earnings income stock Total

� millions

January 1, 2005 316 302 4,824 (279) (569) 4,594
Net income 0 0 1,496 0 0 1,496
Other comprehensive income/loss, net of tax 0 0 0 188 0 188

Total comprehensive income/loss 0 0 1,496 188 0 1,684

Share-based compensation 0 (36) 0 0 0 (36)
Dividends 0 0 (340) 0 0 (340)
Cancellation of treasury stock 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other treasury stock transactions 0 48 0 0 (206) (158)
Convertible bonds and stock options
exercised 0 42 0 0 0 42
Other 0 (4) 0 0 0 (4)

December 31, 2005 316 352 5,980 (91) (775) 5,782

Net income 0 0 1,871 0 0 1,871
Other comprehensive income/loss, net of tax 0 0 0 (220) 0 (220)

Total comprehensive income/loss 0 0 1,871 (220) 0 1,651

Share-based compensation 0 18 0 0 0 18
Dividends 0 0 (447) 0 0 (447)
Cancellation of treasury stock 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other treasury stock transactions 0 44 0 0 (967) (923)
Convertible bonds and stock options
exercised 1 49 0 0 0 50
Issuance of common stock 951 (135) (816) 0 0 0
Other 0 4 1 0 0 5

December 31, 2006 1,268 332 6,589 (311) (1,742) 6,136

Net income 0 0 1,919 0 0 1,919
Other comprehensive income/loss, net of tax 0 0 0 (204) 0 (204)

Total comprehensive income/loss 0 0 1,919 (204) 0 1,715
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Share-based compensation 0 (40) 0 0 0 (40)
Dividends 0 0 (556) 0 0 (556)
Cancellation of treasury stock (23) 0 (796) 0 819 0
Other treasury stock transactions 0 12 0 0 (811) (799)
Convertible bonds and stock options
exercised 1 43 0 0 0 44
Other 0 0 3 0 0 3

December 31, 2007 1,246 347 7,159 (515) (1,734) 6,503

This Statement is an integral part of Note 20.
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SAP AG AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the years ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
� million, unless otherwise

stated

Net Income 1,919 1,871 1,496

Currency translation adjustments
(tax 2007: 0; 2006: 0; 2005: 0) (194) (149) 121

Unrealized holding gains/losses on marketable securities
(tax 2007: 0; 2006: 0; 2005: 1) (2) (8) 2
Reclassification adjustments on marketable securities for gains/losses included in
net income
(tax 2007: 0; 2006: (1); 2005: 0) (1) 2 0

Net unrealized gains/losses on marketable securities (3) (6) 2

Unrecognized pension costs
(tax 2007: 1; 2006: 2; 2005: 2) (1) (12) (1)

Unrealized foreign currency cash flow hedge gains/losses
(tax 2007: (6); 2006: (15); 2005: 11) 55 41 (30)
Reclassification foreign currency cash flow hedge adjustments for gains included
in net income
(tax 2007: 4; 2006: 4; 2005: 2) (43) (10) (5)

Net unrealized foreign currency cash flow hedge gains/losses 12 31 (35)

Unrealized gains on STAR hedge
(tax 2007: (3); 2006: (13); 2005: (27)) 10 37 78
Reclassification adjustments on STAR hedge for gains included in net income
(tax 2007: 9; 2006: 39; 2005: 4) (28) (111) (13)

Net unrealized gains/losses on STAR hedge (18) (74) 65

Currency effects from intercompany long-term investment transactions
(tax 2007: 0; 2006: 0; 2005: 0) (5) (26) 43

Tax on income and expense recognised directly in equity 5 16 (7)

Other comprehensive income/loss (204) (220) 188

Total comprehensive income 1,715 1,651 1,684
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The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SAP AG AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
for the years ended December 31,

2007(1) 2007 2006 2005
US$

millions � millions � millions � millions

Net income 2,803 1,919 1,871 1,496
Net income from discontinued operations 22 15 10 6
Minority interests 3 2 2 3

Income from continuing operations before minority
interests 2,828 1,936 1,883 1,505

Adjustments to reconcile income before minority interests to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 381 261 214 204
Gains/losses from equity investees 1 1 1 (1)
Gains/losses on disposal of intangible assets and property,
plant, and equipment 1 1 (2) (5)
Losses on disposal of investments (3) (2) 0 (1)
Writeups/downs of financial assets 12 8 0 14
Allowances for doubtful accounts 0 0 (40) (25)
Impacts of STAR hedging 31 21 (79) 7
Stock-based compensation including income tax benefits 19 13 82 50
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 0 0 (3) 0
Deferred income taxes 12 8 (2) (16)
Change in accounts receivable (761) (521) (230) (295)
Change in other assets (470) (322) (216) (63)
Change in accrued and other liabilities 618 423 130 164
Change in deferred income 180 123 117 74

Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing
operations 2,849 1,950 1,855 1,612

Acquisition of minority interests in subsidiaries (70) (48) 0 (60)
Business combinations, net of cash and cash equivalents
acquired (981) (672) (504) (177)
Purchase of intangible assets and property, plant, and
equipment (586) (401) (365) (253)
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets and property, plant,
and equipment 39 27 29 17
Cash transferred to restricted cash accounts (803) (550) 0 0
Purchase of investments (1,122) (768) (2,055) (4,485)
Sales of investments 1,497 1,025 2,765 4,388
Purchase of other financial assets (29) (20) (17) (17)
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Sales of other financial assets 22 15 15 13

Net cash used in investing activities from continuing
operations (2,033) (1,392) (132) (574)

Dividends paid (812) (556) (447) (340)
Purchase of treasury stock (1,468) (1,005) (1,149) (454)
Proceeds from reissuance of treasury stock 228 156 165 205
Proceeds from issuance of common stock (stock-based
compensation) 64 44 49 43
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 0 0 3 0
Repayment of bonds 0 0 (1) 0
Proceeds from short-term and long-term debt 69 47 44 338
Repayments of short-term and long-term debt (70) (48) (43) (339)
Proceeds from the exercise of equity-based derivative
instruments (STAR hedge) 110 75 57 39
Purchase of equity-based derivative instruments (STAR hedge) 0 0 (53) (47)

Net cash used in financing activities from continuing
operations (1,879) (1,287) (1,375) (555)

Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents (72) (49) (3) 88
Net cash used in operating activities from discontinued
operations (18) (12) (8) (4)
Net cash used in investing activities from discontinued
operations (1) (1) (2) (9)
Net cash used in financing activities from discontinued
operations 0 0 0 0
Net cash used in discontinued operations (19) (13) (10) (13)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (1,154) (791) 335 558
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 3,502 2,399 2,064 1,506

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 2,348 1,608 2,399 2,064

(1) The 2007 figures have been translated solely for the convenience of the reader at an exchange rate of US$1.4603
to �1.00, the Noon Buying Rate certified by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on December 31, 2007.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2007

A. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

(1) GENERAL

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of SAP AG and its subsidiaries (collectively, �we�, �our�, �SAP�, or
�Company�) have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of
America (�U.S. GAAP�).

We are an international corporation with headquarters in Walldorf, Germany. We develop, market, and sell a variety
of software solutions, primarily enterprise application software products for organizations including corporations,
government agencies, and educational institutions. We also offer support and other services (including consulting and
training) related to our software offering. For more information, see Note 28.

Certain amounts reported in previous years have been reclassified to conform to the 2007 presentation. In the first
quarter of 2007 we changed the presentation of our consolidated statements of income. We believe that the new
presentation shows more transparently our potential new revenue streams. We renamed what we previously called
Maintenance revenue to Support revenue; we renamed what we previously called Software and maintenance revenue
to Software and software-related service revenue; and we now show Subscriptions and other software-related service
revenue as a separate component within Software and software-related service revenue. This new item includes
revenue from subscriptions, software rentals and time-based licenses, hosted and other on-demand solutions, and other
software-related services. We also renamed what we previously called Service revenue to Professional services
revenue. Furthermore, we now show revenue from Other services as an additional item within Professional services
revenue. Finally, we reclassified and renamed various expense categories to correspond with the revised revenue
items. For more information, see Note 5.

Amounts included in the Consolidated Financial Statements are reported in millions of euros (�� millions�) unless
otherwise stated.

During 2007 we committed to a plan to sell the business of certain of our subsidiaries. The assets and liabilities
associated with these operations to be discontinued have been presented as �held for sale� in the 2007 consolidated
balance sheet. The results of operations and cash flows related to these operations to be discontinued have been
presented separately as �discontinued operations� in the 2007 consolidated statements of income and cash flows,
respectively. As required by U.S. GAAP, the prior year consolidated statements of income and cash flows have been
adjusted retrospectively to present discontinued operations separately. Except as otherwise indicated, the information
presented in these Notes refer to our continuing operations. Please refer to Note 11 for further information about our
discontinued operations.

We operate in a dynamic and rapidly changing environment that involves numerous risks and uncertainties, many of
which are beyond the Company�s control. We derive a substantial portion of our revenue from software licenses and
software-related services sold to customers in Germany, the United States, the United Kingdom and Japan. Our future
revenue and income may be adversely affected by a prolonged economic slowdown in any of these countries or
elsewhere. Further, a significant portion of our business is conducted in currencies other than the euro. As a result, our
Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in euros, which is the functional currency of SAP AG. We
continually monitor our exposure to foreign currency exchange risk and have a Company-wide foreign currency
exchange risk policy under which we may hedge such risks with certain financial instruments. However, fluctuations
in foreign currency exchange rates, especially the value of the U.S. dollar, pound sterling, Japanese yen, Swiss franc,
Canadian dollar, and Australian dollar could significantly impact our reported financial position and results of
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(2) SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

The Consolidated Financial Statements include SAP AG and all of its subsidiaries that are controlled directly or
indirectly by SAP AG. SAP does not consolidate any special purpose entities (SPE) as it does not have any financial
or nonfinancial interests in SPEs.

All SAP entities prepare their financial statements as at December 31. All financial statements used for consolidation
purposes were prepared using the same U.S. GAAP accounting and valuation principles applicable for the respective
period. Intercompany transactions and balances relating to consolidated entities have been eliminated.

The following table summarizes the change in the number of legal entities included in the Consolidated Financial
Statements. Included in our additions to consolidated legal entities is a newly founded entity in which we hold only
49% of the voting shares. Due to the fact that the majority shareholder has entered into an agreement with SAP that
allows SAP to fully control the entity, receive all benefits, and incur all risks, we fully consolidate this entity as we
consolidate any other of our operating entities:

Number of Legal Entities Consolidated in the Financial Statements

German Foreign Total

12/31/2006 21 94 115
Additions 2 24 26
Disposals 0 (2) (2)

12/31/2007 23 116 139

The changes in the scope of companies included in the Consolidated Financial Statements during 2007 did not have a
significant effect on the comparability of the Consolidated Financial Statements presented. The additions relate to
seven newly founded entities and to 19 legal entities added in connection with acquisitions. The disposals are due to
mergers of consolidated legal entities.

Equity Method Investments

In 2007, four companies in which we do not have a controlling financial interest but over which we can exercise
significant influence on operating and financial policies (�equity method investments�), are accounted for using the
equity method (2006: five entities).

(3) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
Consolidated Financial Statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.
In making our estimates, we consider historical and forecast information, as well as regional and industry economic
conditions in which the Company or its customers operate, changes to which could negatively impact our estimates, in
particular when assessing revenues and costs, the valuation and recoverability of receivables, investments and other
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Our financial position, income, and cash flows are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties. Factors that could
affect the Company�s future financial statements and cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations
include, but are not limited to, further adverse changes in the global economy,
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consolidation and intense competition in the software industry, declines in customer demand in the most important
markets in Europe, the United States, and Asia, as well as fluctuations in currency exchange rates.

Basis of Measurement

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared based on the historical cost basis except for the following:

� Derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value

� Available for sale financial assets are measured at fair value

� Liabilities for cash-settled share-based payment arrangements are measured at fair value

Where applicable, information about the methods and assumptions used in determining fair values is disclosed in the
notes specific to that asset or liability.

Business Combinations

We account for all business combinations using the purchase method. As of the date of acquisition, we allocate the
purchase price to the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Foreign Currencies

The functional currency of our foreign operations is the local currency. The assets and liabilities of our foreign
operations where the functional currency is not the euro are translated into euros using period-end closing exchange
rates, whereas items of income and expense are translated into euros using average exchange rates during the
respective periods. The resulting foreign currency translation adjustments are included in Accumulated other
comprehensive income/loss in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (�SOCI�). Currency effects from
intercompany long-term investments relate to intercompany foreign currency transactions that are of a long-term
investment nature and are also included in Accumulated other comprehensive income/loss in the SOCI.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities at the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign
currencies other than the functional currency are remeasured at the period-end closing rate with resulting gains and
losses reflected in Other non-operating income/expense, net in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Operating cash flows are translated into euros using average exchange rates during the respective periods whereas
investing and financing cash flows are translated into euros using the exchange rates in effect at the time of the
respective transaction. The effects on cash due to fluctuations in exchange rates are shown in a separate line in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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Exchange Rates

The exchange rates of key currencies affecting the Company were as follows:

Closing rate as at
December 31, Annual average exchange rate

2007 2006 2007 2006 2005
Equivalent to �1 to �1 to �1 to �1 to �1 to �1

U.S. dollar USD 1.4721 1.3170 1.3777 1.2611 1.2360
Pound sterling GBP 0.7334 0.6715 0.6890 0.6800 0.6827
Japanese yen JPY 164.93 156.93 161.43 147.02 137.08
Swiss franc CHF 1.6547 1.6069 1.6446 1.5757 1.5478
Canadian dollar CAD 1.4449 1.5281 1.4623 1.4296 1.4908
Australian dollar AUD 1.6757 1.6691 1.6368 1.6715 1.6246

Revenue Recognition

We derive our revenues from the sale or license of our software products and of support, subscription, consulting,
development, training, and other professional services. The vast majority of our software arrangements include
support services and many also include professional services and other elements.

We recognize revenue pursuant to the requirements of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(�AICPA�) Statement of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition (�SOP 97-2�), as amended. Revenue on
multiple-element arrangements is recognized using the residual method when company-specific objective evidence of
fair value exists for all of the undelivered elements (for example, support, consulting, or other services) in the
arrangement, but does not exist for one or more delivered elements (for example, software). We allocate revenue to
each undelivered element based on its respective fair value which is the price charged when that element is sold
separately or, for elements not yet sold separately, the price established by our management if it is probable that the
price will not change before the element is sold separately. We allocate revenue to undelivered support services based
on a company-wide rate charged to renew the support services annually (such renewal rates represent a percentage of
the discounted software license fee charged to the customer; the vast majority of our customers renew their annual
support service contracts).We defer revenue for all undelivered elements and recognize the residual amount of the
arrangement fee attributable to the delivered elements, if any, when the basic criteria in SOP 97-2 have been met.

Under SOP 97-2, provided that the arrangement does not involve significant production, modification, or
customization of the software, software revenue is recognized when all of the following four criteria have been met:

1. Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists

2. Delivery has occurred

3. The fee is fixed or determinable, and

4. Collectibility is probable.

If at the outset of an arrangement we determine that the arrangement fee is not fixed or determinable, revenue is
deferred until the arrangement fee becomes due and payable by the customer. If at the outset of an arrangement we
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determine that collectibility is not probable, revenue is deferred until payment is received. Almost none of our
software license agreements include acceptance testing provisions. If an arrangement allows for customer acceptance
testing of the software, we defer revenue until the earlier of customer acceptance or when the acceptance right lapses.

We usually sell or license software on a perpetual basis. Occasionally, we license software for a specified time.
Revenue from short-term time-based licenses, which generally include support services during the license
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period, is recognized ratably over the license term. Revenue from multi-year time-based licenses that include support
services, whether separately priced or not, is recognized ratably over the license term unless a substantive support
service renewal rate exists, in which case the amount allocated to software based on the residual method is recognized
as software revenue once the basic criteria in SOP 97-2 have been met. Revenues from time-based licenses were not
material in any of the periods presented.

Arrangements for unspecified future software updates, upgrades and enhancements and technical product support are
support service contracts. Support revenues are recognized ratably over the term of the support service contract,
typically one year, and are classified as support revenue in the Consolidated Statements of Income. In contrast,
arrangements for unspecified future additional software products are subscriptions. Revenue from such arrangements
is recognized ratably over the term of the arrangement beginning with the delivery of the first product. Revenues from
subscriptions were not material in any of the periods presented.

We recognize revenue from arrangements involving resellers on evidence of sell-through by the reseller to the end
customer. We have a history of honoring contingent rights if we become aware that a reseller has granted contingent
rights to an end-customer, although we have no contractual obligation to do so and we therefore defer revenue
recognition until a valid license agreement has been entered into without contingencies or, if applicable, until the
contingencies expire.

In multiple-element arrangements involving software and consulting, training, or other professional services that are
not essential to the functionality of the software, the service revenues are accounted for separately from the software
revenues.

For short-term time-based licenses we allocate a portion of the arrangement fee to support revenue based on the
estimated fair value of the support services.

We recognize consulting, training, and other professional service revenues when the respective services are
performed. Consulting revenues are recognized on a time-and-materials basis or using the proportional performance
method. Consulting services primarily comprise implementation support related to the installation and configuration
of the Company�s software products and do not typically involve significant production, modification, or
customization of our software.

Revenues for arrangements that involve significant production, modification, or customization of the software and
those in which the services are not available from third-party vendors and therefore are deemed essential to the
software, are recognized, depending on the fee structure, on a time-and-materials basis or using the percentage of
completion method of accounting, based on direct labor costs incurred to date as a percentage of total estimated
project costs required to complete the project. If we do not have a sufficient basis to measure the progress of
completion or to estimate the total contract revenues and costs, revenue and costs are deferred until the project is
complete and, if applicable, final acceptance is received from the customer. If the arrangement includes elements that
do not qualify for contract accounting (for example support services and hosting) such elements are accounted for
separately provided that the elements have stand-alone value and that company-specific objective evidence of fair
value exists. When total cost estimates exceed revenues in an arrangement, the estimated losses are recognized
immediately based on an average fully burdened daily rate applicable to the unit delivering the services, which
consists of costs allocable to the arrangement.

We enter into joint development agreements with customers to leverage their industry expertise and provide standard
software solutions for selected vertical markets. These customers generally contribute cash, resources, and industry
expertise in exchange for license rights for the future solution. We recognize software revenue in conjunction with
these arrangements based on the percentage of completion method. If we do not have a sufficient basis to measure the
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received from the customer.

The assumptions, risks, and uncertainties inherent in the application of the percentage of completion method and the
proportional performance method affect the timing and amounts of revenues and expenses
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reported. Numerous internal and external factors can affect estimates, including direct labor rates, utilization, and
efficiency variances. Changes in estimates of SAP�s progress towards completion and of contract revenues and contract
costs are accounted for as cumulative catch-up adjustments to the reported revenues for the applicable contract.

Hosting and other on-demand services are recognized ratably over the term of the individual contract. Revenues from
hosting and other on-demand services are classified as Other service revenue and were not material in any of the
periods presented.

We account for out-of-pocket expenses invoiced by SAP and reimbursed by customers as support, consulting, and
training revenues, depending on the nature of the service for which the out-of-pocket expenses were incurred.

If a support or subscription customer is specifically identified as a bad debtor, we stop recognizing revenue except to
the extent that the fees have already been collected.

We record sales net of applicable sales taxes.

Research and Development

All research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Development activities involve a plan or design for the
production of new or substantially improved products. We have determined that technological feasibility for our
software products is reached shortly before the products are available for sale. Costs incurred after technological
feasibility is established have not been material.

Government Grants

We record government grants when it is reasonably assured that we will comply with the relevant conditions and that
the grant will be received. Our government grants generally represent subsidies for activities specified in the grant. As
a result, government grants are recognized as a reduction of the related expense when earned.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are included in Sales and marketing expenses and are expensed as incurred. Our contributions to
resellers that allow our resellers to execute qualified and approved marketing activities are recognized as an offset to
revenue unless we obtain a separate identifiable benefit for the contribution and the fair value of such benefit is
reasonably estimable.

Leases

We are a lessee of property, plant, and equipment, mainly buildings and vehicles, under operating leases that do not
transfer to us the substantive risks and rewards of ownership. Rent expense on operating leases is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the life of the lease including renewal terms if, at inception of the lease, renewal is reasonably
assured.

Some of our operating leases contain lessee incentives, such as up-front payments of costs or free or reduced periods
of rent. Such incentives are amortized over the life of the lease such that the rent expense is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the life of the lease. The same applies for contractually agreed future increases of the rent.
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Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. We recognize deferred income tax assets and
liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and on tax loss and tax credit carryforwards.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in
the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

We reduce deferred income tax assets by a valuation allowance to the extent that it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Interest on income taxes and penalties on income taxes are classified as income tax expenses.

In 2007 we adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty
in Income Taxes � an Interpretation of FASB Statement 109 (�FIN 48�), which prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to
be taken in a tax return. Uncertain income tax positions could result in the recognition of tax provisions or the
decrease of recognized tax assets based on the recognition threshold and measurement attributes of FIN 48. The
benefit of a tax position may be recognized only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained,
based on the technical merits of the position, by a taxing authority having full knowledge of all relevant information.
A tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured as the largest amount of tax
benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on ultimate settlement with the taxing authority. The adoption
of FIN 48 did not have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial Statements. For more information, see
Note 10.

Share-Based Compensation

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based
Payment (�SFAS 123R�), using the modified-prospective transition method. Accordingly, equity-classified awards are
measured at grant-date fair value and are not subsequently remeasured. Liability-classified awards are remeasured to
fair value at each balance sheet date until the award is settled.

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for share-based compensation based on the intrinsic-value-based method
prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (�APB 25�), and
related interpretations. Under this method, compensation expense was recorded only if on the date of grant the current
market price of the underlying stock exceeded the exercise price or the exercise price was not fixed at the grant date.
SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (�SFAS 123�), and SFAS 148, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation � Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123 (�SFAS 148�), established
accounting and disclosure requirements using a fair-value-based method of accounting for share-based employee
compensation plans. As permitted by SFAS 123 and SFAS 148, we elected to continue to apply the
intrinsic-value-based method of accounting described above and adopted only the disclosure requirements of
SFAS 123 until SFAS 123R was adopted on January 1, 2006. The following table illustrates the effect on net income
and on
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earnings per share if the fair-value-based method had been applied to all outstanding and unvested awards in periods
prior to January 1, 2006.

2005
� millions

Net Income
As reported 1,496
Add: Expense for share-based compensation, net of tax according to APB 25 31
Deduct: Expense for share-based compensation, net of tax according to SFAS 123 138

Adjusted 1,389

Earnings per share (�)
Basic � as reported 1.21
Diluted � as reported 1.20
Basic � adjusted 1.12
Diluted � adjusted 1.12

The effect of the adoption of SFAS 123R, which consisted primarily of the effect of remeasuring liability-classified
awards (STAR 2003, STAR 2004, STAR 2005) from intrinsic value to fair value was immaterial due to the
insignificant difference between the intrinsic values and the fair values of the STARs outstanding as at December 31,
2005. For more information about our share-based compensation plans, see Note 27.

Comprehensive Income/Loss

Comprehensive income is comprised of Net income and Other comprehensive income/loss.

Other comprehensive income/loss includes foreign currency translation adjustments, unrealized gains and losses from
intercompany long-term investment transactions, unrecognized pension cost, gains and losses from derivatives
designated as cash flow hedges, gains and losses resulting from STAR hedges, and unrealized gains and losses from
debt securities and marketable equity securities classified as available-for-sale. Other comprehensive income/loss and
comprehensive income are displayed separately in the statement of comprehensive income (�SOCI�).

Earnings per Share

We present basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS). Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing
consolidated income from continuing operations, income/loss from discontinued operations and net income by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that
would occur if all �in the money� securities and other contracts to issue common shares were exercised or converted.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at banks and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less.

Investments
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Investments with original maturities of greater than three months and remaining maturities of less than one year are
classified as short-term investments. Investments with maturities beyond one year may be classified as short term
based on their highly liquid nature and because such marketable securities represent the investment of cash that is
available for current operations.
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Debt securities and marketable equity securities, other than investments accounted for by the equity method, are
classified as available-for-sale or held-to-maturity, depending on our intent with respect to holding such investments.
Debt securities and marketable equity securities classified as available-for-sale are accounted for at fair value.
Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are excluded from earnings and reported net of tax as a
component of Other comprehensive income within shareholders� equity. Gains or losses realized on sales of securities
classified as available-for-sale or held-to-maturity are based on the specific identification method. We do not classify
debt or marketable equity securities as trading.

Equity investments in privately held companies over which we do not have the ability to exercise significant influence
or control are accounted for at cost. Gains or losses realized on sales of securities are based on the average-cost
method.

Equity investments accounted for under the equity method are initially recorded at acquisition cost and are
subsequently adjusted for our proportionate share of the investees� net income or losses and for amortization of any
step-up in the value of the acquired assets over the investees� book value. The excess of our initial investment in equity
method companies over our ownership percentage in the underlying net assets of those companies is attributed to
certain fair value adjustments with the remaining portion recognized as goodwill (�investor level goodwill�), which is
not amortized.

All debt securities and marketable equity securities, cost method investments, and equity method investments, are
evaluated for impairment at least annually or earlier if we become aware of an event that indicates that the carrying
amount of the asset may not be recoverable. To determine whether a decline in value below the carrying amount of an
asset is other-than-temporary, we consider whether we have the ability and intent to hold the investment until a market
price recovery occurs and whether evidence indicating that the carrying value of the investment is recoverable
outweighs evidence to the contrary. Evidence considered in this assessment includes the reasons for the decline in fair
value, the severity and duration of the decline in realizable value below cost, changes in value subsequent to the
balance sheet date, as well as forecasted performance of the investee. If a decline in value below the carrying amount
is determined to be other-than-temporary, the asset is written down to fair value through an impairment charge and a
new cost basis is established. Impairment charges are classified in the line item Financial income, net in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. Impairment charges were not material in any period presented.

Dividend and interest income are recognized when earned.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced amounts less sales allowances and an allowance for doubtful accounts.
Included in accounts receivable are unbilled receivables related to fixed-fee and time-and-material consulting
arrangements. The allowance for doubtful accounts is our best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in our
existing accounts receivable portfolio. We determine the allowance for doubtful accounts using a two-step-approach:
First, we consider the financial solvency of specific customers and record an allowance for specific customer balances
when we believe it is probable that we will not collect the amounts due according to the contractual terms of the
arrangement. Second, we evaluate homogenous portfolios of receivables according to their default risk primarily
based on the age of the receivable and historical loss experience and record an allowance for a portfolio of receivables
when we believe it is probable that a loss has occurred or that we will not collect some or all of the amounts due.
Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all collection efforts have been exhausted and the
likelihood of recovery is considered remote. As Accounts receivable do not bear interest, we discount receivables with
a term exceeding one year to their present value using local market interest rates.
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Financial and Other Assets

Non-interest-bearing or below-market-rate loans to employees and to third parties are discounted to their present
value. In the event of any delay or shortfall in payments due under employee or third-party loans, we perform an
individual loan review to determine whether any impairment exists. The same applies if we become aware of any
change in the debtor�s financial condition that indicates that a delay or shortfall in payments may result. If it is
probable that we will not collect the amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement, an
impairment charge is recorded based on our best estimate of the amount that will be recoverable.

Investments in insurance policies held for our employee-financed pension plans are recorded at their cash surrender
values including premiums paid and guaranteed interest. All Other assets are recorded at historical cost which
approximates fair value either due to their short-term nature or due to the inclusion of interest.

We record inventories at the lower of purchase or production cost and market value. Production costs consist of direct
salaries, materials, and production overhead.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquired entity over the fair values assigned to the tangible assets
acquired, the intangible assets acquired that are required to be recognized and reported separately from goodwill, and
the liabilities assumed.

We do not amortize goodwill but test it for impairment at least annually or when events occur or changes in
circumstances indicate the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value.

Other Intangible Assets

Purchased intangible assets with estimable useful lives are recorded at acquisition cost, amortized on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful life of two to 12 years, and reviewed for impairment when significant events occur or
there are changes in circumstances that indicate that the carrying amount of the asset or asset group may not be
recoverable. All of our intangible assets, with the exception of goodwill, have estimable useful lives and are therefore
subject to amortization.

We expense immediately the fair value of acquired identifiable in-process research and development (�in-process
R&D�), which represents acquired research and development efforts that have not reached technological feasibility and
that have no alternative future use.

Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are valued at acquisition cost plus the fair value of related asset retirement costs, if any
and if reasonably estimable, less accumulated depreciation. Interest incurred during the construction of qualifying
assets is capitalized and amortized over the related assets� estimated useful lives. Interest capitalized has not been
material in any period presented.

Property, plant, and equipment are generally depreciated using the straight-line method. Certain assets with expected
useful lives in excess of three years are depreciated using the declining balance method. Land is not depreciated.
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Useful lives of property,
plant, and equipment in years

Buildings 25 to 50
Leasehold improvements Based on the lease contract
Information technology equipment 3 to 5
Office furniture 4 to 20
Automobiles 5

Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the term of the lease or the
useful life of the asset. If a renewal option exists, the depreciation period reflects the additional time covered by the
option if exercise is reasonably assured when the leasehold improvement is first placed into operation.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review long-lived assets, such as property, plant, equipment, and acquired intangible assets subject to amortization
for impairment, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or group of
assets may not be recoverable. We assess recoverability of assets to be held and used by comparing their carrying
amount to the expected future undiscounted net cash flows they are expected to generate. If an asset or group of assets
is considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured as the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset or group of assets exceeds fair value.

Assets and Liabilities Held for Sale

Long-lived assets and disposal groups, which represent assets to be disposed of together as a group in a single
transaction and liabilities directly associated with those assets that we will also transfer in the transaction, are
classified as held for sale beginning in the period we commit to sell the assets or disposal group as long as certain
criteria are met including that the assets or disposal group are available for immediate sale in their present condition,
that the sale of the assets or disposal group is probable and expected to be completed within one year, that we are
actively seeking a buyer and that changes to the sales plan are unlikely. Long-lived assets and disposal groups are
disclosed separately and reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. Long-lived assets
held for sale are not depreciated from the date they are no longer classified as held for use.

Discontinued Operations

Discontinued operations are reported when one of our components comprising operations and cash flows that can be
clearly distinguished from the rest of SAP, operationally and for financial reporting purposes, have been disposed of
or are classified as held for sale, and when both of the following criteria are met (1) the operations and cash flows of
the component will be (or have been) eliminated from the ongoing operations of SAP as a result of the disposal
transaction and (2) we will not have any significant continuing involvement in the operations of the component after
the disposal transaction.

Prepaid Expenses and Deferred Charges

Prepaid expenses and deferred charges are primarily comprised of prepayments of software royalties, operating leases,
and support services contracts which will be charged to expense in the future periods as such costs are incurred.
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Commitments and Contingencies

Liabilities for loss contingencies are recorded when it is probable that a liability to third parties has been incurred and
the amount can be reasonably estimated. We regularly adjust liabilities for loss contingencies as further information
develops or circumstances change.

Our software contracts usually contain general warranty provisions guaranteeing that the software will perform
according to SAP�s stated specifications for six to 12 months. At the time of the sale or license of our software covered
by such warranty provisions, we record an accrual for warranty costs based on historical experience.

Pension Benefit Liabilities

We measure our pension-benefit liabilities based on actuarial computations using the projected-unit-credit method in
accordance with SFAS 158, Employers� Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans � an
amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R) (�SFAS 158�), and SFAS 87, Employers� Accounting for
Pensions (�SFAS 87�). The assumptions used to calculate pension liabilities and costs are shown in Note 19. SFAS 158
requires the recognition of an asset or liability for the overfunded or underfunded status of all defined benefit plans.
Changes in the amount of the projected benefit obligation or plan assets resulting from experience different from that
assumed and from changes in assumptions can result in gains or losses not yet recognized in our Consolidated
Statements of Income. Amortization of an unrecognized net gain or loss is included as a component of our net
periodic benefit plan cost for a year if, as of the beginning of the year, that unrecognized net gain or loss exceeds 10%
of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the fair value of that plan�s assets. In that case, the amount of
amortization recognized is the resulting excess divided by the average remaining service period of the active
employees expected to receive benefits under the plan. If unrecognized net gains or losses do not exceed 10% of the
greater of the projected benefit obligation or the fair value of that plan�s assets these unrecognized net gains and losses
are recognized as a separate component of other comprehensive income (OCI) net of tax.

We also record a liability for amounts payable under the provisions of our various defined contribution plans.

Deferred Income

Deferred income consists mainly of prepayments made by our customers for support services and professional
services as well as amounts deferred from software arrangements for discounts on undelivered elements granted to
customers. Deferred income will be recognized once the basic applicable revenue recognition criteria have been met,
for example as the related services are performed or as the discounts are used. The current portion of deferred income
is expected to be recognized within the next 12 months.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We use forward exchange derivative financial instruments to reduce the foreign currency exchange risk, primarily of
anticipated cash flows from transactions with subsidiaries denominated in currencies other than the euro. As discussed
in Note 25, the Company uses call options to hedge its anticipated cash flow exposure attributable to changes in the
market value of stock appreciation rights under various plans.

We account for derivatives and hedging activities in accordance with SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities (�SFAS 133�), as amended, which requires that all derivative financial instruments
be recorded on the balance sheet at their fair value. The effective portion of the realized and unrealized gain or loss on
derivatives designated as cash flow hedges is reported net of tax, as a component of Other comprehensive income. We
reclassify the portion of gains or losses on derivatives from Other comprehensive income into earnings in the same
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ineffective portion of gains or losses on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges is reported in earnings when the
ineffectiveness occurs. In measuring the effectiveness of foreign currency-related cash flow hedges, we exclude
differences resulting from time value (that is, spot rates versus forward rates for forward contracts). Changes in value
resulting from the excluded component are recognized in earnings immediately. Foreign currency exchange
derivatives we enter into to offset exposure to anticipated cash flows that do not meet the conditions for hedge
accounting are recorded at fair value in the Consolidated Balance Sheets with changes in fair value included in
earnings.

Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the economic
characteristics and risks of the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely related, a separate instrument
with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative, and the combined
instrument is not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Treasury Stock

Treasury shares are recorded at acquisition cost and are included as a separate component of Shareholders� equity.
Gains and losses on the subsequent reissuance of treasury shares are credited or charged to Additional paid-in capital
on an after-tax basis. On retirement of treasury shares any excess over the calculated par value is charged to Retained
earnings.

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, Fair Value Measurements (�SFAS 157�), which provides a single
definition of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and requires expanded disclosures about fair
value measurements. SFAS 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The provisions of SFAS 157 should be applied
prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which it is initially applied. We will be required to adopt
SFAS 157 in fiscal year 2008. SFAS 157-2 defers the effective date of SFAS 157 for some nonfinancial assets and
nonfinancial liabilities to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008 and periods within those fiscal years. Based
on the analysis done so far, we do not expect SFAS 157 to have a material impact on our Consolidated Financial
Statements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities,
Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (�SFAS 159�) which permits entities to choose to measure eligible
items at fair value at specified election dates. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has
been elected will be reported in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. The following balance sheet items are
within the scope of SFAS 159:

� Recognized financial assets and financial liabilities unless a special exception applies

� Firm commitments that would otherwise not be recognized at inception and that involve only financial
instruments

� Non-financial insurance contracts

� Host financial instruments resulting from separation of an embedded non-financial derivative instrument
from a non-financial hybrid instrument
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SFAS 159 will be effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We elected not to adopt SFAS 159
early and we do not expect any significant unrealized gains or losses on items for which we may plan to elect the fair
value option.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations (�SFAS 141R�), which requires
acquirers of a business to recognize most identifiable assets acquired, including goodwill, the liabilities assumed, and
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree, at their full fair value on the acquisition date.
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SFAS 141R also establishes disclosure requirements to enable users of the financial statements to evaluate the nature
and financial effects of the business combination. SFAS 141R is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008 and is to be applied prospectively. SAP is still determining the impact, if any, that SFAS 141R
will have on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an
amendment of ARB No. 51 (�SFAS 160�), which establishes accounting and reporting standards for the non-controlling
(minority) interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a non-controlling interest
in a subsidiary is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be reported as equity in the Consolidated
Financial Statements and establishes a single method of accounting for changes in a parent�s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in deconsolidation. SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2008 and is to be applied prospectively. SAP is still determining the impact, SFAS 160 will have on its Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In December 2007, the FASB ratified EITF 07-1, Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements (�EITF 07-1�), which
defines collaborative arrangements and establishes reporting requirements for transactions between participants in the
arrangement and third parties. EITF 07-1 also establishes the appropriate income statement presentation and
classification for joint operating activities and payments between participants, as well as the sufficiency of the
disclosure related to these arrangements. EITF 07-1 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.
SAP is still determining the impact, EITF 07-1 will have on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

(4) ACQUISITIONS

In 2007, we acquired the outstanding shares of five unrelated companies and the net assets of two other unrelated
businesses. The results of these acquired businesses have been included in our Consolidated Statements of Income
since the respective acquisition dates. Acquisitions in 2007 were as follows:

Acquired Businesses Sector Acquired business Acquisition date

Pilot Software Inc., Mountain View,
CA (USA)

Privately held provider of
strategy management software

100% of shares 02/14/2007

Wicom Communication Ltd, Espoo
(Finland)

Privately held provider of all-IP
contact center and enterprise
communications software

100% of shares 05/07/2007

MaXware AS, Lysaker (Norway) Privately held provider of
identity management software

100% of shares 05/21/2007

OutlookSoft Corp., Stamford, CT
(USA)

Privately held provider of
integrated planning, budgeting,
forecasting and consolidation
software

100% of shares 6/1/2007

YASU Technologies Private Ltd.,
India

Privately held leader in business
rules management systems

Asset purchase 10/18/2007

Arabian Company for Systems,
Applications and Products in Data
Processing Ltd., Jeddah, Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia

Privately held exclusive reseller
of SAP software in the Arab
region

Asset purchase 10/31/2007

Silk Europe N.V., Belgium 100% of shares 11/28/2007
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These transactions were immaterial individually to SAP. The acquired businesses developed and/or sold software in
specific areas with strategic interest to us. The aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions was paid in cash and
amounted to �671 million net of cash received. It was allocated as follows: �172 million as identifiable intangible assets
with estimated useful lives ranging from one to 12 years, �1 million as in-process research and development which was
expensed at the respective acquisition date since the respective acquired technologies had no alternative future use,
and �18 million net assets acquired. The remaining �480 million was allocated as goodwill, of which �205 million is
expected to be fully deductible for tax purposes over an amortization period of up to 15 years.

With the purchase of the software license and support business of our exclusive partner SAP Arabia we also
reacquired some contracts and rights, including our trademark and the existing exclusive distribution arrangement.
The amount allocated to the reacquired software distribution right was �37 million (which is included in the above
amount of acquired intangibles). The settlement of preexisting rights and contracts resulted in a settlement loss of
�3 million and was recognized in Cost of sales and marketing.

In 2007, we acquired the remaining outstanding shares of our subsidiary SAP Systems Integration AG (�SAP SI�). We
accounted for the acquisition of SAP SI shares using the purchase method. The aggregate purchase price for the SAP
SI shares acquired in 2007 was �48 million, which was paid in cash. The purchase price was based on SAP�s cash offer
of �38.83 per share which was made under the German Stock Corporation Act, section 327a, paragraph 1, �squeeze-out�.
That provision entitled us, as the holder of at least 95% of the outstanding shares, to acquire for cash all remaining
shares owned by the non-controlling shareholders. We allocated �9 million to minority interest, �2 million to identifiable
intangible assets and �37 million of the aggregate purchase price to goodwill in the Consulting segment. The recorded
goodwill is not tax deductible.

Additionally, in 2007 we paid achieved milestones and earn-out considerations relating to prior years acquisitions and
escrow returns with a net amount of �1 million resulting in a total net cash outflow of �672 million in 2007.

None of the purchase agreements provides for any contingent consideration to the former shareholders. We are still in
the process of evaluating the assumed pre-acquisition contingencies particularly related to tax and customer contracts.

In connection with the 2007 transactions discussed above, we assigned the following amounts to identifiable
intangible assets:

Estimated useful
� millions lives (years)

Customer contracts 51 4 to 12
Intellectual property 82 5 to 10
Distribution right 37 6
Tradename 4 1 to 2

In-process research and development 1
Expensed at the
acquisition date

Total 175

The goodwill recognized in 2007 was assigned to our Product, Consulting, and Training segments in the amounts of
�430 million, �76 million, and �14 million, respectively.
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In October 2007 we announced our intention to acquire Business Objects S.A. (Nasdaq: BOBJ; Euronext Paris ISIN
code: FR0004026250 � BOB) by way of a tender offer for the outstanding shares of Business Objects S.A. This
acquisition closed in the first quarter of 2008 and represents a material business combination. Business Objects S.A. is
a provider of business intelligence solutions. Through a combination of technology, consulting, education services,
and its partner network, Business Objects S.A. provides information and business decision making resources to small
and large companies. Business Objects S.A. has dual headquarters in San Jose, California and Paris, France and its
stock was traded on both the Nasdaq and Euronext Paris stock exchanges. The
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transaction took the form of a tender offer under French and United States law for all Business Objects S.A. common
stock, all American depositary shares representing Business Objects S.A. common stock, and all convertible bonds
and warrants issued by Business Objects S.A. Under the terms and conditions of the tender offer agreement, we made
a cash offer of �42.00 per common stock and the U.S. dollar equivalent of �42.00 per American depositary share
determined using the euro to U.S. dollar exchange rate on settlement of the tender offers and of �50.65 per convertible
bond, and a range of �12.01 to �24.96 per warrant, depending on the warrant grant date. After reaching the initial
minimum tender condition of more than 50% as at January 21, 2008 the tender offer period was reopened under the
same conditions until January 29 resulting in an ownership level of more than 95%. This allowed SAP to commence
an immediate �squeeze-out� acquisition of the shares of the remaining shareholders. Taking into account estimated
transaction costs we estimate the cost for acquiring Business Objects S.A. to slightly exceed �4.8 billion. The costs
include the nominal value of the outstanding bond of approx. �0.5 billion which SAP acquired as part of the
transactions. As a result the purchase price for equity related securities amounts to approximately �4.3 billion.

Based on preliminary valuations we expect to acquire assets of approximately �1.9 billion to �2.0 billion including
identifiable intangible assets of approximately �0.9 billion and cash of around �0.8 billion. The assumed liabilities are
expected to amount to �1.2 billion to �1.3 billion including the face value of the acquired convertible bond. We expect
that goodwill resulting from this planned acquisition will be approximately �3.5 billion, which will not be tax
deductible. Due to the fact that valuations of assets, liabilities and contingencies are ongoing the presented figures can
still change significantly. The allocation of goodwill to our reportable segments will depend on our final management
structure which has not yet been determined. The goodwill results from expected synergies and acquired workforce
which are not identifiable intangible assets under SFAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (�SFAS 142�), and
can therefore not be capitalized separately but are included in goodwill.

In 2006, we acquired the outstanding shares of three unrelated companies and the net assets of two other unrelated
companies. The income of these acquired businesses has been included in our results since the respective acquisition
dates. These transactions were immaterial individually to SAP. The acquired businesses developed and sold software
that was deemed to be complementary to our business. The aggregate purchase price of these acquisitions was paid in
cash and amounted to �491 million net of cash received and was allocated as follows: �133 million as identifiable
intangible assets with estimated useful lives ranging from two to 11 years, �2 million as in-process research and
development which was expensed at the respective acquisition dates since the respective acquired technologies had no
alternative future use and �36 million as liabilities net of tangible assets acquired. The remaining �392 million was
allocated to goodwill, of which �1 million is fully deductible for tax purposes over an amortization period of up to
15 years. The goodwill recognized in 2006 was assigned to our Product, Consulting, and Training segments in the
amounts of �336 million, �39 million, and �17 million, respectively after minor adjustments related to the final allocation
of purchase prices for prior year acquisitions that had not been finalized as of the previous year-end.

In connection with the 2006 transactions discussed above, we assigned the following amounts to identifiable
intangible assets:

Estimated useful
� millions lives (years)

Customer contracts 17 2 to 11
Intellectual property 118 5 to 10

In-process research and development 2
Expensed at the
acquisition date

Total 137
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B. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(5) REVENUE

Software revenue represents fees earned from the sale or license of software to customers. Support revenue represents
fees earned from providing customers with technical support services and unspecified software upgrades, updates, and
enhancements. SAP does not separately sell technical support services or unspecified software upgrades, updates, and
enhancements. Accordingly, SAP does not distinguish within Software and software-related service revenue or within
Cost of software and software-related services the amounts attributable to technical support services and unspecified
software upgrades, updates, and enhancements.

Subscriptions and other software-related service revenue includes revenue from subscriptions, software rentals,
on-demand solutions, and other software-related services. Subscription revenues flow from contracts that have both a
software element and a support services element. Such a contract typically gives our customer the use of current
software and unspecified future products. We take a fixed monthly fee for a definite term � generally, five years.
Software rental revenue flows from software rental contracts, also with software and support services elements � but
here the customer receives the use of current products only. Our revenue from our on-demand offerings includes, for
example, the SAP CRM on-demand solution, any future on-demand revenue from our new midmarket product
Business ByDesign and revenue from hosting contracts that do not entitle the customer to exit the arrangement at any
time without significant penalty. Our revenue from other software-related service includes revenue from
software-related revenue-sharing arrangements, for example our share of revenue from collaboratively developed
products. Thus Software and software-related service revenue is the sum of our software revenue, our support
revenue, and our revenue from subscriptions and other software-related services.

Service revenue consists of consulting and training. Consulting revenue primarily comprises revenue from
implementation support for customers related to the installation and configuration of our software products. Training
revenue comprises educational services on the use of our software products and related topics for customers and
partners.

Other service revenue includes revenue streams from non-mandatory hosting revenue, application management
services (AMS) and referral fees. Non-mandatory hosting revenue is based on hosting contracts that entitle the
customers to exit the hosting arrangement at any time and to transfer the software to its own premises without
significant penalty. Our application management services deliver post implementation application support,
optimization, and improvement for a customer�s SAP centric IT solution to ensure availability and performance of the
customer�s business processes. Referral fees are based on commissions from partners to which we referred customers.
Thus Professional services and other service revenue is the sum of our consulting revenue, our training revenue, and
our Other service revenue.

Other revenue primarily relates to income derived from marketing events.

Revenue information by segment and geographic region is disclosed in Note 28.

Deferred income consists mainly of prepayments for support services and deferred software license revenues.
Deferred software license revenue will be recognized as software revenue, support revenue, or service revenue,
depending on the reasons for the deferral. The current portion of deferred income is expected to be recognized within
the next 12 months. Recognition of deferred income is possible when the basic applicable revenue recognition criteria
have been met (see Note 3).

(6) FUNCTIONAL COSTS AND OTHER EXPENSES
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The information provided below is classified by the type of expense. The Consolidated Statements of Income include
these amounts in various categories based on the applicable line of business.
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Services and Materials

Cost of purchased development and consulting services and materials was as follows:

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Purchased services 862 879 828
Raw materials and supplies, purchased goods 37 32 30

899 911 858

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expense includes advertising costs, which amounted to �165 million, �172 million, and �185 million
in 2007, 2006, and 2005 respectively.

Personnel Expenses/Number of Employees

Personnel expenses were as follows:

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Salaries 3,603 3,277 2,877
Social security costs 449 416 379
Pension expense 122 125 109

4,174 3,818 3,365

Included in personnel expenses for the years ending December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, are expenses associated with
the share-based compensation plans as described in Note 27.

The average number of employees, measured in full-time equivalents, was as follows:

Full-time equivalents 2007 2006 2005

Employees from continuing operations 42,129 37,919 34,483
from discontinued operations 173 134 67

Employees who are not currently operational, who work on a part-time basis while finishing a university degree, or
who are temporary are excluded from the calculation of full-time equivalents. The number of such excluded
employees is not material.
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Government Grants

During the fiscal year 2007 we received �16 million (2006: �11 million, 2005: �6 million) of government grants and
similar assistance which we have offset against our related expenses. All conditions required to obtain these grants
have either been met or are reasonably assured of being met.

In addition we have received conditional promises of a further �45 million, which relate to research- and
development-related expenses (�35 million), recruitment and training of personnel related expenses
(�1 million), and tax (�9 million), which have not been recorded as at December 31, 2007 because the conditions
required to obtain them are not yet reasonably assured of being achieved.
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(7) OTHER OPERATING INCOME, NET

Other operating income/expense for the years ending December 31 was as follows:

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Bad debt expense 0 0 (3)
Restructuring costs � severance obligations 0 (1) (1)
Restructuring costs � unused lease space 0 0 (1)
Miscellaneous other operating expenses (1) 0 (3)

Other operating expense (1) (1) (8)

Bad debt income 3 43 0
Rental income 5 5 7
Receipt of insurance proceeds 3 2 1
Miscellaneous other operating income 7 7 6
Other operating income 18 57 14

17 56 6

Charges to bad debt expense are based on a regular systematic review and evaluation of outstanding receivables that is
performed every month. Specific customer credit loss risks are also included in the allowance for doubtful accounts,
but are charged to the respective cost of software and software-related services or cost of service sold. The amount of
these provisions for specific customer risks charged to the respective functional cost category of software and
software-related services or cost of service was �9 million, �3 million, and �9 million during 2007, 2006, and 2005,
respectively.

For more information about restructuring costs incurred in connection with exit activities, see Note 19b.

(8) OTHER NON-OPERATING INCOME/EXPENSE, NET

Other non-operating income/expense, net for the years ending December 31 was as follows:

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Foreign currency losses (379) (255) (117)

Other non-operating expenses (16) (20) (19)

Total other non-operating expenses (395) (275) (136)

Foreign currency gains 385 251 78
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Other non-operating income 11 12 33

Total other non-operating income 396 263 111

Other non-operating income/expense, net 1 (12) (25)

F-25

Edgar Filing: TEVENS TIMOTHY T - Form 4

Table of Contents 118



Table of Contents

(9) FINANCIAL INCOME, NET

Financial income, net for the years ending December 31 was as follows:

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Interest and similar income 142 124 94
Interest and similar expenses (7) (4) (4)
Income from securities, net 240 154 63
Expenses from other financial assets and loans (244) (157) (74)
Gains/losses on STAR hedge 0 7 (66)
Loss from other investments (6) (1) (3)

Other financial income/expense, net (10) 3 (80)

Share of loss/gain of associates accounted for using the equity method (1) (1) 1

Financial income, net 124 122 11

We derive interest income primarily from Cash and cash equivalents, Short-term and Long-term investments, and
Other financial assets.

In the table above, income from securities and expense from other financial assets and loans both include �241 million
in 2007 (�156 million in 2006; �63 million in 2005) resulting from collateral held to secure capital investments made.
While holding the collateral, we directly transfer to the debtor any income received on the collateral. Interest income
received on the capital investment is included in interest income. We decide on a case by case basis whether to require
collateral for our financial investments. We did not obtain assets by taking possession of collateral held for security
purposes in 2007, 2006 or 2005.

For information about gains and losses recognized directly in equity or in profit and loss for our financial assets and
impairments, see Note 13. For information about our financial liabilities, see Note 18. For information about
unrealized gains/losses on STAR hedges, see Note 25.

(10) INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense for the years ending December 31 comprised the following components:

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Current taxes � Germany 498 426 515
Current taxes � Foreign 416 381 319

914 807 834
Deferred taxes � Germany 33 0 15
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Deferred taxes � Foreign (26) (2) (31)

7 (2) (16)

Income tax expense 921 805 818

In 2007, 2006, and 2005, the German government enacted several new tax laws. In 2007 these new tax laws included
among others the 2008 Tax Act which has major effects on corporations. For us the most significant effect results
from the reduction of the German corporate income tax rate from 25% to 15%, effective January 1, 2008. In 2007 this
reduction in the German corporate income tax rate affected the calculation of deferred taxes, which are required to be
calculated using the enacted tax rate applicable to the year in which the deferred tax item is expected to be realized or
settled. The impact of all tax law changes enacted in 2007, and the new tax laws enacted in 2006 and 2005, was not
material to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ending December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005.
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Income from continuing operations before income tax and minority interests consisted of the following:

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Germany 1,639 1,519 1,455
Foreign 1,218 1,169 868

2,857 2,688 2,323

The effective income tax rate for the years ending December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, was 32.2%, 29.9%, and
35.2%, respectively. The following table reconciles the expected income tax expense computed by applying our
combined German corporate tax rate of 35.49% (2006: 35.66%; 2005: 36.32%) to the actual income tax expense. Our
2007 combined German corporate tax rate includes a corporate income tax rate, after the benefit of deductible trade
tax, of 21.91%, (2006: 21.85%; 2005: 21.62%), plus a solidarity surcharge of 5.5% thereon, and trade taxes of 12.38%
(2006: 12.61%; 2005: 13.51%).

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 2,857 2,688 2,323
Expected income taxes 35.49% in 2007 (35.66% in 2006, 36.32% in 2005) 1,014 958 844
Foreign tax rate differential (47) (26) (6)
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses 49 23 19
Prior year taxes (18) (80) (6)
Tax effect on tax exempt income (77) (72) (40)
Other 0 2 7

Actual income tax expense 921 805 818

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 relate to the underlying items as follows:

2007 2006
� millions

Deferred tax assets
Intangible assets, net 58 15
Property, plant, and equipment, net 7 8
Financial assets 39 24
Receivables 15 12
Net operating loss carryforwards 18 9
Pension provisions 39 45
Share-based compensation 23 34
Other provisions 109 122
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Deferred income 31 33
Other 29 4

368 306

Less: Valuation allowance (8) (10)

Deferred tax assets 360 296
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2007 2006
� millions

Deferred tax liabilities
Intangible assets, net 55 37
Property, plant, and equipment, net 31 24
Financial assets 54 23
Receivables 14 34
Pension provisions 27 17
Share-based compensation 2 7
Other provisions 6 5
Deferred income 3 5
Other 17 19

Deferred tax liabilities 209 171

Deferred tax assets, net 151 125

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, we consider whether it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets depends on the
generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible.
Based on the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the periods in which the
deferred tax assets are recoverable, we believe it is more likely than not that the Company will realize the benefits of
these deductible differences, net of the existing valuation allowances as at December 31, 2007. The amount of the
deferred tax asset considered realizable, however, could be reduced in the near term if our estimates of future taxable
income during the carryforward period were reduced.

At December 31, 2007, certain of our foreign subsidiaries had net operating loss carryforwards amounting to
�114 million (2006: �48 million), which may be used to offset future taxable income. Of this amount �73 million
predominantly relates to state net operating loss carryforwards in the United States, of which �43 million expire during
the years 2023 through 2027 if not used earlier. The remaining amount is available to be used to offset state taxable
income, if any, over the next 15 years. Further �9 million relates to other net operating loss carryforwards that will
expire if not used within one to seven years. Thereof �1 million will expire within one to two years and �8 million will
expire within three to seven years. The remaining �32 million relates to other net operating loss carryforwards that do
not expire and therefore can be utilized indefinitely.

Deferred tax assets as at December 31, 2007, and 2006 have been reduced by a valuation allowance of �8 million and
�10 million respectively to a net amount that we believe is more likely than not to be realized.

We recognized deferred income tax liabilities of �17 million (2006: �9 million) for income taxes on future dividend
distributions from foreign subsidiaries, which is based on �1,335 million (2006: �297 million) cumulative undistributed
earnings of those foreign subsidiaries because such earnings are intended to be repatriated. We have not recognized a
deferred income tax liability on approximately �2,249 million (2006: �2,938 million) for undistributed earnings of our
foreign subsidiaries that arose in 2007 and prior years because we plan to permanently reinvest those undistributed
earnings. It is not practicable to estimate the amount of unrecognized tax liabilities for these undistributed foreign
earnings.
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Total income taxes including the items charged or credited directly to related components of shareholder�s equity for
the years ending December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 consist of the following:

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Income tax 921 805 818
Income tax from discontinued operations (7) (4) (1)
Income tax recognized in Additional paid in capital related to share-based
compensation 0 (11) (23)
Income tax recognized in other comprehensive income/loss (5) (16) 7

909 774 801

For information about the income tax impact of the components of Accumulated other comprehensive income/loss,
see Note 20.

At January 1, 2007, unrecognized income tax benefits relating to uncertain tax positions amounted to �72 million and
were accounted for as income tax provisions. At December 31, 2007, uncertainties in income taxes had increased by �
24 million to � 96 million.

The amounts of unrecognized tax benefits that would affect the effective tax rate if they were recognized are as
follows:

2007
� millions

Unrecognized income tax benefits on 1/1/2007 72
Additions related to the current year 8
Additions related to prior year 18
Settlements with tax authorities 0
Exchange rate differences (2)

Unrecognized income tax benefits on 12/31/2007 96

On December 31, 2007, the amount of interest expenses and penalties on income taxes is not material.

For the major tax jurisdictions in Germany, fiscal years 2003 through 2007 and for the United States, fiscal years 2002
through 2007 remain subject to examination. It is reasonably possible that the total amounts of unrecognized tax
benefits may increase or decrease within the next 12 months. However we do not anticipate that unrecognized income
tax benefits will significantly change within 12 months of the reporting date.

(11) ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
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In November of 2007 the Company committed to a plan to sell the business of TomorrowNow, Inc., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of SAP America, Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of SAP AG) and to cease engaging in the business model
of providing support services relating to third party software. Negotiations with several interested parties have
subsequently taken place. The assets and liabilities of TomorrowNow, including assets and liabilities of
TomorrowNow entities in Europe, Australia and Asia which are expected to be sold within twelve months, have been
classified as a disposal group held for sale and are presented separately in the accompanying balance sheet as at
December 31, 2007.

TomorrowNow, Inc. is a distinct asset group with cash flows and operations that are separable from those of the rest
of SAP. The operations of this disposal group were accounted for as a part of the product segment. U.S. GAAP
requires the results of operations of any assets held for sale and any liabilities directly associated with those assets that
qualify as a component of an entity with distinguishable operations and cash flows to be removed from income from
continuing operations and reported as discontinued operations. The results of
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operations of such a component of an entity for any prior periods presented must also be reclassified as discontinued
operations. The following table details the amounts reclassified to discontinued operations:

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Total revenue 14 9 3
Total operating expense (36) (23) (10)

Operating loss before taxes (22) (14) (7)

Income taxes 7 4 1

Net loss from discontinued operations (15) (10) (6)

The following table details the major classes of assets and liabilities held for sale as at December 31, 2007:

2007
� millions

Accounts receivable, net 2
Other assets 4

Current assets 6

Goodwill 7
Property, plant, and equipment, net 1
Other assets 1

Noncurrent assets 9

Total Assets held for sale 15

Accounts payable 1
Provisions 3
Deferred income 5

Current liabilities 9

Total Liabilities held for sale 9
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(12) EARNINGS PER SHARE

Convertible bonds and stock options granted to employees under our share-based compensation programs are included
in the diluted earnings per share calculations to the extent they have a dilutive effect. The dilutive impact is calculated
using the treasury stock method. The computation of diluted earnings per share does not include certain convertible
bonds and stock options issued in connection with the SAP AG 2000 Long Term Incentive Plan (�LTI 2000 Plan�) and
the SAP Stock Option Plan 2002 (�SAP SOP 2002�) because their underlying exercise prices were higher than the
average market prices of SAP shares in the periods presented. Such convertible bonds and stock options, if converted
or exercised, represented 37.3 million SAP common shares in 2007, 23.6 million SAP common shares in 2006 and
25.2 million SAP common shares in 2005. The number of outstanding stock options and convertible bonds is
presented in Note 27.

2007 2006 2005

Income from continuing operations in � millions 1,934 1,881 1,502
Weighted average number of shares in millions � basic 1,207 1,226 1,239
Dilutive effect of stock options/convertible bonds in millions 3 5 4

Weighted average number of shares in millions � diluted 1,210 1,231 1,243

Earnings per share from continuing operations � basic in � 1.60 1.53 1.21

Earnings per share from continuing operations � diluted in � 1.60 1.53 1.21

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax in � millions (15) (10) (6)

Earnings per share � basic (from discontinued operations) in � (0.01) 0.00 0.00

Earnings per share � diluted (from discontinued operations) in � (0.01) (0.01) 0.00

Net income in � million 1,919 1,871 1,496

Earnings per share from net income � basic in � 1.59 1.53 1.21

Earnings per share from net income � diluted in � 1.59 1.52 1.20
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C.  NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(13) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED CASH AND INVESTMENTS

Cash and cash equivalents, Restricted Cash and Investments as at December 31 consisted of the following:

Cash and Equity and
cash Short-term other

equivalents Restricted cash investments investments
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

� millions

Cash 546 478 0 0 0 0 0 0
Time deposits 376 1,598 0 0 35 19 0 0
Money market funds 686 204 0 0 0 0 0 0
Commercial paper 0 119 0 0 0 0 0 0
Restricted cash 0 0 550 0 0 0 0 0
Fund securities (at fair value) 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 12
Auction rate securities 0 0 0 0 0 155 0 0
Variable rate demand notes 0 0 0 0 0 34 0 0
Other debt securities 0 0 0 0 549 716 0 0

Debt securities (at fair value) 0 0 0 0 549 905 0 0
Marketable equity securities (at
fair value) 0 0 0 0 0 4 7 10
Equity securities at cost 0 0 0 0 6 3 63 55
Equity method securities 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 18

Total 1,608 2,399  550    0  598  931   89   95

Restricted Cash

Funds classified as Restricted cash as at December 31, 2007 related to a security deposit that served as collateral for
SAP�s credit facility entered into in connection with the acquisition of Business Objects S.A., as described in Note 4
and 18.

Debt Securities and Marketable Equity Securities

Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities in 2007 were �45 million (2006: �199 million; 2005: �0 million).
Gross gains realized from sales of available-for-sale securities in 2007 were �2 million (2006: �0 million; 2005:
�0 million). Gross losses realized from sales of available-for-sale securities in 2007 were �1 million (2006: �2 million;
2005: �0 million). Due to these sales of available-for-sale securities we recognized gains of �2 million (2006: �0 million;
2005: �0 million) and losses of �1 million (2006: �2 million; 2005: �0 million) which had previously been included in
Accumulated other comprehensive income.
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None of our Investments were past due as at December 31, 2007 or 2006, although some of our equity investments at
cost were impaired as at those dates as discussed below.

Amounts pertaining to debt and available-for-sale equity securities as at December 31 were as follows:

Securities not Securities in
in loss position loss position Total Securities

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

value gains value losses value
gains/losses

(net)
� millions

2007
Marketable equity securities
(available-for-sale) 7 2 0 0 7 2
Debt securities (available-for-sale) 172 0 377 2 549 (2)
Investment fund securities
(available-for-sale) 8 0 0 0 8 0

2006
Marketable equity securities
(available-for-sale) 11 6 3 0 14 6
Debt securities (available-for-sale) 227 1 678 2 905 (1)
Investment fund securities
(available-for-sale) 0 0 12 0 12 0

For the securities in a loss position, the fair values were categorized according to the duration of the loss position as
follows:

Securities in loss position
for less than
12 months

for more than
12 months

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
value losses value losses

� millions

2007
Marketable equity securities (available-for-sale) 0 0 0 0
Debt securities (available-for-sale) 363 2 14 0
Investment fund securities (available-for-sale) 0 0 0 0

2006
Marketable equity securities (available-for-sale) 3 0 0 0
Debt securities (available-for-sale) 452 1 226 1
Investment fund securities (available-for-sale) 12 0 0 0
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For the year ending December 31, 2007, we recorded other-than-temporary impairment charges related to Marketable
equity securities of �1 million (2006: �0 million; 2005: �0 million) and therefore removed unrealized losses recorded
directly in equity up to that point of �1 million (2006: �0 million; 2005: �0 million).

The marketable debt securities as at December 31, 2007, consisted of investment grade bonds. The impairments of
marketable debt securities in 2007 resulted from changes in market interest rates and not from changes in the
creditworthiness of the underlying debtor. We determine these impairments to be temporary given the short duration
of the respective declines in value and the Company�s intention and ability to hold these investments for a reasonable
period of time sufficient for a forecasted recovery.
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The estimated year-end fair values of auction rate securities, variable rate demand notes and other debt securities
(excluding debt-based funds), are presented by contractual maturity below. Expected maturities may differ from
contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without penalty.

2007 2006
� millions

Due within 1 year 449 457
Due 1 year through 2 years 100 448

Total of auction rate securities, variable rate demand notes and debt securities 549 905

Equity Securities at Cost

The carrying value of all equity securities at cost was �69 million and �58 million as at December 31, 2007, and 2006,
respectively. Equity securities at cost, which primarily include venture capital investments, are not included in the
table above, because market values for those securities are generally not readily obtainable. In 2007, we sold two
(2006: two; 2005: three) investments with a carrying value at the time of sale of �3 million (2006: �2 million; 2005:
�1 million) and realized a gain of �0 million (2006: �0 million; 2005: �1 million). As at December 31, 2007 we intend to
dispose of two equity securities at cost.

During 2007, 2006, and 2005, the Company recorded �6 million, �1 million, and �4 million, respectively, in charges
related to other-than-temporary impairments of equity securities at cost.

Equity Method Investments

The excess of our initial investment in equity method companies over our ownership percentage in the underlying net
assets of those companies amounts to �11 million as at December 31, 2007 (2006: �15 million) and is attributed to
certain fair value adjustments with the remaining portion recognized as goodwill. Although we own less than 20% of
the voting stock of the investee company, we account for our investments in (�Procurement Negócios Electronicos S/A�,
Rio de Janeiro, Brazil and �ArisGlobal Holdings, LLC�, Stamford, Connecticut, USA) using the equity method, because
we can exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of these entities through holding seats
on their boards.

We recorded no impairment losses or reversals thereof on equity method investments during 2007, 2006 and 2005.
Therefore, no allocation to our reportable segments was necessary.

Our equity method investment Procurement Negócios Electronicos S/A with a carrying amount of �2 million has been
pledged in 2007 in order to serve as a guarantee for an ongoing lawsuit with the Brazilian tax authorities. In case of an
unfavourable outcome of the lawsuit for SAP, for which probability is considered remote, the Brazilian tax authorities
are allowed to make use of the collateral.

(14) ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET

Accounts receivable, net includes costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts of
�162 million and �145 million as at December 31, 2007, and 2006, respectively. We received advances of �348 million
and �456 million as at December 31, 2007, and 2006, respectively.
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The carrying amounts of our accounts receivable from customers as at December 31 were as follows:

2007 2006
� millions

Gross carrying amount 2,957 2,505
Sales allowances (38) (37)
Allowance for doubtful accounts charged to expenses (21) (25)

Carrying amount, net, of accounts receivable 2,898 2,443

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows:

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Balance as at 1/1 25 73 63
Utilization (8) (5) (8)
Addition 11 7 17
Release (5) (48) (4)
Exchange rate effects and other changes (2) (2) 5

Balance as at 12/31 21 25 73

Concentrations of credit risks are limited due to our large customer base and its dispersion across many different
industries and countries worldwide. No single customer accounted for 5% or more of total revenues in 2007, 2006, or
2005 or of Accounts receivable, net in 2007 or 2006. The following table gives an overview of the extent of credit
risks included in our accounts receivable from customers:

2007 2006
� millions

Accounts receivable, neither past due nor impaired 2,337 2,004
Accounts receivable, past due, impaired individually 33 35
Accounts receivable, past due, impaired on a portfolio basis 587 466
Accounts receivable, impaired on a portfolio basis 587 466
less than 45 days past due 344 273
46 to 90 days past due 83 78
91 to 180 days past due 57 54
181 to 365 days past due 71 37
366 and more days past due 32 24

Before recognizing revenue we strictly assess the collectibility of all receivables at the outset of any arrangement as
required under SOP 97-2. Due to this approach and our short payment terms, we have no indication with respect to
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accounts receivable that are not past due that any customer will fail to meet its obligations. For accounts receivable
past due, we determine the allowance for doubtful accounts using a two-step-approach described in Note 3. We
therefore consider accounts receivable of �33 million (2006: �35 million) as individually impaired mainly based on
debtors� financial difficulties and accounts receivable of �587 million (2006: �466 million) impaired on a portfolio basis
based on the age of the receivables and our historical loss experience.

For more information about financial risk and how we manage it, see Note 26.

The gross amount of all accounts receivable with a term exceeding 12 months was not material. Since the effect of
discounting long-term receivables would therefore not be material, we have not discounted our long-term receivables
to their present values.
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Accounts receivable, net based on due dates as at December 31 were as follows:

2007 2006
� millions

Current 2,895 2,440
Noncurrent 3 3

2,898 2,443

We did not sell portfolios of receivables to third parties or use receivables as collateral for borrowings in any year
presented.

(15) OTHER ASSETS

2007 2006
Current Noncurrent Total Current Noncurrent Total

� millions

Investments in insurance policies held for
employee-financed pension plans, and
semiretirement 0 342 342 0 278 278
Income tax receivables 283 36 319 164 12 176
Fair value of STAR hedge and other
derivatives 146 1 147 117 87 204
Other receivables 48 49 97 41 41 82
Prepaid pensions 0 56 56 0 46 46
Loans to employees 9 43 52 8 43 51
Miscellaneous other assets 50 0 50 36 0 36
Rent deposits 0 24 24 0 26 26
Loans to third parties 0 4 4 1 0 1
Inventories 5 0 5 4 0 4

541 555 1,096 371 533 904

Detailed information about our derivative financial instruments is presented in Note 25. Investments in insurance
policies relate to the employee-financed pension plans as presented in Note 19a. The corresponding liability for
investments in insurance policies for semiretirement and time accounts is included in employee-related obligations
(see Note 19b).

Loans granted to employees primarily consist of interest-free or below-market-rate building loans and amounted to a
gross value of �63 million in 2007 and �62 million in 2006. The cumulative effect of discounting the employee loans
based on the market interest rates in effect when the loans were granted was �11 million in 2007 and �11 million in
2006. Amortization of employee loan discounts amounted to �3 million in 2007 and �3 million in 2006, respectively.
There have been no loans to employees or members of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board to assist them in
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exercising stock options or convertible bonds.

Loans to third parties are presented net of allowances for credit losses. Changes in the allowance for credit losses were
as follows:

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Balance as at 1/1 1 16 15
Utilization 0 10 0
Addition 0 0 3
Release 1 5 2

Balance as at 12/31 0 1 16
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We consider these other financial assets as individually impaired based on information obtained regarding debtors�
financial difficulties. As at December 31, 2007, there were no other financial assets past due but not impaired. For
more information about financial risk and how we manage it, see Note 26.

Included in miscellaneous other assets are primarily interest receivables, tax claims, short-term loans, and other items
for which the individually recognized amounts are not material.

(16) GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software
and Acquired Other

Goodwill
database
licenses technology intangibles Total

� millions

Purchase cost
1/1/2007 1,084 202 216 37 1,539
Exchange rate differences (81) (1) (12) (5) (99)
Additions 520 65 83 90 758
Retirements/disposals 0 (2) 0 (2) (4)
Reclassifications to current assets (7) 0 0 0 (7)

12/31/2007 1,516 264 287 120 2,187

Accumulated amortization
1/1/2007 97 128 53 11 289
Exchange rate differences (4) (1) (1) (1) (7)
Additions 0 26 45 11 82
Retirements/disposals 0 (2) 0 (1) (3)

12/31/2007 93 151 97 20 361

Carrying value 12/31/2007 1,423 113 190 100 1,826

Weighted average amortization period in years N/A 3.0 5.2 7.0 5.3

Purchase cost
1/1/2006 727 160 194 25 1,106
Exchange rate differences (50) 0 (13) (3) (66)
Additions 407 53 120 16 596
Retirements/disposals 0 (11) (85) (1) (97)

12/31/2006 1,084 202 216 37 1,539

Accumulated amortization
1/1/2006 100 124 109 7 340
Exchange rate differences (3) (1) (8) (1) (13)
Additions 0 16 37 6 59
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Retirements/disposals 0 (11) (85) (1) (97)

12/31/2006 97 128 53 11 289

Carrying value 12/31/2006 987 74 163 26 1,250

The additions to goodwill result from our 2007 acquisitions (�517 million), contingent consideration paid for prior
acquisitions (�4 million), and purchase price adjustments (�(1) million). For more information about acquisitions, see
Note 4.

All intangible assets except goodwill are subject to amortization. Intangible assets consist of three major asset classes:
Software and database licenses, Acquired technology, and Other intangibles.

Software and database licenses consist primarily of technology for internal use whereas Acquired technology consists
primarily of purchased software to be incorporated into our product offerings. The additions to Software and database
licenses in 2007 were individually acquired from third parties, whereas the
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additions to Acquired technology and Other intangibles primarily result from our acquisitions discussed in Note 4.

Other intangibles consist primarily of acquired trademark licenses and customer contracts acquired as well as
in-process research and development which is fully amortized immediately. For more information, see Note 4.

The estimated aggregate amortization expense for our intangible assets recorded as at December 31, 2007, for each of
the five succeeding years ending December 31, is as follows:

� millions

2008 96
2009 96
2010 71
2011 49
2012 36
Thereafter 55

The carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was as follows:

Thereof Thereof
additions additions

12/31/2007 in 2007 12/31/2006 in 2006
� millions

Product 974 430 618 350
Consulting 409 76 340 40
Training 40 14 29 17

Total 1,423 520 987 407

For more information, see Note 28.
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(17) PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

Land,
leasehold

improvements,
and

buildings,
including

Other
property,

Advance
payments

buildings on plant, and
and

construction
third-party

land equipment in progress Total
� millions

Purchase cost
1/1/2007 975 1,099 109 2,183
Exchange rate differences (22) (15) (2) (39)
Additions 82 244 16 342
Retirements/disposals (10) (120) 0 (130)
Reclassifications to Assets held for sale 0 (3) 0 (3)
Reclassifications 83 8 (91) 0

12/31/2007 1,108 1,213 32 2,353

Accumulated depreciation
1/1/2007 296 681 0 977
Exchange rate differences (7) (8) 0 (15)
Additions 32 147 0 179
Retirements/disposals (10) (92) 0 (102)
Reclassifications to Assets held for sale 0 (2) 0 (2)

12/31/2007 311 726 0 1,037

Carrying value 12/31/2007 797 487 32 1,316

Purchase cost
1/1/2006 955 1,046 43 2,044
Exchange rate differences (24) (19) (1) (44)
Additions 33 191 92 316
Retirements/disposals (12) (121) 0 (133)
Reclassifications 23 2 (25) 0

12/31/2006 975 1,099 109 2,183

Accumulated depreciation
1/1/2006 287 662 0 949
Exchange rate differences (8) (12) 0 (20)
Additions 28 128 0 156
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Retirements/disposals (11) (97) 0 (108)

12/31/2006 296 681 0 977

Carrying value 12/31/2006 679 418 109 1,206

The additions and disposals in other property, plant, and equipment relate primarily to the renewal and purchase of
computer hardware and cars acquired in the normal course of business.

Interest capitalized was not material in any period presented.

During 2007, 2006, and 2005, depreciation expense for Property, plant, and equipment was �179 million, �156 million,
and �158 million, respectively. The majority of depreciation expense for all years presented related to assets classified
as other property, plant, and equipment.
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(18) ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and Other liabilities classified on due dates as at December 31 were as follows:

Term
less Term

Term
more

than between 1 than
Balance
on

Balance
on

1 year
and

5 years 5 years 12/31/2007 12/31/2006
� millions

Payables to suppliers 688 6 0 694 581
Advanced payments received 27 4 0 31 63

715 10 0 725 644

Other employee-related liabilities 1,060 6 49 1,115 999
Other taxes 262 0 0 262 220
Other financial liabilities 57 4 0 61 40
Other liabilities 52 11 7 70 86

Bank loans and overdraft 25 2 0 27 26
1,456 23 56 1,535 1,371

2,171 33 56 2,260 2,015

Liabilities are unsecured, except for the retention of title and similar rights which are customary in our industry.
Effective interest rates of bank loans were 8.03% in 2007, 8.08% in 2006, and 7.22% in 2005.

As at November 5, 2004, SAP AG entered into a �1 billion syndicated revolving credit facility agreement with an
initial term of five years. The use of the facility is not restricted by any financial covenants. Borrowings under the
facility bear interest of EURIBOR or LIBOR for the respective currency plus a margin ranging from 0.20% to 0.25%
depending on the amount drawn. We are also required to pay a commitment fee of 0.07% per annum on the unused
available credit. As at December 31, 2007, and 2006, there were no borrowings outstanding under the facility.

As at October 1, 2007, SAP AG entered into a �5 billion credit facility agreement (subsequently reduced to �4.45 billion
as at December 31, 2007) with Deutsche Bank AG maturing on December 31, 2009. The credit facility was entered
into in connection with the acquisition of Business Objects S.A. Initially the credit facility served as a bank guarantee
to back up the tender offer. The use of the facility is not restricted by any financial covenants. Borrowings under the
facility bear interest of EURIBOR plus a margin ranging from 0.25% to 0.30% depending on the amount drawn. We
are also required to pay a commitment fee of 0.075% per annum on the unused available credit. As at December 31,
2007, there were no borrowings outstanding under the facility.

Within the acquisition process and with the finalization of the squeeze-out, the facility has been voluntarily reduced to
an amount of EUR 2.95 billion which corresponds to the drawdown on the facility as at February 18, 2008.
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Additionally, as at December 31, 2007, and 2006, SAP AG had available lines of credit totaling �599 million and
�599 million, respectively. As at December 31, 2007 and 2006, there were no borrowings outstanding under these lines
of credit.

As at December 31, 2007 and 2006, certain subsidiaries had lines of credit available that allowed them to borrow in
local currencies at prevailing interest rates up to �44 million and �109 million, respectively. Total aggregate borrowings
under these lines of credit, which are guaranteed by SAP AG, amounted to �27 million as at December 31, 2007, and
�26 million as at December 31, 2006.
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(19) PROVISIONS

Provisions based on due dates as at December 31 were as follows:

2007 2006
Current Noncurrent Total Current Noncurrent Total

� millions

Pension plans and similar obligations
(see Note 19a) 1 275 276 1 231 232
Other obligations (see Note 19b) 153 94 247 162 108 270

154 369 523 163 339 502

a) Pension Plans and Similar Obligations

We maintain several defined benefit and defined contribution plans for our employees in Germany and at our foreign
subsidiaries, which provide for old age, disability, and survivors� benefits. We also have several immaterial foreign
termination indemnity plans that meet the criteria of defined benefit plans included in foreign benefit plans. The
measurement dates for the domestic and foreign benefit plans are December 31. Individual benefit plans have also
been established for members of the Executive Board.

The accrued liabilities on the balance sheet for pensions and other similar obligations on December 31 consist of the
following:

2007 2006
� millions

Domestic benefit plans 2 8
Foreign benefit plans 38 33

Total defined benefit plans 40 41

Employee financed plans 236 191

Total pension plans 276 232

The increase in total provisions for pension plans mainly result from an increase in employee financed plans. The
related insurance contracts held by us resulted in an increase in Other assets by the same amount. For more
information about our employee-financed pension plans, see the further information below.

We adopted the recognition and disclosure requirements of SFAS 158 as at December 31, 2006. SFAS 158 requires
recognition of the funded status of our defined benefit pension plan in the balance sheet and also requires recognition
as a component of Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, of the gains or losses and prior service costs or
credits that arise during the period but are not recognized as components of net periodic benefit cost.
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The Consolidated Balance Sheets include the following significant components related to defined benefit pension
plans as at December 31, 2007, and 2006:

2007 2006
� millions

Present value of funded benefit obligations (306) (297)
Present value of unfunded benefit obligations (25) (19)

Total present value of benefit obligations (331) (316)
Fair value of plan assets 347 321

Net amount recognized 16 5

Pension liability (unfunded or underfunded) (40) (41)
� thereof principal pension benefit liability (39) (41)
� thereof insignificant pension benefit liability (1) 0
Prepaid pension asset (overfunded) 56 46
� thereof principal prepaid pension asset 55 45
� thereof insignificant prepaid pension asset 1 1
� thereof pension cost recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive income 29 28

Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Similar Obligations

Our domestic defined benefit plans provide participants with pension benefits that are based on the length of service
and compensation of employees.

Foreign defined benefit plans provide participants with pension benefits that are based on compensation levels, age,
and length of service.

Certain of our foreign subsidiaries are required to provide to their employees termination indemnity benefits
regardless of the reason for termination (retirement, voluntary or involuntary). We treat these plans as defined benefit
plans if the substance of the post-employment plan is a pension type arrangement. Most of these arrangements provide
the employee with a one-time payout based on compensation levels, age, and years of service on termination,
regardless of the reason (retirement, voluntary or involuntary).
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The following table presents the change in the present value of the defined benefit obligations and the fair value of the
plan assets with a reconciliation of the funded status to net amounts recognized:

Domestic plans Foreign plans Total
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

� millions

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year 41 43 275 257 316 300
Additional plans included in pension disclosure 0 1 7 5 7 6
Service cost 0 0 38 36 38 36
Interest cost 1 2 11 10 12 12
Employee contributions 0 0 3 3 3 3
Benefits paid (1) (1) (15) (7) (16) (8)
Actuarial loss/gain (4) (4) 0 (5) (4) (9)
Curtailments/Settlements 0 0 (5) 0 (5) 0
Other changes 1 0 0 1 1 1
Foreign currency exchange rates 0 0 (21) (25) (21) (25)

Benefit obligation at year end 38 41 293 275 331 316

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 33 29 288 242 321 271
Additional plans included in pension disclosure 0 0 0 5 0 5
Actual return on plan assets 2 2 11 27 13 29
Employer contributions 2 3 53 42 55 45
Employee contributions (1) 0 3 3 2 3
Benefits paid 0 (1) (13) (7) (13) (8)
Curtailments/Settlements 0 0 (4) 0 (4) 0
Foreign currency exchange rates 0 0 (27) (24) (27) (24)

Fair value of plan assets at year end 36 33 311 288 347 321

Funded status at year end (2) (8) 18 13 16 5

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance
sheets:
Noncurrent pension assets 0 0 55 45 55 45
Accrued benefit liability (current) 0 0 (1) (1) (1) (1)
Accrued benefit liability (noncurrent) (2) (8) (36) (31) (38) (39)

(2) (8) 18 13 16 5

The following weighted average assumptions were used for the actuarial valuation of our domestic and foreign
pension liabilities as at the respective measurement date:
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Domestic plans Foreign plans
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Percent

Discount rate 5.5 4.5 4.0 5.0 4.4 4.2
Rate of compensation increase 2 to 5 2 to 5 2 to 7 5.0 4.6 4.9
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The components of our net periodic benefit cost and other amounts recognized in other comprehensive income for the
years ending December 31 were as follows:

Domestic plans Foreign plans Total
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

� millions

Service cost 0 0 0 38 36 30 38 36 30
Interest cost 1 2 2 11 10 9 12 12 11
Expected return on plan assets (1) (1) (2) (21) (17) (14) (22) (18) (16)
Amortization of prior service cost 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
Amortization of net loss 1 2 0 0 1 0 1 3 0

Net periodic benefit cost 1 3 1 28 30 25 29 33 26

Other changes in plan assets and
benefit obligations recognized in
other comprehensive income
Initial net transition obligation 0 0 � 0 2 � 0 2 �
Net gain/loss (4) 10 � 6 16 � 2 26 �
Amortization of net loss (1) 0 0 0 (1) 0 �

Total recognized in other
comprehensive income (5) 10 � 6 18 0 1 28 0

Total pension cost (4) 13 1 34 48 25 30 61 26

Amounts not yet recognized as a component of net periodic pension cost that are included in Accumulated other
comprehensive income:

Domestic
plans Foreign plans Total

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
� millions

Initial net transition obligation 0 0 2 2 2 2
Prior service cost 0 0 0 0 0 0
Net loss 5 10 22 16 27 26

Total unrecognized pension cost 5 10 24 18 29 28

The actuaries relied on the following principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages for our foreign
and other post-employment benefit plans) for 2007, 2006, and 2005 to calculate the net periodic benefit costs:
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Domestic plans Foreign plans
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

Percent

Discount rate 4.5 4.0 5.0 4.4 4.2 4.5
Expected return on plan assets 4.0 4.3 5.5 7.0 6.9 6.9
Rate of compensation increase 2 to 5 2 to 5 2 to 7 5.0 4.5 5.0
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Additional Information on Estimated Recognition of Components of Net Periodic Benefit Costs and
Other Amounts Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income

We estimate that the effect from an amortization of prior service cost, unrecognized transition assets or actuarial gains
and losses of our defined benefit plans from Accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost
will not be significant for the next fiscal year.

Pension Assets

Our investment strategy on domestic benefit plans is to invest all contributions in stable insurance policies. The
expected rate of return on plan assets for our domestic benefit plans is calculated by reference to the expected returns
achievable on the insured policies given the expected asset mix of the policies. The assumed discount rates are derived
from rates available on high-quality fixed-income investments for which the timing and amounts of payments match
the timing and the amounts of our projected pension payments.

The expected return assumptions for our foreign plan assets are based on weighted average expected long-term rates
of return for each asset class which are estimated based on factors such as historical return patterns for each asset class
and forecasts for inflation. We review historical return patterns and other relevant financial factors for appropriateness
and reasonableness and make modifications to eliminate certain effects when considered necessary. For example, the
excessive returns on equity securities in the late 1990s were given less weight in the expected return on plan assets
assumption than were the more moderate returns before and since then. The assumed discount rates are derived from
rates available on investment grade fixed-income investments for which the timing and amounts of payments match
the timing and amounts of our projected pension payments. Our foreign benefit plan asset allocation as at
December 31, 2007, and our target asset allocation, is as follows:

Foreign pension plans and other
post-employment obligations
Actual Actual

Target allocation Target allocation
asset of plan asset of plan

allocation assets in allocation assets in

Asset category
for
2008 2007 for 2007 2006

Percent

Equity 55 54 55 58
Fixed income 35 36 41 40
Real estate 3 1 3 1
Insurance policies 5 6 0 0
Other 2 3 1 1

Total 100 100 100 100

The investment strategies for foreign benefit plans vary according to the conditions of the country in which the benefit
plans are maintained. Generally, a long-term investment horizon has been adopted for all major foreign benefit plans.
Our policy is to invest in a risk-diversified portfolio consisting of a mix of assets within the target asset allocation
range presented above.
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Additional Information on Funded Status for Domestic and Foreign Plans

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for our domestic and
foreign defined benefit pension plans as well as post employment benefit plans with accumulated benefit obligations
in excess of plan assets are as follows:

2007
Domestic Foreign
plans plans Total

� millions

Projected benefit obligation 38 114 152
Accumulated benefit obligation 38 106 144
Fair value of plan assets 36 84 120
Underfunding of accumulated benefit obligation 2 22 24

2006
Domestic Foreign
plans plans Total

� millions

Projected benefit obligation 41 109 150
Accumulated benefit obligation 40 101 141
Fair value of plan assets 33 77 110
Underfunding of accumulated benefit obligation 7 24 31

Expected Future Contributions and Benefits

Our expected contribution in 2008 is �2 million for domestic defined benefit plans and �5 million for foreign defined
benefit and post-employment benefit plans, all of which is expected to be paid as cash contributions.

The estimated future pension benefits to be paid over the next 10 years by domestic and foreign benefit plans for the
years ending December 31 are as follows:

Domestic Foreign
plans plans Total

� millions

2008 1 12 13
2009 1 13 14
2010 2 15 17
2011 2 17 19
2012 2 19 21
2013 to 2017 12 129 141

Defined Contribution Pension Plans

Edgar Filing: TEVENS TIMOTHY T - Form 4

Table of Contents 154



We maintain domestic and foreign defined contribution plans. Amounts contributed by the Company under such plans
are based on a percentage of the employees� salary or the amount of contributions made by employees. The costs
associated with defined contribution plans were �93 million, �92 million, and �82 million in 2007, 2006, and 2005
respectively.

Employee-Financed Pension Plan

In Germany we maintain an unqualified employee-financed pension plan, whereby employees may contribute a
limited portion of their salary. We purchase and hold guaranteed fixed rate insurance contracts,
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which are recorded in Other assets (see Note 15) and are equal to the obligations under the plan (�236 million and
�191 million on December 31, 2007, and 2006, respectively).

b) Other Obligations

Other obligations as at December 31 were as follows:

2007 2006
Current Noncurrent Total Current Noncurrent Total

� millions

Employee-related obligations
Obligations related to share-based compensation
programs 60 38 98 83 51 134
Other employee-related obligations 56 46 102 46 47 93
Customer-related obligations 28 0 28 26 0 26
Restructuring obligations 1 2 3 2 4 6
Warranty obligations 3 0 3 3 0 3
Other obligations 5 8 13 2 6 8

153 94 247 162 108 270

Obligations related to share-based compensation programs comprise the obligations for our cash-settled share-based
compensation programs which are the STAR programs, the Incentive 2010 program and the SAP Stock Option Plan
2007 (�SAP SOP 2007�). For a detailed description of our share-based compensation programs see Note 27.

Other employee-related obligations primarily comprise provisions for time credits, severance payments under ongoing
post-employment benefit plans in accordance with SFAS 112, Employers� Accounting for Postemployment Benefits
(�SFAS 112�), jubilee expenses, and semiretirement.

Warranty and service obligations represent estimated future warranty obligations and other minor routine items
provided under our support contracts. We generally provide a six to 12 month warranty on our software classified as
current obligations. We determine the warranty accrual based on the historical average cost of fulfilling our
obligations under these commitments. Changes in the warranty accruals in 2007 and 2006 are summarized below:

2007 2006
� millions

Balance as at 1/1 3 3
Additions 3 3
Utilization 3 3
Release 0 0

Balance as at 12/31 3 3

Edgar Filing: TEVENS TIMOTHY T - Form 4

Table of Contents 156



Restructuring activities include mainly contract termination and similar restructuring costs for unused lease space. We
account for our restructuring activities in accordance with SFAS 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit and
Disposal Activities (�SAFS 146�). Our provision for unused lease space relates to costs that we will continue to incur for
vacated space under various operating lease contracts that will have no future economic benefit. Severance payments
for restructuring relate to a termination benefit plan in conjunction with a one-time event.
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The following table presents the beginning and ending balances along with additions and deductions incurred:

Severance
Unused payments for
lease
space re-structuring Total

� millions

1/1/2007 5 1 6
Additions 1 0 1
Utilization (2) (1) (3)
Release (1) 0 (1)
12/31/2007 3 0 3
� thereof current 1 0 1
� thereof noncurrent 2 0 2
1/1/2006 8 2 10
Additions 3 2 5
Utilization (3) (1) (4)
Release (3) (2) (5)
12/31/2006 5 1 6
� thereof current 2 0 2
� thereof noncurrent 3 1 4
1/1/2005 11 6 17
Additions 2 4 6
Utilization (4) (5) (9)
Release (2) (3) (5)
Currency 1 0 1
12/31/2005 8 2 10
� thereof current 2 2 4
� thereof noncurrent 6 0 6

Other obligations relate mainly to renovation and asset retirement obligations. We record the present value of these
obligations in the period in which the obligation is incurred.

(20) SHAREHOLDERS� EQUITY

Common Stock

As at December 31, 2007, the capital stock of SAP AG consisted of 1,246,258,408 (2006: 1,267,537,248) shares of
no-par common stock (including treasury stock), with a calculated nominal value of �1 per share.

The number of common shares decreased by 23,000,000 shares (corresponding to �23,000,000) in 2007 due to
cancellation of shares in treasury stock, partially offset by an increase of 1,721,160 shares (corresponding to
�1,721,160) as a result of the exercise of awards granted under certain share-based payment plans. In 2006 the number
of Common stock increased by 950,652,936 (corresponding to �950,652,936) with the issuance of bonus shares at a
1-to-3 ratio under a capital increase from corporate funds and by 426,491 (corresponding to �426,491) as a result of the
exercise of awards granted under certain share-based payment plans.
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Shareholdings in SAP AG as at December 31, 2007, were as follows:

2007 2006

Number of
Percent

of Number of
Percent

of
shares common shares common
(000) stock (000) stock

Hasso Plattner GmbH & Co. Beteiligungs-KG 113,719 9.1% 113,719 9.0%
Dietmar Hopp Stiftung GmbH 109,869 8.8% 109,869 8.7%
Klaus Tschira Stiftung gGmbH 78,474 6.3% 67,472 5.3%
Dr. h.c. Tschira Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG 32,831 2.6% 63,331 5.0%
Hasso Plattner Förderstiftung gGmbH 15,245 1.2% 16,062 1.2%
DH-Besitzgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG(1) 6,404 0.5% 10,200 0.8%
Dr. h.c. Tschira and wife 3,178 0.3% 2,000 0.2%
Treasury stock 48,065 3.9% 49,251 3.9%
Free float 838,473 67.3% 835,633 65.9%

1,246,258 100.0% 1,267,537 100.0%

(1) DH-Besitzgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG is wholly owned by Dietmar Hopp.

Authorized Capital

The Articles of Incorporation authorize the Executive Board of SAP AG (the �Executive Board�) to increase the
Common stock:

�  Up to a total amount of �60 million through the issuance of new common shares in return for contributions
in cash until May 11, 2010 (�Authorized Capital I�). The issuance is subject to the statutory subscription
rights of existing shareholders.

�  Up to a total amount of �180 million through the issuance of new common shares in return for contributions
in cash until May 8, 2011 (�Authorized Capital Ia�). The issuance is subject to the statutory subscription
rights of existing shareholders.

�  Up to a total amount of �60 million through the issuance of new common shares in return for contributions
in cash or in kind until May 11, 2010 (�Authorized Capital II�). This capital increase could also be executed
as a result of a business combination. Subject to certain preconditions and the consent of the Supervisory
Board, the Executive Board is authorized to exclude the shareholders� statutory subscription rights.

�  Up to a total amount of �180 million through the issuance of new common shares in return for contributions
in cash or in kind until May 8, 2011 (�Authorized Capital IIa�). This capital increase could also be executed
as a result of a business combination. Subject to certain preconditions and the consent of the Supervisory
Board, the Executive Board is authorized to exclude the shareholders� statutory subscription rights.

No authorization to increase Common stock was exercised in fiscal year 2007.
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Contingent Capital

SAP AG�s common stock is subject to a contingent increase of common shares. The contingent increase may be
affected only to the extent that the holders of the convertible bonds and stock options that were issued by SAP AG
under certain share-based payment plans (see Note 27) exercise their conversion or subscription rights. The following
table provides a summary of the changes in contingent capital for 2007 and 2006:

Contingent
capital
� millions

1/1/2006 53
Exercised (1)
New authorized 100
Increase in consequence of capital increase 83
Reduction/cancellation (25)
12/31/2006 210

Exercised (1)
New authorized 0
Reduction/cancellation 0
12/31/2007 209

The increase in contingent capital by �83 million in 2006 reflects the issuance of bonus shares at a 1-to-3 ratio under
the capital increase described above which resulted in an increase of the contingent capital in the same proportion by
operation of law.

Treasury Stock

By resolution of SAP AG�s Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on May 10, 2007, the Executive Board of
SAP AG was authorized to acquire, on or before October 31, 2008, up to 120 million shares in the Company on the
condition that such share purchases, together with any previously acquired shares, do not account for more than 10%
of SAP AG�s Common stock. Although Treasury stock is legally considered outstanding, there are no dividend or
voting rights associated with shares held in treasury. We may redeem or resell shares held in treasury or may use
Treasury stock for the purpose of servicing subscription rights and conversion rights under the Company�s share-based
payment plans. Also, we may use the shares held in treasury as consideration in connection with the acquisition of
other companies.

As at December 31, 2007, we had acquired 48 million (2006: 49 million) of our own shares, representing �48 million
(2006: �49 million) or 3.9% (2006: 3.9%) of Common stock. In 2007, 27 million (2006: 28 million) shares in aggregate
were acquired under the buyback program at an average price of approximately �36.85 (2006: �40.97) per share,
representing �27 million (2006: �28 million) or 2.2% (2006: 2.2%) of Common stock. We transferred 5 million shares to
employees during the year (2006: 1 million shares) at an average price of �28.13 (2006: �29.83) per share and we
reduced the number of common shares by 23 million shares (corresponding to �23 million) due to cancellation of
shares in Treasury stock. The Company purchased no SAP American Depositary Receipts (�ADRs�) in 2007. (Each
ADR represents one common share of SAP AG). The Company held no SAP ADRs as at December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive income/loss consisted of the following as at December 31:

Gains Currency

Unrealized
/losses
on effects

Currency gains Unrecog- foreign Gains
from
inter-

translation
/losses
on nized currency

/losses
on company

Total
other

adjust- marketable pension
cash
flow STAR long-term components

ments securities costs hedges hedge investments of equity
� millions

1/1/2005 (296) 8 (11) 13 9 (2) (279)

Current-period change, net of
tax 121 3 1 (22) 42 43 188

12/31/2005 (175) 11 (10) (9) 51 41 (91)

Current-period change, net of
tax (149) (7) (10) 20 (48) (26) (220)

12/31/2006 (324) 4 (20) 11 3 15 (311)

Current-period change, net of
tax (194) (3) 0 10 (12) (5) (204)

12/31/2007 (518) 1 (20) 21 (9) 10 (515)

Currency translation adjustments comprise all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. We corrected as at January 1, 2005 an immaterial error related to the deconsolidation
of two equity investments in years prior to 2005, resulting in a decrease in Additional paid-in capital and Retained
earnings by �20 million and �6 million and to increase Accumulated other comprehensive income by �26 million.

Unrealized gains and losses on securities represent the net cumulative change between fair value and cost for
available-for-sale financial assets since the respective acquisition date.

Unrecognized pension costs comprise actuarial gains and losses relating to defined benefit pension plans and similar
obligations.

Gains and losses on foreign currency cash flow hedges comprise the net change in fair value of foreign currency cash
flow hedges related to hedged transactions that have not impacted earnings, less the component of the financial
instrument�s gain or loss that was excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness.

Edgar Filing: TEVENS TIMOTHY T - Form 4

Table of Contents 164



Gains and losses on STAR hedges comprise the net change in fair value of cash flow hedging instruments associated
with the unrecognized portion of nonvested STARs (see Note 25).

Currency effects from intercompany long-term investments related to intercompany foreign currency transactions that
are of a long-term investment nature.

Miscellaneous

Under the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), the amount of dividends available for distribution to SAP
AG�s shareholders is based on the earnings of SAP AG as reported in its statutory financial statements which are
determined under the accounting rules stipulated by the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch). For the year
ending December 31, 2007, the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of SAP AG propose a dividend
distribution in 2008 of �0.49 per share.

Dividends per share for 2006 and 2005 were �0.46 and �0.36, respectively, and were paid in the immediately succeeding
year in each case.
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D. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

(21) SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Interest paid in 2007, 2006, and 2005 amounted to �6 million, �4 million and �4 million, respectively, while interest
received in 2007, 2006 and 2005 amounted to �142 million, �124 million and �94 million, respectively. Income taxes
paid in fiscal years 2007, 2006, and 2005, net of refunds, was �811 million, �866 million, and �976 million, respectively.

All of the items above are classified as cash flows from operating activities.

Our investing cash flows include high volumes from the purchase and sale of investments. The activities reflected in
these line items include the purchase and sale of marketable and other available-for-sale securities.

(22) CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

In the normal course of business, we usually indemnify our customers against liabilities arising from a claim that our
software products infringe a third party�s patent, copyright, trade secret, or other proprietary rights. To date, we have
not incurred any material loss as a result of such indemnification and have not recorded any material liabilities related
to such obligations in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We occasionally grant function or performance guarantees in routine consulting contracts or development
arrangements. Also, our software license agreements generally include a clause guaranteeing that the software
substantially conforms to the specifications as described in applicable documentation for a period of six to 12 months
from delivery. Our product and service warranty liability, which is measured based on historical experience and
evaluation, is included in Provisions (see Note 19b).

For contingent liabilities related to litigations, see Note 24.

As at December 31, 2007 and 2006, no guarantees were provided for the performance or financial obligations of third
parties.

(23) OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS

Other financial commitments amounted to �850 million, �849 million and �805 million as at December 31, 2007, 2006,
and 2005, respectively, and primarily comprise commitments under rental and operating leases of �649 million,
�657 million and �687 million as at December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively. Those commitments relate
primarily to the lease of office space, cars, and office equipment. As at December 31, 2007, the future minimum
sublease payments expected to be received was �16 million. In addition, financial commitments existed in the form of
purchase commitments totaling �97 million in 2007 (�74 million in 2006 and �79 million in 2005). These commitments
relate primarily to construction on new and existing facilities, office equipment and car purchase commitments. The
remaining commitments totaling �104 million in 2007 (�118 million in 2006 and �39 million in 2005) relate to various
other third party agreements. Historically, the majority of such purchase commitments have been realized. For
financial commitments related to our pension plans, see Note 19a.
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Commitments under operating lease contracts and purchase obligations as at December 31, 2007 were as follows:

Operating Purchase
leases commitments

� millions

Due 2008 157 137
Due 2009 119 29
Due 2010 98 19
Due 2011 80 10
Due 2012 58 2
Due thereafter 137 4

Rent expense was �209 million, �181 million, and �164 million for the years 2007, 2006, and 2005, respectively.

The recognized assets and related liabilities of our capital lease contracts were not material in 2007 or 2006.
Additionally, for our capital lease contracts no contingent rents were recognized as an expense and no sublease
agreements existed.

(24) LITIGATION AND CLAIMS

Intellectual Property Litigation

In September 2006, U.S.-based i2 Technologies US, Inc. and i2 Technologies, Inc. (i2) instituted legal proceedings in
the United States against SAP. i2 alleges that SAP�s products and services infringe one or more of the claims in each of
seven patents held by i2. In its complaint, i2 seeks unspecified monetary damages and permanent injunctive relief.
SAP submitted its answer to the complaint in December 2006. The trial has been scheduled for November 2008.

In October 2006, U.S.-based Sky Technologies LLC (Sky) instituted legal proceedings in the United States against
SAP and Oracle. Sky alleges that SAP�s products and services infringe one or more of the claims in each of five
patents held by Sky. In its complaint, Sky seeks unspecified monetary damages and permanent injunctive relief. SAP
submitted its answer to the complaint in January 2007. The Markman hearing was held in June 2007. The trial has
been scheduled for October 2008.

In January 2007, German-based CSB-Systems AG (CSB) instituted legal proceedings in Germany against SAP. CSB
alleges that SAP�s products and services infringe one or more of the claims of a German patent and a German utility
model held by CSB. In its complaint, CSB has set the amount in dispute at �1 million and is seeking permanent
injunctive relief. In these proceedings CSB is not precluded from requesting damages in excess of the amount in
dispute. In July 2007, SAP filed its response in the legal proceedings including a nullity action and cancellation
proceedings against the patent and utility model, respectively. The infringement hearing has been re-scheduled for
April 2009. Hearings for the nullity and cancellation proceedings have not yet been scheduled.

In March 2007, U.S.-based Oracle Corporation and certain of its subsidiaries (�Oracle�) instituted legal proceedings in
the United States against TomorrowNow, Inc. and its parent company, SAP America, Inc. and SAP America�s parent
company SAP AG (�SAP�). Oracle filed an amended complaint in June 2007. As amended, the lawsuit alleges
copyright infringement, violations of the Federal Computer Fraud and Abuse Act and the California Computer Data
Access and Fraud Act, unfair competition, intentional and negligent interference with prospective economic
advantage, and civil conspiracy. The lawsuit alleges that SAP unlawfully copied and misappropriated proprietary,

Edgar Filing: TEVENS TIMOTHY T - Form 4

Table of Contents 167



copyrighted software products and other confidential materials developed by Oracle to service its own customers. The
lawsuit seeks injunctive relief and unspecified monetary damages including punitive damages. In July 2007, SAP and
TomorrowNow filed their answer. The trial has been scheduled for February 2009. Additionally, in June 2007, SAP
became aware that the United States Department of
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Justice had opened an investigation concerning related issues and had issued subpoenas to SAP and TomorrowNow;
SAP and TomorrowNow are cooperating with the investigation and are responding to the original subpoenas and
additional subpoenas issued by the Department of Justice.

In April 2007, U.S.-based Disc Link Corporation (Disc Link) instituted legal proceedings in the United States against
SAP and 27 other defendants. Disc Link alleges that SAP�s products infringe one or more of the claims of a single
patent held by Disc Link. SAP and Disc Link have resolved this dispute for an amount immaterial to SAP�s business,
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.

In April 2007, U.S.-based Versata Software, Inc. (formerly Trilogy Software, Inc.) (Versata) instituted legal
proceedings in the United States against SAP. Versata alleges that SAP�s products and services infringe one or more of
the claims in each of five patents held by Versata. In its complaint, Versata seeks unspecified monetary damages and
permanent injunctive relief. SAP submitted its answer to the complaint in July 2007. The trial has been scheduled for
August 2009.

In June 2007, SAP initiated legal proceedings, in the form of a declaratory judgment action, against U.S.-based
Emergis Technologies (Emergis) in the United States. In the Declaratory Judgment action, SAP seeks a declaration by
the court that an Emergis patent is invalid and unenforceable, and that SAP�s products and services do not infringe one
or more of the claims of the patent held by Emergis. SAP and Emergis have resolved this dispute for an amount that is
immaterial to SAP�s Consolidated Financial Statements.

In August 2007, U.S.-based elcommerce.com, Inc. (elcommerce) instituted legal proceedings in the United States
against SAP. elcommerce alleges that SAP�s products and services infringe one or more of the claims in one patent
held by elcommerce. In its complaint, elcommerce seeks unspecified monetary damages and permanent injunctive
relief. SAP submitted its answer to the complaint in December 2007. A trial date has not yet been set.

In August 2007, SAP instituted legal proceedings in the United States against i2. SAP alleges that i2�s products
infringe one or more of the claims in each of two patents held by SAP. In its complaint, SAP seeks unspecified
monetary damages and permanent injunctive relief. i2 submitted its answer to the complaint in October 2007. In
March 2008, SAP requested permission from the Court to amend its complaint and add a third patent to the
proceedings. The trial has been scheduled for March 2009.

In November 2007, U.S.-based Diagnostic Systems Corp. (DSC) instituted legal proceedings in the United States
against SAP and several other defendants. DSC alleges that SAP�s products and services infringe one or more of the
claims in one patent held by DSC. In its complaint, DSC seeks unspecified monetary damages and permanent
injunctive relief. SAP submitted its answer to the complaint in December 2007. A trial date has not yet been set.

We will continue to vigorously defend against the claims. We make a provision for a liability for such matters when it
is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. We
currently believe that resolving these claims, individually or in aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on
SAP�s business, financial position, income, or cash flows. Consequently, the provisions currently recorded for these
claims and suits are neither individually nor in aggregate material to SAP. Any litigation, however, involves potential
risk and potentially significant litigation costs, and therefore there can be no assurance that these actions would not
have a material adverse effect on SAP�s business, financial position, income, or cash flows. Due to the inherent
uncertainties of the actions outlined above we currently cannot make an estimate of the possible loss in case of an
unfavorable outcome.

Other Litigation
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In October 2006, South African-based Systems Applications Consultants (PTY) Limited (Securinfo) informed us that
it had filed a lawsuit against SAP at the High Court of South Africa alleging that SAP has breached a software
distribution agreement with Securinfo. In its complaint, Securinfo sought damages of
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approximately �496 million and relief preventing SAP from breaching its agreement with Securinfo. In May 2007
Securinfo has waived the action.

In January 2008, U.S.-based Acorn Systems, Inc. (�Acorn�) instituted legal proceedings in the United States against
SAP AG and SAP Global Marketing, Inc. (�SAP�). Acorn filed an amended complaint in March 2008. As amended, the
lawsuit alleges breach of contract, fraud and fraudulent inducement, negligent misrepresentation, misappropriation of
trade secrets, violations of the Texas Free Enterprise and Antitrust Act of 1983, and unfair competition. The lawsuit
seeks unspecified monetary damages, although Acorn alleges in the complaint that it has suffered at least $116 million
damages. In February 2008, SAP filed a response to the original complaint.

In March 2008, SAP instituted legal proceedings against Acorn in the Commercial Court of Brussels asking the Court
to declare, inter alia, that SAP had not breached the contract, SAP did not commit fraud and that SAP had not
misappropriated Acorn trade secrets.

We are also subject to a variety of other claims and suits that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of our
business. We make a provision for a liability for such matters when it is both probable that a liability has been
incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. We currently believe that resolving these claims and
suits, individually or in aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on SAP�s business, financial position,
income, or cash flows. Consequently, the provisions currently recorded for these claims and suits are neither
individually nor in aggregate material to SAP. However, these matters are subject to inherent uncertainties and our
view of these matters may change in the future.

(25) DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We use derivative financial instruments in order to reduce risks resulting from fluctuations in foreign-currency
exchange rates, risks resulting from future cash flows associated with Stock Appreciation Rights (STARs) granted to
employees and risks resulting from potential future variability interest payments. The carrying amounts of our
derivative financial instruments were as follows:

  2007    2006  
� millions

Assets:
Derivatives without a hedging relationship 60 15
thereof forward exchange contracts 59 15
thereof interest rate swaps 1 0
Derivatives with a hedging relationship (hedge accounting) 87 189
thereof forward exchange contracts 29 18
thereof call options (STAR hedge) 58 171

Liabilities:
Derivatives without a hedging relationship (30) (10)
thereof forward exchange contracts (30) (10)
Derivatives with a hedging relationship (hedge accounting) (1) (2)
thereof forward exchange contracts (1) (2)

Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts
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As a globally active enterprise, we are subject to risks associated with fluctuations in foreign currencies in our
ordinary operations. This includes foreign currency-denominated receivables, payables, debt, and other balance sheet
positions as well as future cash flows resulting from anticipated transactions including intragroup transactions.
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We manage our balance sheet exposure on a Group-wide basis primarily using foreign exchange forward contracts.
The derivative financial instruments we use are usually not designated as accounting hedges.

We are also exposed to risks associated with anticipated intercompany cash flows in foreign currencies resulting from
intercompany royalty payments. Most of SAP AG�s subsidiaries have entered into license agreements with SAP AG
pursuant to which each subsidiary has acquired the right to sublicense SAP AG software products to customers within
a specific territory. Under these license agreements, the subsidiaries are generally required to pay SAP AG a royalty
equivalent to a percentage of the software and support services fees charged by them to their customers within 30 days
following the end of the month in which the subsidiary recognizes the revenue. These intercompany royalties payable
to SAP AG are mostly denominated in the respective subsidiaries� local currency. This leads to a centralization of the
foreign currency risk with SAP AG in Germany as the royalties are to be paid in subsidiary�s local currency while the
functional currency of SAP AG is the euro.

We enter into derivative instruments, primarily foreign exchange forward contracts, to hedge all significant
anticipated cash flows in foreign currencies from foreign subsidiaries. Specifically, these foreign exchange forward
contracts offset anticipated cash flows and existing intercompany receivables relating to countries with significant
operations, including the United States, the United Kingdom, Japan, Switzerland, Canada, and Australia. We use
foreign exchange derivatives that have maturities of 15 months or less, which may be rolled over to provide
continuing coverage until the applicable royalties are received.

We believe that the use of foreign currency derivative financial instruments reduces the aforementioned risks that arise
from doing business in international markets. We hold such instruments for purposes other than trading.

Foreign exchange derivatives are recorded at fair value in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The fair value of foreign
exchange derivatives is the value we would receive or have to pay if the derivatives were discontinued at the reporting
date. It is calculated on the basis of the contracting parties� relevant exchange rates, the relevant current exchange rates
and the respective interest rates. Gains or losses on derivatives designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges are
recognized directly in equity less the component of the financial instrument�s gain or loss that was excluded from the
assessment of hedge effectiveness, net of tax, and removed from equity to profit and loss when the underlying
transaction affects earnings. When intercompany accounts receivable resulting from royalties related to software and
software-related services related royalties are recorded, the applicable gain or loss on the respective derivative is
reclassified from Other comprehensive income to Other non-operating income/expense, net. Going forward, any
additional gains or losses relating to that derivative are posted to Other non-operating income/expense, net until the
position is closed or the derivative expires.

For the years ending December 31, 2007 and 2006, no gains or losses were reclassified from Accumulated other
comprehensive income as a result of the discontinuance of foreign currency cash flow hedges resulting from a
determination that it was probable that the original forecasted transaction would not occur. We did not record any
ineffectiveness for these hedges for the fiscal years 2007 and 2006. However, we excluded differences between spot
and forward rates from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and included this component of financial instruments�
gain or loss in Other non-operating income/expenses, net. It is estimated that �21 million of the net gains recognized
directly in equity on December 31, 2007 will be reclassified into earnings during fiscal year 2008. All foreign
exchange derivatives held as at December 31, 2007 have maturities of 15 months or less.

Foreign exchange derivatives entered into by us to offset exposure to anticipated cash flows that do not meet the
requirements for applying hedge accounting are marked to market at each reporting period with unrealized gains and
losses recognized in earnings.

STAR Hedges
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We hedge certain anticipated cash flow exposures associated with unrecognized nonvested STARs (see
Note 27) through the purchase of derivative instruments from independent financial institutions.
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As at December 31, 2007 and 2006, the following derivative instruments were designated as hedges for the STAR
2006, and STAR 2005 programs, respectively.

2007
Hedge of 12.0 million 2006 STARs

Buy/sell Options Strike price in �

Buy 12,000,000 42.12
Sell 6,000,000 54.62
Sell 3,000,000 67.12
Fair value as at December 31, 2007: � 2 million

2007
Hedge of 15.2 million 2005 STARs

Buy/sell Options Strike price in �

Buy 15,200,000 30.47
Sell 7,600,000 42.97
Sell 3,800,000 55.47
Fair value as at December 31, 2007: � 56 million

2006
Hedge of 12.0 million 2006 STARs

Buy/sell Options Strike price in �

Buy 12,000,000 42.12
Sell 6,000,000 54.62
Sell 3,000,000 67.12
Fair value as at December 31, 2006: � 21 million

2006
Hedge of 15.2 million 2005 STARs

Buy/sell Options Strike price in �

Buy 15,200,000 30.47
Sell 7,600,000 42.97
Sell 3,800,000 55.47
Fair value as at December 31, 2006: � 132 million

2006
Hedge of 12.0 million 2004 STARs

Buy/sell Options Strike price in �

Buy 12,000,000 33.59
Sell 6,000,000 46.09
Sell 3,000,000 58.59
Fair value as at December 31, 2006: � 18 million
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The terms of the derivative financial instruments are designed to reflect the eight measurement dates and weighting
factors applicable to the STAR program, as described in Note 27. The number of options expiring at each
measurement date, reflect the respective weighting factor of that date. The payment date of each option reflects the
payout date of the STAR program that it hedges. Viewed together, we will receive from the financial institution 100%
of the first �12.50 in appreciation of the SAP AG stock price above the strike price of the STAR, 50% of the next �12.50
appreciation of the SAP AG stock price above the strike price of the STAR, and 25% of any additional appreciation of
the SAP AG stock price above the strike price of the STAR. The terms of these derivative financial instruments
require cash settlement, and there are no settlement alternatives. These derivative financial instruments are accounted
for as Other assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Since we adopted SFAS 123R at the beginning of 2006, we have assessed hedge effectiveness by reference to changes
in the fair value of the STAR hedge instrument for all new grants. The change in fair value attributable to the
nonvested portion is recorded in Other comprehensive income with the resulting deferred tax liability recorded
separately. The amount in Other comprehensive income is used to offset compensation expense on the STAR
recognized over the vesting period.

As at December 31, 2007, a net result of �0 million (2006: a net gain of �7 million; 2005: a net loss of �66 million) had
been recorded in Financial income, net. Compensation expense on our STAR plans has been increased by �19 million
(2006: reduced by �72 million; 2005: reduced by �59 million); Other comprehensive income decreased by �12 million
(2006: decreased by �48 million; 2005: increased by �43 million), net of tax. For more information, see Note 20.

For the years ending December 31, 2007 and 2006, no gains or losses were reclassified from Accumulated other
comprehensive income as a result of the discontinuance of STAR hedges because it was probable that the original
forecasted transaction would not occur. We estimate that �9 million of net losses included in Accumulated other
comprehensive income on December 31, 2007 will be reclassified into earnings during the next year.
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Derivative Interest Rate Contracts

In order to finance the acquisition of Business Objects S.A. SAP entered into a syndicated term loan facility. The
interest payments related to this syndicated term loan facility are determined by reference the EURIBOR. Therefore
the underlying arrangement is a floating interest rate and subject to interest rate fluctuations.

In order to hedge for the cash flow risk resulting from the variability in future interest payments related to the
syndicated term loan facility SAP AG entered into several contingent interest rate payer swaps as well as contingent
interest rate payer swaptions to partly hedge against the risk of an increase in the EURIBOR. The volume of these
interest rate derivatives only covers a certain portion of the total volume of the syndicated term loan facility.

These interest rate derivatives were contingent with regard on the acquisition and under these contractual
arrangements would have been cancelled with no further obligation on SAP AG if the acquisition of Business Objects
S.A. had not been completed.

Due to the uncertainty of the acquisition and the resulting loan the derivatives did not qualify for hedge accounting
treatment. As such the deal contingent interest rate payer swaps and deal-contingent interest rate payer swaptions were
recorded at fair value and any changes in fair values were charged to Finance income, net.

(26) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

We are exposed to various financial risks, including changes in currency exchange rates, interest rates, equity prices
and the creditworthiness of our counterparties.

SAP manages and, if necessary hedges against Group-wide credit, liquidity, interest, equity price and foreign
exchange risks. Financial risk management is conducted centrally and is regulated by internal guidelines.

Foreign Exchange Risk

As a global enterprise, we are subject to risks associated with fluctuations in foreign currencies with regard to our
ordinary operations. This includes foreign currency-denominated receivables, payables, debt, and other balance sheet
positions as well as future cash flows resulting from anticipated transactions including intragroup transactions as
described in Note 25.

We regularly quantify the risk positions from the exchange rates of key currencies mentioned in Note 3 and Note 25,
using the value-at-risk (VAR) concept. VAR represents an expected loss calculated by computing the exposures of
relevant unhedged foreign exchange positions to foreign exchange risk factors. We calculate the expected loss of
income from foreign currency influences for an assumed holding period of 10 days and a confidence level of 99%.
The following table shows the value-at-risk calculated on the basis of unhedged foreign currency denominated balance
sheet positions and forecasted inter-company license payments at the end of the fiscal year and the yearly averages for
fiscal years 2007 and 2006. The yearly averages are calculated using the figures at the end of each of the quarters.

2007 2006
2007 Yearly 2006 Yearly
12/31 average 12/31 average

� millions

Value at risk 12 14 4 9
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Interest Rate Risk

Due to the short maturities of our investments and insignificant financial liabilities, we did not have any significant
interest rate risk related to financial assets or financial liabilities (see Note 13 and 18) in all years presented. The
average remaining maturity of our debt securities classified as noncurrent is approximately 1.5 years.

Due to the acquisition of Business Objects S.A. in early 2008, SAP will be exposed to cash flow risk resulting from
the variability in future interest payments related to the syndicated term loan facility. For information about SAP�s
related hedging activities, see Note 25.

Equity Price Risk

Our investments consist of securities in listed and non-listed companies held for purposes other than trading. The
equity investments in listed companies are monitored based on the current market value, which is affected by the
volatility of stock markets worldwide. An assumed 20% decline in equity prices as at December 31, 2007 would
reduce the value of our investments in marketable securities by �1 million (2006: �3 million).

The equity investments in non-listed companies are monitored individually. Those securities are recognized at cost,
because market values are generally not observable. These cost-method investments are subject to an annual
impairment test.

Credit Risk

We are exposed to the risk of credit-related losses through our operating and certain financing activities in the event of
nonperformance by counterparties to financial instruments. We manage this risk through diversification of our
counterparties and use of counterparty credit limits which are mainly based on the counterparty�s external rating.
Following our internal guidelines for financial risk management, we conduct all of our business related to financial
investments with major financial institutions. This approach is assured by detailed guidelines for the management of
financial risks. We do not have significant exposure to any individual counterparty.

The credit risk of our operating business is managed separately, mainly based on external ratings and our historical
experience with respective customers. Outstanding debts are frequently monitored locally and credit risks are taken
into account through recognized impairments. Credit risk exposures from individual customers are limited due to our
large customer base and its distribution across many different industries and countries worldwide.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of the financial assets. No significant
agreements reducing the maximum exposure to credit risk had been concluded as at the reporting date.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk results from the potential inability to meet financial obligations, such as payments to suppliers or
employees. The Group-wide liquidity of SAP is generally managed by our corporate treasury department. Apart from
working capital and cash management, SAP reduces its liquidity risk by arranging credit facilities with various
financial institutions.

SAP AG has a �1 billion syndicated credit facility with an international group of banks. We did not draw on the facility
during the years presented and have no current plans to do so. In addition, SAP AG had bilateral lines of credit
totaling �599 million and �599 million at the end of 2007 and 2006 respectively. Several subsidiaries in the SAP Group
have also arranged credit lines in their local currency, which are guaranteed by SAP AG. We drew on these lines of
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On October 1, 2007, SAP AG entered into a credit facility agreement with Deutsche Bank AG with a maturity date of
December 31, 2009. The credit facility was entered into in connection with the acquisition of Business Objects S.A.
and amounted to �4.45 billion as at December 31, 2007. Initially the credit facility served as a bank guarantee to back
up the tender offer. The use of the facility is not restricted by any financial covenants (see Note 18 for further details).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We utilize various types of financial instruments in the ordinary course of business. The carrying amounts and fair
values of our financial instruments were as follows, except trade receivables and payables where the carrying amount
approximates fair values:

2007 2006
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value

� millions

Assets:
Debt and equity securities 652 652 1,007 1,007
Cash and cash equivalents 1,608 1,608 2,399 2,399
Restricted cash 550 550 0 0
Time deposits 35 35 19 19
Loans 57 57 51 51
Derivatives
Forward exchange contracts 88 88 33 33
Call options (STAR hedge) 58 58 171 171
Other derivatives 1 1 0 0

Liabilities:
Bank loans and overdrafts (27) (27) (26) (26)
Other financial liabilities (excluding derivatives) (11) (11) (8) (8)
Derivatives
Forward exchange contracts (31) (31) (12) (12)

All financial instruments presented in the table above are described in detail in Note 13, 15, and 18. The market values
of these financial instruments are determined as follows:

�  Debt and equity securities: The fair values of debt and equity securities are based on available quoted
market prices, except that quoted market prices are not available for �69 million of equity securities at cost
and �19 million of equity method investments, for which there were no indication of impairment at
December 31, 2007 or 2006.

�  Cash and cash equivalents, Restricted cash, time deposits: Due to their short maturities, the book value of
cash and cash equivalents and time deposits approximates fair value.

�  Loans, bank loans and overdrafts, other financial liabilities: The fair values of loans to third parties, bank
loans and overdrafts and other financial liabilities are determined by discounting estimated cash flows
using appropriate interest rates adjusted to reflect the inherent credit risk. Most loans to third parties, bank
loans and overdrafts are of a short term nature. Accordingly, the net carrying values approximate their fair
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�  Non-interest-bearing or below market-rate employee loans are discounted to their present value using the
prevailing interest rate the employee would have to pay to a bank for a similar loan.

�  Derivatives: The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is based on forward exchange rates. The
fair value of the derivatives entered into to hedge our STAR programs and the fair values of our
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contingent derivative interest rate contracts is based on market data that reflect current market
expectations.

The fair values of financial assets and securities and of derivative financial instruments are determined for each type
of asset on an individual basis.

(27) SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS

Our total compensation expense recorded in connection with share-based payment plans for the year 2007 was
�95 million (2006: �99 million; 2005: �45 million). The total income tax benefit recognized in the income statement for
share-based payment plans was �32 million in 2007 (2006: �13 million; 2005: �14 million). We did not capitalize any
share-based payment costs as inventory or fixed assets. The tax benefit realized from stock options exercised during
the annual period was �19 million (2006: �14 million; 2005: �7 million). Compensation expense in connection with
share-based payment plans recorded for 2007 and 2006 are not comparable to compensation expense in connection
with share-based payment plans recorded in prior years due to our adoption on January 1, 2006 of the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS 123R using the modified-prospective transition method. For more information, see
Note 3.

a)  Employee Discounted Stock Purchase Programs

The Company acquires SAP AG common shares for various employee stock purchase plans and transfers the shares to
employees. We record the discounts provided to employees through such plans as compensation expense. Generally
the discounts provided to employees do not exceed 15%.

b)  Cash-Settled Share-Based Payment Plans

1)  Stock Appreciation Rights (STAR) Plans

In March 2007 we granted approximately 18.7 million (2006: 14.1 million; 2005: 19.0 million;) stock appreciation
rights (�2007 STARs�, �2006 STARs� and �2005 STARs� respectively) to selected employees who are not beneficiaries of
the SOP 2007 Plan. The 2007, 2006 and 2005 STAR grant-base values of �35.71, �42.12 and �30.47, respectively, are
based on the average fair market value of one common share over the 20 business days commencing the day after the
announcement of the Company�s preliminary results for the preceding fiscal year. The number of STARs granted in
2006 and 2005, and the corresponding grant-base fair values shown above, are adjusted figures as if the bonus shares
issued in 2006 as described in Note 23 of our 2006 Annual Report, had been issued before the STARs were granted.
The valuation of the STARs is calculated quarterly, over a period of two years. Each quarterly valuation is weighted
as follows in determining the final valuation:

Weighting factor for valuation calculation of STAR awards, quarter ending
March 31 June 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31 March 31 June 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31

5% 5% 10% 20% 10% 10% 10% 30%

The valuations for quarters ending December 31 are calculated on the basis of the amount by which the grant price is
exceeded by the average fair market value of one share of Common stock, as quoted on Xetra, the trading system of
the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, over the 20 consecutive business days following the announcement date of the
Company�s preliminary annual results. The other quarterly valuations are calculated on the basis of the amount by
which the grant price is exceeded by the average fair market value of one share of common share, as quoted on Xetra,

Edgar Filing: TEVENS TIMOTHY T - Form 4

Table of Contents 183



over the five consecutive business days following the announcement of the Company�s quarterly results. Because each
quarterly valuation is conducted independently, it is unaffected by any other quarterly valuation.

The cash payout value of each STAR is calculated quarterly as follows: (i) 100% of the first �12.50 value appreciation
for such quarter; (ii) 50% of the next �12.50 value appreciation; and (iii) 25% of any additional value
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appreciation. Beneficiaries will receive payments with respect to the 2007 STARs as follows: 50% on both March 31,
2009 and January 31, 2010. Under the terms of the 2006 STAR program, beneficiaries were scheduled to receive an
initial payment of 50% on March 31, 2008, and a second installment on January 31, 2009. Beneficiaries will receive
STAR payments provided that they are still employees of the Company on the payment dates, subject to certain
exceptions.

As our STAR plans are settled in cash, rather than by issuing equity instruments, a liability is recorded for such plans
based on the current fair value of the STAR awards at the reporting date. The fair value of the STAR 2007 awards was
estimated using a Monte-Carlo valuation model. Expected volatilities are based on implied volatilities from traded
options on our stock for options with a corresponding lifetime and exercise price. The fair value as at December, 31
was calculated on the basis of the following assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate: 3.99% to 4.16% (depending on maturity)
Expected volatility: 27.3%
Expected dividend ratio: 1.37%

The fair value of the STAR 2006 and STAR 2005 awards was based on market data that reflect current market
expectations. The fair value of the STAR awards is the same as the fair values of the derivatives that are entered into
to hedge the compensation expense for the STAR 2006 awards because the terms of the STAR awards and the
derivatives are the same. Compensation expense � including the effects of changes in the fair value of the STAR award �
is accrued over the period in which the employee performs the related service (�vesting period�).

As at December 31, 2007, a STAR provision in the amount of �74 million (2006: �132 million; 2005: �122 million) was
included in provisions in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The related STAR expense was affected by the effects of
the STAR hedge � as described in Note 25 � and therefore totaled �43 million (2006: �28 million, 2005: �21 million). The
STAR provision as at December 31, 2007, and the related STAR expenses recorded during 2007, result from awards
granted under the 2007, 2006, and 2005 STAR programs.

In 2007 we paid to employees �61 million related to STAR 2005 and �18 million related to STAR 2004.

The amount of unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested share-based payment arrangements granted
under the STAR plans is dependent on the final intrinsic value of the awards. The amount of unrecognized
compensation expense is dependent on the future price of our common share and which we cannot reasonably predict.
The final payout amount will be recognized over a remaining period from December 31, 2007 of 2.1 years for STAR
2007, 1.1 years for STAR 2006, and 0.1 years for STAR 2005.

In January 2007 we granted approximately 0.1 million stock appreciation rights to selected employees of a subsidiary
under a program with general terms that are closely related to the STAR 2006 program (�2006 Subsidiary STARs�). The
program has only an immaterial effect on our balance sheet and income statement. The related STAR provision of this
program as at December 31, 2007 totaled �0 million.

2)  Incentive Plan 2010

In January 2007 the Company granted 0.7 million stock appreciation rights (�rights�) to top executives under the
Incentive Plan 2010. The plan provides for a maximum payout of �144.60 per right if the market capitalization of SAP
AG doubles by December 31, 2010. The rights issued to the beneficiaries of this plan will automatically be exercised
in case the conditions for exercise are met. The base value of the rights is the base market capitalization figure of
�44,794,067,259, calculated as �144.60 (average Xetra closing price of the SAP AG stock in the period July 1 through
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December 31, 2005, prior to the capital increase as implemented on December 21, 2006) times 309,779,165 shares
(number of issued shares minus the treasury shares on December 31, 2005, prior to the capital increase implemented
on December 21, 2006).

For the Incentive Plan 2010, the relevant actual market capitalization is calculated by multiplying the average closing
price of one SAP share in the Xetra trading system in the measurement period (July 1 through
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December 31 of each year) by the average number of outstanding SAP AG shares outstanding minus the average
number of treasury shares in the measurement period of that year. The relevant actual market capitalization is
calculated annually in the first month after the end of each measurement period, beginning in 2006 and ending in
2010.

The rights will only be exercisable if SAP�s common share outperforms the Goldman Sachs Software Index (�GSTI
Software Index�) during the period between the issue of the rights and December 31, 2010, or December 31 of the year
with the last measurement period if the rights are exercised before that date. Further, to be exercisable from 2006
through 2009, the actual market capitalization must not be less than 200% of the base value.

The rights are not exercisable if exercise would result in a windfall profit. The decision whether exercise results in a
windfall profit will be made by the Supervisory Board�s compensation committee at its sole discretion.

If the relevant actual market capitalization is 200% (or more) of the base market capitalization and the other
conditions are met, the payout value per right will be �144.60.

If the increase between the base value and the relevant actual market capitalization is less, the payout per award will
be based on the following scale:

Calculation Incremental
of payout maximum Incremental

as
percentage payout as maximum

per point
percentage

of payout per
Increase in market capitalization increase base value right in �

0% to 50% 0.00 0% 0.00
> 50% to 80% 0.67 20% 28.92
> 80% to 90% 3.00 30% 43.38
> 90% to 99.99% 5.00 50% 72.30

Total 100% 144.60

If the plan pays out, beneficiaries will receive the payments 12 months after the compensation committee has
determined the exercise value.

The Incentive Plan 2010 is settled in cash rather than by issuing equity instruments, so a liability is recorded for the
rights granted reflecting the fair value of the rights at the reporting date. Compensation expense � including the effects
of any changes in fair value of the rights � is accrued over the period the beneficiaries are expected to perform the
related service (�vesting period�).

The fair value of the rights is estimated using a Monte-Carlo valuation model. Expected volatilities are based on
implied volatilities from traded options on our stock for options with a corresponding lifetime and exercise price. The
fair value as at December, 31 was calculated using the following assumptions:
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Risk-free interest rate: 3.99% to 4.36% (depending on maturity)
Expected volatility:  29.6%
Expected dividend ratio:  1.37%

As at December 31, 2007 the provision for rights granted under the Incentive Plan 2010 amounted to �3 million (2006:
�2 million).

The amount of unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested rights granted under the Incentive Plan 2010
depends on the final intrinsic value of the awards. The amount of unrecognized compensation expense is dependent on
the future price of our common shares and certain other factors that we cannot influence or reasonably predict. The
final payout amount will be recognized over a remaining period of up to three years from December 31, 2007.
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3)  Virtual Stock Option Plan 2007

In March 2007 the Company granted 7.0 million virtual stock options (stock appreciation rights, �SAP SOP 2007�). The
plan provides for cash settlement only and is available to members of the SAP AG Executive Board, members of
subsidiaries� executive boards, as well as to eligible executives and other top performers of SAP AG and its
subsidiaries. The program replaced the SAP SOP 2002 Plan, described below. The awards under the SAP SOP 2007
Plan have a grant-base value of �35.71, which is based on the average fair market value of one common share over the
20 business days following the announcement date of the Company�s preliminary results for the preceding fiscal year.

Under the SAP SOP 2007 Plan, beneficiaries receive stock appreciation rights (�Virtual Stock Options� or �rights�) based
on the SAP share price, which gives them the right to receive a certain amount of money by exercise under the terms
and conditions of this plan.

Rights granted under this plan may be exercised after a vesting period of two years starting on the grant date. The term
of the Virtual Stock Options is five years. The rights will expire five years after the grant date if not exercised by the
holder before that date.

The exercise price is 110% of the base value. Thus, the right can only be exercised if the share price at exercise
exceeds the grant price by at least 10%. Monetary benefits will be capped at a share price of 200% of the exercise
price.

As SAP SOP 2007 is settled in cash rather than by issuing equity instruments, a liability is recorded on the basis of the
current fair value of the outstanding Virtual Stock Options at the reporting date. The fair value of the rights is
estimated using a binomial valuation method. Expected volatilities are based on implied volatilities from traded
options on our stock with a corresponding lifetime and exercise price. The expected life of the options was determined
to be 5 years. This assumption was made based on expected exercise behavior since no reliable historical data was
available. The fair values as at December, 31 were calculated using the following assumptions:

Expected life:  5 years
Risk-free interest rate: 3.99% to 4.36% (depending on maturity)
Expected volatility:  31.2%
Expected dividend ratio:  1.37%

As at December 31, 2007, the provision for rights granted under the SAP SOP 2007 Plan amounted to �21 million.

The amount of unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested rights granted under the SAP SOP 2007 Plan
depends on the final intrinsic value of the awards. The amount of unrecognized compensation expense is dependent on
the future price of our common share and certain other factors that we cannot influence or reasonably predict.

c)  Equity Settled Share-Based Payment Plans

1)  Stock Option Plan 2002

At the 2002 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, the SAP AG shareholders approved the SAP SOP 2002 Plan,
which provides for the issuance of stock options to members of the SAP AG Executive Board, members of
subsidiaries� executive boards, and to eligible executives and other top performers of SAP AG and its subsidiaries. The
SAP SOP 2002 Plan was designed to replace the LTI 2000 Plan, described below. Under the SAP SOP 2002 Plan, the
Executive Board was authorized to issue, on or before April 30, 2007, up to 19.0 million stock options. In 2007, the
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SAP SOP 2002 Plan was replaced by the SAP SOP 2007 Plan. The last stock options under the SAP SOP 2002 Plan
were granted in 2006.
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Each stock option granted under the SAP SOP 2002 Plan entitles its holder to subscribe to four shares of the
Company�s common stock by tendering payment of an exercise price per option equal to a base price and a premium of
10% of the base price. The base price is calculated as the average market price of SAP AG�s common share on the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange during the five trading days preceding the issue of the respective stock option, calculated
on the basis of the arithmetic mean of the closing auction prices of the stock in the Xetra trading system. The options
cannot be exercised at an exercise price that is less than the closing auction stock price on the day before the issue
date. The term of the stock options is five years. Subscription rights cannot be exercised until the vesting period of
two years has elapsed.

For options granted to members of the Executive Board during and after February 2004, the SAP SOP 2002 Plan�s
terms cap the subscription rights if the Supervisory Board determines that an option holder would make a windfall
profit on exercising the rights. A windfall profit is defined for this purpose as a profit that, when combined with the
profit from earlier exercises of subscription rights issued to the option holder at the same issuing date, exceeds twice
the product of (i) the number of subscription rights received by the option holder and (ii) the exercise price. Such
profit is determined as the total of the differences, calculated individually for each exercised subscription right,
between the closing price of the share on the exercise day and the exercise price. SAP AG has undertaken to
reimburse to the option holders any expenses they may incur through fees, taxes, or deductions related to the cap. The
cap will only be imposed if the Supervisory Board determines that the windfall profit results from significant
extraordinary, unforeseeable developments for which the Executive Board is not responsible.

The fair value of the options granted under the SAP SOP 2002 Plan was estimated as at the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model. For options granted 2006 and 2005, the expected life of the options was
determined using the �simplified method� to be 3.5 years, which represented the average of the vesting period and the
contractual term of the awards. This approach was used because we did not have sufficient information about the
historical exercise behavior of equity-based options granted to our employees. For awards granted from 2002 to 2004,
the expected term of the awards was determined to be 2.5 years. Expected volatilities are based on implied volatilities
of traded options to purchase our common share granted in 2006 and 2005 and based on historical data for options
granted between 2004 and 2002.

The fair values of the Company�s share-based awards granted under SAP SOP 2002 Plan were calculated using the
following assumptions and plan terms:

2006 2005

Expected life in years 3.50% 3.50%
Risk-free interest rate 3.10% 2.82%
Expected volatility 24.00% 24.00%
Expected dividend ratio 0.87% 0.65%

Activities in 2007 under Stock Option Plan 2002 were as follows:

Weighted

Number
Weighted
average average

of options exercise price remaining Aggregate

outstanding per option
contractual

term
intrinsic
value
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(000) in � in years � millions

1/1/2007 7,446 142.57 2.8 182
Granted � � � �
Exercised 1,451 110.87 � �
Forfeited or expired 182 172.51 � �
12/31/2007 5,813 149.54 2.0 41
Fully vested options as at 31.12.2007 4,160 135.08 1.5 41
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The weighted-average grant-date fair value of share options granted during the years 2006 and 2005 was �26.47 and
�20.08, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ending December 31, 2007, 2006,
and 2005 was �59 million, �46 million, and �78 million, respectively.

A summary of the status of our nonvested options as at December 31, 2007, and changes during the year ending
December 31, 2007, is presented below:

Weighted
average

Number of grant-date
options fair value
(000) �

Nonvested as at 1/1/2006 4,846 29.81
Granted 1,842 26.47
Vested (2,000) 43.61
Forfeited (147) 23.21
Nonvested as at 12/31/2006 4,541 22.59
Granted � �
Vested (2,756) 20.08
Forfeited (132) 26.26
Nonvested as at 12/31/2007 1,653 26.47

As at December 31, 2007, there was �4 million of total unrecognized cost related to nonvested options granted under
the SAP SOP 2002. That cost is expected to be recognized over a period of 0.1 year.

2) Long Term Incentive 2000 Plan

On January 18, 2000, SAP AG�s shareholders approved the LTI 2000 Plan. The LTI 2000 Plan is a share-based
payment program providing members of the SAP AG Executive Board, members of subsidiaries� executive boards and
selected employees a choice between convertible bonds, stock options, or a 50% mixture of each. Beneficiaries were
offered 25% more units if they chose stock options than if they chose convertible bonds. Under the LTI 2000 Plan,
each convertible bond having a �1 nominal value is convertible into four common shares over a maximum of 10 years,
subject to service vesting requirements. The conversion price is equal to the market price of a common share as
quoted on the Xetra trading system on the day immediately preceding the grant. Each stock option may be exercised
in exchange for four common shares over a maximum of 10 years, subject to the same vesting requirements. The
exercise price varies with the outperformance of the common share price appreciation against the appreciation of the
GSTI Software Index from the day immediately preceding grant to the day on which the exercise price is determined.
Both the convertible bonds and stock options vest as follows: 33% after two years from date of grant, 33% after three
years, and 34% after four years. Forfeited convertible bonds or stock options are disqualified and may not be reissued.

In total, 12.3 million conversion and subscription rights were issued under the LTI 2000 Plan through March 14, 2002.
At the 2002 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders, the Company�s shareholders revoked the authorization to issue
further convertible bonds and stock options under the LTI 2000 Plan.
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A summary of the LTI 2000 Plan activity for both convertible bonds and stock options is as follows:

Number Weighted

of options/
Weighted
average average

convertible
bonds exercise price remaining Aggregate

outstanding per option
contractual

term
intrinsic
value

(000) in � in years � millions

Stock options
1/1/2007 1,010 106.15 4.7 55

Granted � � � �
Exercised (119) 112.33 � �
Forfeited (13) 111.14 � �

12/31/2007 879 109.92 3.6 28

Convertible bonds
1/1/2007 6,411 202.20 4.2 22

Granted � � � �
Exercised (68) 150.98 � �
Forfeited (194) 207.12 � �

12/31/2007 6,149 202.61 3.2 0

All convertible bonds and stock options outstanding as at December, 31, 2007 are exercisable.

Due to the fact that all LTI 2000 Plans were fully vested during 2006, we recorded no compensation expenses in 2007.
In 2006, we recorded compensation expenses for the LTI 2000 Plan in the amount of �11 million based on the fair
value recognition provisions of SFAS 123R. Compensation expenses recorded in prior years are not comparable as
they were recorded based on the intrinsic-value-based method according to APB 25 (see Note 3). In 2005, we
recorded compensation expenses for the LTI 2000 Plan in the amount of �21 million.

The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ending December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 was
�5 million, �27 million and �23 million respectively. The total intrinsic value of convertible bonds exercised during the
years ending December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005 was �0 million, �6 million, and �0 million, respectively.

(28) SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Our internal reporting system produces reports in which business activities are presented in a variety of ways, for
example, by line of business or by geography. Based on these reports, the Executive Board, which is responsible for
assessing the performance of various company components and making resource allocation decisions as a Chief
Operating Decision Maker (CODM), evaluates business activities in a number of different ways. While neither the
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line of business structure nor the geographic structure is identified as primary, we have determined that our lines of
business constitute operating segments. We have three reportable operating segments which are organized based on
products and services: Product, Consulting, and Training.

The Product segment is primarily engaged in marketing and licensing our software products, performing software
development services for customers, and providing support services for our software products. The Consulting
segment performs various professional services, mainly implementation of our software products. The Training
segment provides educational services on the use of our software products and related topics for customers and
partners.

The accounting policies applied for segment reporting purposes are the same as those described in Note 3. However,
differences in foreign currency translations result in minor deviations between the amounts reported internally for
management purposes and the amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Our management reporting system reports our inter-segment transfers as cost reduction and does not track them as
internal revenues. Inter-segment transfers mainly represent utilization of manpower resources of one segment by
another segment on a project-by-project basis. Inter-segment transfers are charged based on internal cost rates
including certain indirect overhead costs but without profit margin.

Segment revenue and results as well as other relevant segment information are presented below:

2007
Product Consulting Training Total

� millions

External revenue from reportable segments 7,369 2,369 493 10,231
Other 11

Total consolidated revenue 10,242
Segment result 4,300 631 209 5,140
Unallocated corporate revenue and expenses (2,408)

Operating income 2,732

Other non-operating income/expense, net 1
Financial income, net 124

Income before income taxes and minority interests 2,857

Other information
Depreciation and amortization (98) (33) (4)

2006
Product Consulting Training Total

� millions

External revenue from reportable segments 6,643 2,300 440 9,383
Other 10

Total consolidated revenue 9,393
Segment result 4,034 596 167 4,797
Unallocated corporate revenue and expenses (2,219)

Operating income 2,578

Other non-operating income/expense, net (12)
Financial income, net 122

Income before income taxes and minority
interests 2,688
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Other information
Depreciation and amortization (86) (24) (7)
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2005
Product Consulting Training Total

� millions

External revenue from reportable segments 6,041 2,078 380 8,499
Other 10

Total consolidated revenue 8,509
Segment result 3,594 458 132 4,184
Unallocated corporate revenue and expenses (1,847)

Operating income 2,337

Other non-operating income/expense, net (25)
Financial income, net 11

Income before income taxes and minority interests 2,323

Other information
Depreciation and amortization (84) (25) (7)

Revenues

Since our segments are organized on the basis of products and services, the amounts of external revenue for the
Product, Consulting, and Training segments are materially consistent with the amounts of Software and
software-related service revenue, Consulting revenue, and Training revenue, respectively, as reported in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. The differences in revenue amounts between the three reportable segments and
the corresponding captions in the Consolidated Statements of Income are due to the fact that for internal reporting
purposes, revenue is generally allocated to the segment that is responsible for the related transaction regardless of
revenue classification. Thus, for example, the Training segment�s revenue includes certain amounts classified as
software revenue.

External revenue � Other (2007: �11 million, 2006: �10 million, 2005: �10 million) mainly represents revenue incidental to
our main business activities which is generated from services provided outside the reportable segments, and minor
currency translation differences.

Segment Result

Segment result reflects operating expenses directly attributable or reasonably allocable to the segments, including
costs of product, costs of services, and sales and marketing expenses. Costs that are not directly attributable or
reasonably allocable to the segments such as administration and other corporate expenses are not included in the
segment result. Development expense is excluded from the segment result because our internal management reporting
measures the segment performance without taking development expense into account. In addition, for management
purposes, share-based compensation expense is not included in the segment result.

Depreciation and amortization expenses reflected in the segment result include the amounts directly attributable to
each segment and the depreciation and amortization portion of the facility and IT-related expenses allocated to each
segment based on headcount, facility space and other measures.
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A one-time effect of a change in estimate on allowance for doubtful accounts in 2006 was allocated to the Product
segment, the Consulting segment, and the Training segment in the amounts of �30 million, �13 million, and �2 million,
respectively.
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The following table presents a detail of unallocated corporate revenue and expenses:

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Unallocated corporate revenue and expenses:
External revenue from services provided outside of the reportable segments (11) (10) (10)
Development expense � Management view 1,769 1,642 1,339
Administration and other corporate expenses � Management view 555 488 473
Share-based compensation expenses 95 99 45

2,408 2,219 1,847

Development expense and administration expense above are based on a management view and do not equal the
amounts under the corresponding caption in the Consolidated Statements of Income. The differences are mainly due to
the fact that the management view focuses on organizational structures and cost centers rather than cost classification
to functional areas.

Segment Assets

Segment asset information is not provided to the CODM. Goodwill by reportable segment is disclosed in Note 16.

Geographic Information

The following tables present external revenue by location of customers and by location of companies, which reflects
the location of our subsidiary responsible for the sale, and information about certain long-lived assets detailed by
geographic region.

Revenue by location of customers Revenue by location of companies
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

� millions

Germany 2,004 1,907 1,810 2,146 2,031 1,906
Rest of EMEA(1) 3,386 2,994 2,709 3,327 2,959 2,670
Total EMEA 5,390 4,901 4,519 5,473 4,990 4,576

United States 2,706 2,609 2,340 2,689 2,588 2,340
Rest of Americas 871 776 656 865 753 654
Total Americas 3,577 3,385 2,996 3,554 3,341 2,994

Japan 447 431 406 443 429 402
Rest of Asia Pacific Japan 828 676 588 772 633 537
Total Asia Pacific Japan 1,275 1,107 994 1,215 1,062 939

10,242 9,393 8,509 10,242 9,393 8,509
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Software and software-related
service revenue by location of

customers

Software and software-related
service revenue by location of

companies
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005

� millions

Germany 1,432 1,342 1,237 1,526 1,421 1,303
Rest of EMEA(1) 2,541 2,169 1,957 2,523 2,169 1,943
Total EMEA 3,973 3,511 3,194 4,049 3,590 3,246

United States 1,838 1,726 1,553 1,825 1,710 1,557
Rest of Americas 657 556 469 650 534 466
Total Americas 2,495 2,282 2,022 2,475 2,244 2,023

Japan 340 308 294 336 306 291
Rest of Asia Pacific Japan 619 495 445 567 456 395
Total Asia Pacific Japan 959 803 739 903 762 686

7,427 6,596 5,955 7,427 6,596 5,955

Property, plant, and equipment,
net Intangible assets, net

2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
� millions

Germany 923 858 764 216 149 87
Rest of EMEA(1) 135 133 129 35 1 0
Total EMEA 1,058 991 893 251 150 87

United States 167 152 155 138 95 14
Rest of Americas 13 10 9 14 18 33
Total Americas 180 162 164 152 113 47

Japan 4 4 4 0 0 0
Rest of Asia Pacific Japan 74 49 34 0 0 6
Total Asia Pacific Japan 78 53 38 0 0 6

1,316 1,206 1,095 403 263 140

(1) Europe, Middle East, Africa.

Due to the large number of the customers we serve, there is no single customer whose business with us accounted for
a material portion of our total revenue.
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(29) BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE BOARD

Membership on supervisory boards and other comparable
governing bodies of enterprises, other than subsidiaries of SAP on
December 31, 2007(1) (excluding former Executive Board members)

Prof. Dr. Henning Kagermann
Chief Executive Officer
Overall responsibility for SAP�s strategy
and business development, product
development for large enterprises, Global
Communications, Internal Audit, Top
Talent Management

Supervisory Board, Deutsche Bank AG,
Frankfurt am Main, Germany
Supervisory Board, Münchener Rückversicherungs-Gesellschaft AG,
Munich, Germany
Board of Directors, Nokia Corporation,
Espoo, Finland (from May 3, 2007)

Léo Apotheker
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Sales, Consulting, Education, Marketing,
Partner Management

Supervisory Board, AXA, Paris, France

Dr. Werner Brandt
Chief Financial Officer
Finance and Administration, Shared
Services, SAP Ventures, Global
Intellectual Property, Mergers &
Acquisitions

Supervisory Board, LSG Lufthansa Service Holding AG, Neu-Isenburg,
Germany
Supervisory Board, QIAGEN N.V.,
Venlo, The Netherlands (from June 20, 2007)

Prof. Dr. Claus E. Heinrich
Labor Relations Director
Global Human Resources, Internal SAP
IT, SAP Labs network, Internal Business
Processes
Gerhard Oswald
Global Service and Support, SAP
Business ByDesign
John Schwarz (from March 1, 2008)
Chief Executive Officer of Business
Objects
Business Objects business unit, including
product development, go-to-market
activities, and services and support

Board of Directors, Synopsys, Inc.,
Mountain View, California, USA

Dr. Peter Zencke
Application Platform, Research, SAP
Business ByDesign, SAP Business One

Supervisory Board, SupplyOn AG,
Hallbergmoos, Germany
Supervisory Board, MeVis Medical Solutions AG, Bremen, Germany
(from August 22, 2007)

Shai Agassi (until March 31, 2007)
Product development and technology,
Industry solutions Product and industry
marketing
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Information as at December 31, 2007, or as at the date on which membership in the SAP Executive Board ended.

(1) Memberships on supervisory boards and comparable governing bodies of SAP�s subsidiaries can be obtained from
the Company on request.
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SUPERVISORY BOARD

Membership on other supervisory boards and comparable
governing bodies of enterprises other than SAP on December 31, 2007

(excluding former Supervisory Board members)

Prof. Dr. h.c. mult. Hasso Plattner(2),
(4), (5), (7)
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
Lars Lamadé(1), (4), (7)
Deputy Chairman
Project Manager Service & Support
Pekka Ala-Pietilä(5)
Co-founder and CEO Blyk Ltd.
London, Great Britain

Board of Directors, Pöyry Plc, Vantaa, Finland
Board of Directors, CVON Group Limited,
London, Great Britain
Board of Directors, CVON Limited,
London, Great Britain
Board of Directors, CVON Innovations Limited, London, Great Britain
Board of Directors, Blyk Services Oy,
Helsinki, Finland
Board of Directors, CVON Innovation Services Oy, Turku, Finland (from
February 9, 2007)
Board of Directors, CVON Future Limited,
London, UK (from February 5, 2007)
Board of Directors, HelloSoft Inc., San José, USA (from February 1, 2007)

Thomas Bamberger (from May 10,
2007)(1), (3)
Head of Operations Global Service &
Support
Chief Controlling Officer Research &
Breakthrough Innovation
Chief Controlling Officer Global
Service & Support
Panagiotis Bissiritsas (from May 10,
2007)(1), (2), (6)
Support Expert
Willi Burbach(1), (5), (7)
Developer
Helga Classen(1), (4), (7)
Chairperson of the Works Council of
SAP AG and SAP Hosting AG & Co.
KG
Prof. Dr. Wilhelm Haarmann(2), (6),
(7)
Attorney-at-law, certified public
auditor, certified tax advisor
HAARMANN

Supervisory Board, Aareon AG, Mainz, Germany
Supervisory Board, Vodafone Holding GmbH, Düsseldorf, Germany
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Partnerschaftsgesellschaft,
Rechtsanwälte, Steuerberater,
Wirtschaftsprüfer, Frankfurt am Main,
Germany
Peter Koop (from May 10, 2007)(1),
(5)
Industry Business Development Expert
Dr. Gerhard Maier(1), (2), (3)
Development project manager
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Membership on other supervisory boards and comparable
governing bodies of enterprises other than SAP on December 31, 2007

(excluding former Supervisory Board members)

Dr. h.c. Hartmut Mehdorn(4)
Chairman of the Executive Board,
Deutsche Bahn AG, Berlin, Germany

Supervisory Board, DB Netz AG,
Frankfurt am Main, Germany
Supervisory Board, DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung
Lebensversicherungsverein a.G., and
DEVK Deutsche Eisenbahn Versicherung
Sach- und HUK-Versicherungsverein a.G.,
Cologne, Germany
Supervisory Board, Dresdner Bank AG,
Frankfurt am Main, Germany
Supervisory Board, DB Magnetbahn GmbH,
Munich, Germany

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Dr. h.c. Dr. Ing. E.h.
Joachim Milberg (from May 10,
2007)(2), (5), (7)
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
BMW AG,
Munich, Germany

Supervisory Board, Bertelsmann AG,
Gütersloh, Germany
Supervisory Board, Festo AG, Esslingen, Germany
Board of Directors, Deere & Company,
Moline, Illinois, USA
Supervisory Board. MAN AG, Munich, Germany (until May 10, 2007)

Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. mult.
August-Wilhelm
Scheer(3), (6)
Professor at Saarland University,
Saarbrücken, Germany

Supervisory Board, IDS Scheer AG,
Saarbrücken, Germany
Supervisory Board, imc information multimedia communication AG,
Saarbrücken, Germany
Board of Trustees, Hasso-Plattner-Stiftung für Softwaresystemtechnik,
Potsdam, Germany
Supervisory Board, Saarbrücker Zeitung Verlag und Druckerei GmbH,
Saarbrücken, Germany
Member of the Senate, Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft zur Förderung der
angewandten Forschung e.V., Munich, Germany
Supervisory Board, Deutsche Messe AG,
Hanover, Germany (from August 28, 2007)

F-74

Edgar Filing: TEVENS TIMOTHY T - Form 4

Table of Contents 208



Table of Contents

Membership on other supervisory boards and comparable
governing bodies of enterprises other than SAP on December 31, 2007

(excluding former Supervisory Board members)

Dr. Erhard Schipporeit(3)
Management Consultant Supervisory Board, Commerzbank AG,

Frankfurt am Main, Germany
(until January 31, 2007)
Supervisory Board, Talanx AG, Hanover, Germany
Supervisory Board, Deutsche Börse AG,
Frankfurt am Main, Germany
Supervisory Board, HDI V.a.G., Hanover, Germany
Supervisory Board, Hannover Rückversicherung AG, Hanover, Germany
(from May 3, 2007)
Supervisory Board, Career Concept AG,
Munich, Germany (from December 7, 2007)
Board of Directors, TUI Travel PLC,
London, Great Britain (from October 21, 2007)

Stefan Schulz(1), (5), (6)
Development Project Manager
Prof. Dr.-Ing. Dr.-Ing. E.h. Klaus
Wucherer (from May 10, 2007)(5)
Member of the Corporate Executive
Committee of Siemens AG, Munich,
Germany

Supervisory Board, BSH Bosch und Siemens Hausgeräte GmbH, Munich,
Germany
Supervisory Board, Deutsche Messe AG,
Hanover, Germany
Supervisory Board, Infineon Technologies AG, Munich, Germany
Chairman of the Advisory Board, Siemens S.A., Lisbon, Portugal
Chairman of the Advisory Board, Siemens Ltd., Beijing, China
Supervisory Board, Siemens Ltd., Mumbai, India
Supervisory Board, LEONI AG, Nürnberg, Germany (from May 3, 2007)
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Membership on other supervisory boards and comparable
governing bodies of enterprises other than SAP on December 31, 2007

(excluding former Supervisory Board members)

MEMBERS OF THE
SUPERVISORY BOARD
UNTIL MAY 10, 2007
Bernhard Koller
Manager of idea management
Christiane Kuntz-Mayr
Development architect
Dr. Barbara Schennerlein
Principal consultant
Dr. Dieter Spöri
Head of Corporate Representation
Federal Affairs, Daimler AG,
Berlin, Germany
Dr. h.c. Klaus Tschira
Managing Director, Klaus Tschira
Foundation gGmbH, Heidelberg,
Germany

Information as at December 31, 2007, or as at the date on which membership in the SAP Supervisory Board ended.

(1) Elected by the employees.

(2) Member of the Company�s Compensation Committee.

(3) Member of the Company�s Audit Committee.

(4) Member of the Company�s Mediation Committee.

(5) Member of the Company�s Technology Committee.

(6) Member of the Company�s Finance and Investment Committee.

(7) Member of the Company�s General Committee.
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The total compensation of the Executive Board members for fiscal year 2007 amounted to �25 million (2006:
�38 million). This amount includes �3 million (2006: �4 million) fixed and �18 million (2006: �13 million)
performance-related compensation as well as �4 million (2006: �5 million) regular share-based compensation and
additional only in 2006 �17 million of nonrecurring share-based compensation. The regular share-based compensation
corresponds to the fair value of the 486,594 (2006: 170,945) stock options issued to Executive Board members during
the year.

Subject to the adoption of the dividend resolution by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
on June 3, 2008, the total annual compensation of the Supervisory Board members was �2 million (2006: �2 million).
This amount includes �1 million (2006: �1 million) fixed, �1 million (2006: �1 million) variable compensation, and
�0.08 million (2006: �0.07 million) committee remuneration. The Supervisory Board members do not receive any
share-based compensation for their services. As far as members who are employee representatives on the Supervisory
Board receive share-based compensation, such compensation is for their services as employees only and is unrelated
to their status as members of the Supervisory Board.

In 2007, the pension payments to former Executive Board members were �1 million (2006: �1 million). The projected
benefit obligation of pensions as at December 31, 2007 for former Executive Board members was �12 million (2006:
�13 million).

SAP did not grant any compensation advance or credit to, or enter into any commitment for the benefit of, any
member of the Executive Board or Supervisory Board in fiscal year 2007, 2006, or 2005.

On December 31, 2007, members of the Executive Board held a total of 86,515 SAP shares (December 31, 2006:
287,384 SAP shares) and members of the Supervisory Board held a total of 128,993,710 SAP shares (December 31,
2006: 262,623,884 SAP shares).

Detailed information on the different elements of the compensation as well as to the number of shares owned by
members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board are disclosed in SAP�s Compensation Report which is part
of our Form 20-F and our Review of Operations which is included in our Annual Report. and which is available on
SAP�s Web site.

(30) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain Executive Board and Supervisory Board members of SAP AG currently hold, or held within the last year,
positions of significant responsibility with other entities as presented in Note 29. We have relationships with certain of
these entities in the ordinary course of business, whereby we buy and sell a wide variety of products and services at
prices we believe are consistent with those negotiated at arm�s length between unrelated parties.

After his move from SAP�s Executive Board to SAP�s Supervisory Board in May 2003, Hasso Plattner entered into a
contract with SAP AG under which he provides consulting services for SAP. The contract provides for the
reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses only which were immaterial to SAP in all periods presented.

Hasso Plattner is the sole proprietor of H.P. Beteiligungs GmbH, which itself holds 90% of Bramasol, Inc., Palo Alto,
United States. Bramasol is a SAP partner with which we generated revenues which were immaterial to SAP in all
periods presented.

In March 2005, we entered into agreements with Besitzgesellschaft der Multifunktionsarena Mannheim mbH & Co.
KG, a company owned by members of the immediate family of Dietmar Hopp, pursuant to which a multipurpose
arena in Mannheim, Germany, was named �SAP Arena� (together with the right to use the SAP logo for certain
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purposes) and we received the right to use certain reserved seating in the arena and to hold certain events in the arena.
Fees paid by SAP to SAP Arena were immaterial to SAP in all years presented.

Until January 1, 2006, Wilhelm Haarmann practiced as a partner of the former law firm Haarmann Hemmelrath in
their Frankfurt offices. Since January 1, 2006, he has practiced in HAARMANN
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Partnerschaftsgesellschaft in Frankfurt. The amounts charged to SAP for the services of HAARMANN
Partnerschaftsgesellschaft were immaterial to SAP in all periods presented.

At no point in the years ending December 31, 2007, 2006, or 2005 did the Company grant loans to any member of
SAP AG�s Executive Board and Supervisory Board. During the years ending December 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005,
there were no significant transactions between the Company and the major shareholders as outlined in Note 20.

As discussed in Note 15, we have issued loans to employees other than to members of SAP AG�s Executive Board and
Supervisory Board amounting to a gross value of �63 million, �62 million and �59 million, on December 31, 2007, 2006,
and 2005, respectively. Loans granted to employees primarily consist of interest-free or below-market-rate building
loans which SAP discounts for financial reporting purposes based on prevailing market rates. SAP has not
experienced significant default on loans to employees. There have been no loans to employees or executives to assist
them in exercising stock options or convertible bonds.

(31) PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

At SAP AG�s Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on May 10, 2007, SAP�s shareholders mandated KPMG
Deutsche Treuhand-Gesellschaft AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main/Berlin (KPMG Germany),
to serve as SAP AG�s independent auditors for the 2007 fiscal year. KPMG Germany and other firms in the global
KPMG network billed the following fees to SAP for audit and other professional services in 2007 and the two
previous years:

2007 2006 2005
� millions

Audit fees 8.3 7.4 5.2
Audit related fees 0.2 0.6 1.1
Tax fees 0.0 0.1 0.2
Other fees 0.3 0.4 0.2

8.8 8.5 6.7

�Audit fees� are the aggregate fees billed by KPMG for the audit of our consolidated annual financial statements as well
as audits of statutory financial statements of SAP AG and its subsidiaries. �Audit-related fees� are fees charged by
KPMG for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our
financial statements and are not reported under �Audit fees�. This category comprises fees billed for accounting advice
on actual or contemplated transactions and other agreed on procedures. �Tax fees� are fees for professional services
rendered by KPMG for tax advice on group restructuring, transfer pricing, and other actual or contemplated
transactions, tax compliance, and employee-related tax queries. The category �All other fees� includes other support
services, such as training and expert advice on issues unrelated to accounting and taxes.

For services provided by KPMG Germany we recorded in 2007 expenses of �2.7 million (2006: �2.9 million), out of
which �2.5 million (2006: �2.5 million) were for audit services, �0.002 million (2006: �0.03 million) for tax services, and
�0.2 million (2006: �0.4 million) for other services.
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